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Chairman’s Statement

=

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present the annual report of
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company” or “Zhengye International’,
together with its subsidiaries, our “Group” or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020
(the “Year” or the "‘Reporting Period").

AABURKXEEFE((ESE])  MSUEZ EXZHARERERARI([AAT ] 3 [E
BIFR) ERHENBARGE(AERDEE T _TF+ _A=+—HIL(FAIH&K
EHR N FRERS

In 2020, affected by the global spread and repetition of the COVID-19 *ﬁfﬁii%ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁ EIE 2 BRI AR E T LA K P
epidemic, the world economy and trade have fallen sharply, which caused BRI REHFLE AL ENME 5 AE B INEREBIE
the complexity and severity in the external environment. In the first half of B 3EERI& - Ii%,ﬁj::izixﬁ BEHETITBORK
the year, China’s economy was affected by the epidemic under greater  BEEFZEVSHE R IR RN E == E 4 L BIRE BT -
downward pressure. As the epidemic prevention achieved initial results and £ #8 [R 58 R0 7 NEF IR o MEHR - LEFRES
the economy recovered better after the third quarter, the effect of the FII TR MEEHEFRZIE $E.Tfﬁ?§T$5)ﬁi9\ :

economic rebound continued to appear. During the Reporting Period, due iﬁ’%mlﬁtﬁr ﬁﬁ[%%mf/\f’éﬂﬁ BT
to the insufficient start-up of the epidemic and the restriction of overall #AOHKBERELSEE  BRNBEREBK ifﬁfﬂltiﬁﬁ

social demand for the first half of the year, the Group's downstream orders R & FRKIEE - E£AFNZE E{%,ffﬁﬁ%ﬁf? 5
decreased, and sales were also under pressure. With the complete  IRIFEfNE  QARKEEHFEMLT -

implementation of the waste prohibition, the price of imported paper was

gradually stabilized in the third quarter, resulted a moderate increase in

price of domestic packaging paper. Meanwhile, social demand has been

restored under the traditional sales season in the fourth quarter. The supply

and demand environment has been improved and the Company'’s

operations have continued to be improved.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the turnover of the Group was HE-Z-_TF+ A=+ HIFE  AEF@EEE
approximately RMB2,493,041,000, a slightly increase of 5.32% year-on-year — #7847iE A R 2,493,041,0007C » Bt EF532% (= F
(2019: RMB2,367,151,000). The gross profit of the Group recorded  —/%F : AR 2,367,151,0007T) - AEBHNEFN A AR
RMB390,865,000, the gross profit margin decreased 3.28 percentage points & 390 865,0007T * EFNE4L)15.68% * R T FE3.28 H 5
to 15.68% year-on-year, it was mainly due to the cost increase after “coal to  Bf » i&E 2 RAANE B 8 = ZEAAE M [ Hekm | BAR
gas” and the downtime loss of some paper machine production lines i*jJDL/\&*B DR AEEGRBEITRRIUENERER
equipment undergoing speed-up transformation for the two main  F£ - KA RHEAABGEHENEEERFEAAR
papermaking bases of the Group. Profit and comprehensive income  #54,772,0007% * [A tr T # 33.35% © G IRE R E 4 5
attributable to equity owners for the year amounted to RMB54,772,000, a  AR# 115 -

year-on-year decrease of 33.35%. Basic earnings per share was

approximately RMB11 cents.
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Chairman’s Statement
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In 2021, as countries successfully develop and produce vaccines for
COVID-19 and carry out large-scale community vaccination, global
epidemic control will gradually take effect, the economies of various
countries will gradually recover, the demand for social goods will be
resumed, and the market will be back on track. In China, the momentum of
economic recovery will continue, and consumption and manufacturing
investment are gradually recovering. The epidemic has changed people’s
consumption habits. Online consumption has greatly increased consumers’
desire to buy and consumption frequency. In the context of economic
recovery and consumption growth, Zhengye International continues to be
optimistic that the paper packaging business will benefit from the
increasingly mature and growing e-commerce and continuous
improvement of logistics and distribution services. For this reason, starting
from the second half of 2020, the Group will continue to increase
investment in the paper-based packaging sector, add world-leading
printing equipment and update existing production equipment to increase
production capacity and improve production processes. Thanks to Zhengye
International’s insistence on product quality and customer service, it has
continued to maintain and successfully develop a number of well-known
domestic brand customers, covering logistics, food and beverage, fast-
moving consumer goods and other industries.

The Group is also concerned that the national environmental protection
policy guides the society to reduce or eliminate the use of plastic
packaging. Substituting paper for plastic will bring new opportunities to
the paper packaging industry, and the global packaging industry is
undergoing profound changes. Thanks to the recovery and stable
development of the entire macro economy, the rapid development of
many downstream industries including electronic information, daily
consumption, food and beverage, health medicine and other industries has
played a huge leading role in the rapid growth of China’s packaging
industry and has brought a broad market space for healthy development of
paper packaging products. Zhengye International will continue to increase
research and development investment in paper packaging product design,
and develop more integrated packaging solutions that meet environmental
protection needs for customers, so that product packaging will be more
sustainable.

Under the waste ban, China’s domestic waste paper gap will cause the cost
of packaging paper to rise, and the pattern of upstream and downstream
industrial chains in the industry will undergo profound changes.
Strengthening the industrial integration of the paper packaging industry
and upstream papermaking and waste paper recycling industries will
become new pattern for the development of the industry. Zhengye
International will continue to deepen the green packaging industry, and go
hand in hand with customers on the social responsibility of environmental
protection for common development. Thank our customers, suppliers,
Shareholders and all employees for their unremitting support!

Hu Zheng
Chairman
Hong Kong, China

26 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Business review

The Group mainly provides supporting paper-based packaging products
for well-known domestic and foreign manufacturers of air conditioners,
food seasonings and consumer electronic products, etc. At the same time,
it provides comprehensive services including design, printing, logistics and
other customer services to customers with integrated packaging solutions.
In addition, in order to enhance the competitiveness of the Group's paper-
based packaging products, the Group has also extended the back-end
industry chain to use recycled waste paper as raw materials to produce
corrugated core paper for the Group's paper packaging products and
external sales.

The Group is committed to become one of the global leading eco-friendly
packaging enterprises.

The Group's products mainly include paper-based packaging products (i.e.
watermark cartons, colour printing cartons and honeycomb paper-based
products) and corrugated medium paper. The Group currently comprised
five wholly-owned subsidiaries and two holding companies in China that
provide customers with quality products and services.

The Group's paper-based packaging products have been deeply involved
in packaging of air-conditioning, condiment and consumer electronic
products for many years. It has won the trust of many well-known domestic
and foreign brands and has a group of customers who have established
stable relationships for more than ten years. The corrugated medium paper
products produced by the Group win customers’ recognition with stable
quality and innovative services in market segments.

In 2020, the packaging segment of the Group was affected by the
COVID-19 epidemic in the first half of the year, and orders dropped sharply
from the factories in Wuhan, Zhengzhou and Shijiazhuang. The
management of the Group faced the difficulties and fully resumed the
production and operation of the above three factories after the epidemic
in China was brought under control in April. The overall production
conditions of Wuhan and Shijiazhuang factories recovered after the second
quarter, but Zhengzhou factory has halted production during the year due
to insufficient orders and has commenced liquidation, and the liquidation
loss was approximately RMB3,939,000. Also affected by the epidemic, the
Zhongshan and Zhuhai factories in Guangdong Province have experienced
growth in domestic consumption, significant shrinkage in global trade, and
a rebound in China’s export order growth. Downstream customer orders
have recovered strongly. Zhongshan and Zhuhai factories took the lead in
resuming production and operations while the epidemic relief, and started
to increase production and sales in March 2020, and continued to maintain
sales growth of more than 15%. During the period, the Group's packaging
segment realised operating revenue of RMB800,193,000, slightly decreased
of 0.88% as compared with RMB807,290,000 in the same period of last year,
and profit increased by 22.10% compared with last year.

£ 3C1]
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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For the paper-making segment of the Group, it was affected by the
COVID-19 epidemic and the Guangdong Provincial Government's
introduction of stricter “coal-to-gas” policies in Pearl River Delta cities
under the background of the national “Blue Sky Defense War” in the first
half of 2020, the two paper mills located at Zhongshan took the lead in
completing the “coal-to-gas” project during the period. This change
resulted in a certain increase in the fuel cost per ton of paper production
compared to the same period last year. At the same time, in order to cope
with the impact of the aforementioned increase in fuel costs on the
profitability of products, the Group actively shut down the main production
facilities of the two paper enterprises during the year for upgrading and
transformation, which affected the overall operating efficiency by
approximately 16.51% and increased the annual loss of downtime during
the year. As part of the machineries and equipment have been renovated
during the year, the two paper enterprises in Zhongshan have basically
resumed normal operations since August 2020, and its production and
sales volume after the upgrade have also stabilized at a growth rate of
more than 20%. In addition, the Jiangxi papermaking base, which joined
the Group after 1 March 2020, was basically unaffected by the epidemic.
The production and sales volume during the year reached expectations
and began to contribute profit to the Group. The Group's paper-making
segment achieved operating income of RMB1,692,848,000 during the year,
which increased RMB132,987,000 or 8.53% as compared with
RMB1,559,861,000 in the same period last year. However, under the
influence of the above-mentioned “coal to gas” and shutdown
transformation, the profitability decreased by 55.55% compared with last

year.
Products Review

The Group's paper packaging products use containerboard and corrugated
medium paper as the main raw materials, including watermark cartons,
colour printing cartons and honeycomb paper-based products. In 2020, the
revenue in paper-based packaging products of the Group’'s was
RMB800,193,000, representing a decrease of RMB7,097,000 or 0.88% as
compared with 2019, it represented about 32.10% revenue of the Group.
The gross profit margin of paper-based packaging products in 2020 was
approximately 19.82%, decreased by 0.14 percentage points from 19.96%
as compared to the same period last year.

Watermark Cartons

The Group’s watermark cartons are mainly used for household air-
conditioning packaging, small household appliance packaging, household
electronic consumer products, and food seasoning product packaging. The
Group continues to ensure high-quality product supply and quality after-
sales service, and enhance customer trust and access. It was well
acceptable by many brand customers and long-term stable cooperation

can be maintained.
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Colour Printing Cartons

In order to meet customers’ requirements for different product packaging
quality, the Group also provides high-quality colour printing cartons for
household air-conditioning packaging, small home appliance packaging,
household electronic consumer products, and food seasoning product
packaging. The Group continues to promote product innovation. In
response to customer needs, we produced differentiated products and
actively expanded the color printing carton business. In 2020, the revenue
of colour printing carton was RMB145,275,000.

Honeycomb Paper-Based Products

The honeycomb paper-based products produced by the Group mainly
replace the plastic cushioning packaging materials and the alternative foam
cushioning products used in the protection of the original various types of
cartons. They are environmentally-friendly and energy-saving materials with
light capacity, smooth surface, non-deformation and good cushioning
performance; it can buffer the packaging for a variety of industries. The
honeycomb paper products currently produced by our Group are still
mainly provided for the Group's floating watermark cartons and colour
printing cartons.

Corrugated Medium Paper

The Group produces 48 g/m? to 140 g/m? high-strength corrugated core
paper. Except for some of the paper packaging products produced by the
Group as raw materials, it is mainly sold to cardboard manufacturers in the
Pearl River Delta region of Guangdong and carton packaging
manufacturers. Due to the joining of the Jiangxi Papermaking Base during
the year, the Group's paper-making customers have further expanded to
Jiangxi, Fujian, Chaoshan and other regions. The total number of
customers served by the Group's paper-making block now exceeds 360.
Affected by the “coal-to-gas” policy and the shutdown of some production
equipment for technical improvement, the gross profit margin of
corrugated medium paper products in 2020 was approximately 13.72%.

The Group has been committed to the research and development ("R&D")
of raw paper for packaging. In addition to low-weight and high-strength
corrugated medium paper products, the Group made every effort to
research and develop container board paper products in 2020. It is
expected that the products will be launched in 2021, to seek for a win-win
situation with downstream enterprises which can reduce the cost of raw
paper for customers, and jointly resist the pressure of market competition.
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2020 2019
—g-gx —E-hg
Percentage Gross Percentage Gross
of total profit of total profit
Turnover revenue margin Turnover revenue margin
LB EEC
RS BOL ER=E HER B EFE
RMB’000 % %  RMB’'000 % %
ARET R (%) (%) AR¥EFT (%) (%)
Corrugated medium paper FLAB 4
AA grade AAR 1,684,546 67.57 1,559,861 65.90
C grade CH 8,302 0.33 - -
Subtotal et 1,692,848 67.90 13.72 1,559,861 65.90 18.44
Paper-based packaging products BB BRER
Watermark cartons SEIKENALAE 538,250 21.59 495,384 20.93
Colour printing cartons T ERE 145,275 5.83 139,221 5.88
Honeycomb paper-based products ~ #& #% 116,668 4.68 172,685 7.29
Subtotal et 800,193 32.10 19.82 807,290 34.10 19.96
TOTAL s 2,493,041 100.00 15.68 2,367,151 100.00 18.96
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited 10 Annual Report 2020
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Turnover by Customer at Paper-Based Packaging Products AL EREHEREEDN

2020 2019
—EEF —ENEF
Percentage Percentage
of total of total
Turnover revenue Turnover revenue
hEE Ih4E5E
B Aok EETE Bt
RMB’'000 % RMB'000 %
AR®T T (%) AREFT (%)
Household air conditioners and small KA LN RELER
home appliances manufacturers 602,100 75.24 592,774 73.43
Food and seasoning manufacturer BRAKEAERS 189,409 23.67 163,191 20.21
Other HAith 8,684 1.09 51,325 6.36
TOTAL @et 800,193 100.00 807,290 100.00
Capacity and Capacity Utilisation Rate ErERERERAE

The Group provides one-stop service solution to its customers covering EEATFIRMHE—UWARE T EHERRK - 28 E5
from recycling of waste paper, manufacturing of high-strength corrugated k& « RAFAE M EBERYUMEE  UEBERS
medium paper, production of corrugated cartons and honeycomb paper- D BIEEB FHEA EFEBENUES °

based products to packaging services, making full use of our vertically

integrated industrial chain.
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Corrugated Medium Paper

The main production base of corrugated medium paper is located in
Zhongshan City and Jiangxi Province. For the year ended 31 December
2020, the Group had eight corrugated medium paper production lines with
a total designed annual production capacity of 900,000 tons, making the
Group one of the leading corrugated paper producers in Guangdong
region. The Group always attaches emphasis on improvement of
production efficiency and optimization of plant management. During the
Year, the Group adopted the performance indicator approach to manage
the corrugated medium paper production lines, successfully improving
production volume and capacity utilisation rate.

R4

RS AnEZEEEMONP LT RIRES  BEZ
ERFES A= —HIEFE  AEEEE NGRS
AR - BRRFTFERIE 900,000 - RERMER
FORBCREER s — - SR - EEREEEURE
RELCBEERNIE  RFAN - SEKRNERATER
EEAREERNBCREER R TESNARERE
% -

2020 2019
—E-EF —NEF
Planned Actual  Effective Planned Actual Effective
operation operation rate  operation  operation rate
(hours) (hours) (%) (hours) (hours) (%)
SHEIETT BRRE BRE  HEET  BRED RIS
(/NBF) (/NEF) (%) (/) (/) (%)
Zhongshan Yong Fa LK E
No. 1 paper machine 15R A A 8,784 7,130 81.17 8,634 8,106 93.89
No. 2 paper machine 2R AE A 8,784 7,471 85.05 8,633 7,907 91.59
No. 3 paper machine 3RE A 8,784 6,511 74.12 8,216 7,633 92.90
No. 5 paper machine 5 5 s A 8,784 6,784 77.23 8,554 7,963 93.09
Hung Hing B
No. 1 paper machine 1SR IE AR 7,360 6,863 93.25 8,437 7,783 92.24
No. 2 paper machine 2SR iE A 7,058 6,534 92.58 8,498 7,510 88.37
No. 3 paper machine 3RE A 7,326 6,862 93.67 8,382 7,729 92.21
Zhengyi R
No. 1 paper machine 1SR IE AR 7,344 6,372 86.76 N/ATEA N/ATEM N/ATERE
Paper-Based Packaging Products MBEEER
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 13 HE-—E-_ZTE+_-_A=+—HBILFE KAEFHE
production lines (including 8 corrugated cartons production lines (1 TERAEER (PE/EREAEEEG (Hbh— (&4 E
production line is under optimization) and 5 honeycomb paper-based  #R#ETENLIR) R T GEBERRBAELR)  SEEM

products production lines) which are mainly located in four cities including
Zhongshan, Zhuhai, Wuhan and Shijiazhuang. The Group's yearly planned
production capacity for corrugated cartons reached 214,531,000 square
meters, whereas that for honeycomb paper-based products was 25,581,000
square meters. The Group made persistent efforts to improve production
deployment, and carried out upgrading and transformation on certain
production facilities during the Year, effectively improving the production
volume and capacity utilisation rate, which in turn enhanced the overall
operational efficiency and cost advantage of the Group.

TE2HMRFPIL - KE - BRIERAFEROERT - &
SE RS RAEF AT BIE = 214,531,000 F 770K - BER
B AR ERFT F EE R E 25,581,000 F oK o« REBE TER
HEMR  EAEEELERS EX#ES UEE
PR L HENESHRNE  EEREENS LHE
B -

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited 12
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2020 2019
ZBCEF ZENE
Yearly Capacity Yearly Capacity
Numbers of Design  Planned Actual  utilization Design Planned Actual  utilization
equipment  Capacity ~ Capacity ~ Capacity rate  Capacity  Capacity  Capacity rate
REHE  RHER FHEER ERER ERRRE  RGEs FHIEY ERER EpRmX
000 sq.m. ‘000 sq.m. ‘000 sq.m. %) 00sqm.  000sqm.  ‘000sqm %)
FHK FHK FHK (%) FhHk Tk FAK (%)
Production of cartons packaging EERRARER:
products:
1. Cardboard process: - ERIF:
Zhongshan il
No. 1 corrugated cartons production line 158 FLiEAIAG L& 1 38,880 14,602 13,118 89.84 38,880 14,602 9,887 67.71
No. 3 corrugated cartons SRR AR
production line* | NATER NAFER NATER NAFER 3880 1235 318 257
New No. 2 corrugated cartons MFREAREESR
production line 1 184,140 69,751 56,640 81.20 184,140 69,751 57,362 82.24
Zhuhai e
No. 5 corrugated cartons SSABRAEER
production ling 1 72,900 17,297 7,104 41.07 72,900 50,319 44,067 87.57
No. 6 corrugated cartons ORI REEER
oroduction line? 1 45360 NATER NATER NATER 4530 24710 20866 84.44
No. 11 corrugated cartons NSRRI SEEER
production line 1 150,660 98,842 83,010 83.98 150,660 98,842 7125 7.21
No. 15 corrugated cartons SRR AR
production line* 1 NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER
Shijiazhuang e
No. 9 corrugated cartons production line VERBERELEER 1 90,396 14,040 7,634 54.37 90,396 14,040 11,135 79.31
2. Printing process: = HRIR:
Watermark printers KEDEDRI
Zhongshan Bl 1 N/ATER 60,878 47,743 7842 N/ATHER 60,878 52,247 85.82
Zhuhai e 10 N/ATER 101,964 79,375 77.85 N/ATHEA 101,964 85,155 83.51
Shijiazhuang AR 2 N/ATER 9,984 8,017 80.30 N/ATHEM 9,984 7,322 73.34
Colourmark printers R EDEN
Zhongshan Al 3 16,109 15,668 97.26 16,109 15,760 97.84
Production of honeycomb paper-based £ EREELEER
packaging products:
Zhongshan i
No. 7 honeycomb paper-based product THREEAHREER
production line 1 4,312 3,953 3,407 86.18 4,312 4,312 3,672 85.17
No. 8 honeycomb paper-based product 83U ERE REES
production line 1 3,525 3,231 3,103 96.03 3,525 3,525 3,169 89.90
No. 12 honeycomb paper-based product 123 BB A REERS
production line T NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER NATER
Shijiazhuang B5it
No. 10 honeycomb paper-based product 103 ¥ BALREES
production line 1 6,696 5,580 2,026 36.31 6,696 6,696 4,245 63.40
Zhengzhou g
No. 12 honeycomb paper-based product 123 BB A REERS
production line® 1 4,352 1,088 465 42.74 4,352 4,352 3479 79.94
Wuhan B
No. 14 honeycomb paper-based product 143 B BMHREES
production line 1 6,696 5,022 3,697 73.62 6,696 6,696 4,086 61.02
Annual Report 2020 13 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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2020 2019
It St S “TNF
Yearly Capacity Yearly Capacity
Numbers of Design  Planned Actual utilization Design Planned Actual  utilization
equipment  Capacity ~ Capacity ~ Capacity rate Capacity  Capacity  Capacity rate
RESHE  RAER FHUER HREX ERERE  RHER FHIER  ERER ELRAX
‘000 sq.m. ‘000 sq.m. ‘000 sq.m. (%) '000sq.m. '000sq.m.  ‘000sq.m (%)
THE  REK RRK ) FRK FRE Bk
TOTAL cartons packaging products B e EED
corrugated cartons production lines REABEES 5 582,336 214,531 167,506 78.08 621216 214531 150,759 70.27
watermark printers IKENENfI# 23 N/ATER 172,826 135,135 78.19  N/ATEMA 172,826 144,724 83.74
colourmark printers ENENRIt 3 N/ATER 16,109 15,668 97.26 N/ATHER 16,109 15,760 97.84
honeycomb paper-based products BEHET
honeycomb paper-based product BERHG
production lines 5 25,581 18,874 12,698 67.28 25,581 25,581 18,651 7291
# No. 3 production line merged with No. 1 production line after optimization. # IFEESEBLEHAIREES -
o No. 5 and No. é production lines merged with No. 11 production line after A SEE T QIR A ERB(L B GEA N SRAELS o
optimization.
* No. 15 production lines is under optimization. * 1588 EESIFHETE(L T -
& Zhengzhou subsidiary deregistered on December 2020, its No. 12 production line & BB ARNR S -—TETH HNRBELEESBLEMSA

merged with No. 7 production line after optimization.

Acquisition of 80% of Equity Interest in Zhengyi

On 3 January 2020, the Group announced the acquisition of 80% of equity
interest in Yudu County Zhengyi Paper Products and Paper Industry
Company Limited* (T #0 §% IE (€ 4% @2 4K % B IR 2 7)) (“Zhengyi”) at a
consideration of RMB40,000,000. The acquisition had been completion on
1 March 2020. Zhengyi which is located in Jiangxi Province, operates the
manufacture and sale of corrugated papers and paper recycling, with a
designed production capacity of 100,000 tons per annum. The Company is
optimistic about the high-end corrugated medium paper industry and
believes that there is a large demand for high-end corrugated medium
paper in the market.

THREER -

H&%IH L fY 80% AR #E

R-ZT_TF—F=8 XNEEFZWETH%EREK
mAEFRA 7(fIEf°‘J)E’J80%%$%¥E’JE1§Tﬁ%§%'
I &8 A& A R 60,000,000 7T ° u&ﬁ%m‘aaw T
F=A—HBFEMK - EEBMAIAEE $$E&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
15 4 N BE A el Ui Eié“%ﬁaw%mo,oooumaomﬁﬂéﬁ
B AR SR BEIT RIS LT - WRATIS Y SN
ET%/L\,Z ﬁ‘ﬁjﬁgﬁfﬂ °
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Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB2,493,041,000 (2019: RMB2,367,151,000), representing
an increase of approximately RMB125,890,000 or 5.32%, it was mainly due
to the increase in sales of paper segment. Due to the increase in sales of
the Jiangxi paper-making base newly consolidated into the Group during
the year, the overall sales volume increased by 12.52% as compared with
last year; and the sales volume of packaging segment increased
approximately 2.22% as compared with last year and its sales price per unit
decreased by 3.03%, revenue was basically the same as last year. The
Group's gross profit margin for the year of 2020 was 15.68% (2019: 18.96%),
a decrease of 3.28 percentage points as compared with the same period of
last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the profit and total comprehensive
income for the Year attributable to owners of the Group was
RMB54,772,000 (2019: RMB82,184,000), representing a decrease of
RMB27,412,000 or 33.35% as compared with the same period last year, it
was mainly due to the cost increase after “coal to gas” and the loss of
some paper machine production lines equipment undergoing
transformation for the two main paper-making bases of the Group.

Group's Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's profit before tax was
approximately RMB64,931,000 (2019: RMB119,180,000), representing a
decrease of RMB54,249,000 or 45.52% as compared with the same period
last year.

The finance costs were approximately RMB49,615,000 (2019:
RMBA45,835,000), an increase of 8.25% at the same period last year.

The income tax expense was approximately RMB2,371,000 (2019:
RMB18,152,000), representing a decrease of RMB15,781,000 as compared
with the same period last year.

Bt 75 [B] R

HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—H8LLFE FTEEHEKA
BARBE2493041,000( = —NFE: AR
2,367,151,0007T )+ 3% 0 4 A K ¥ 125,890,000 7T 3%
532% ' TEREHKRMHEEWAMNIER - BRFAHFH
ASERTIREREMNESIEMN  BEHEHEREK
1 0 12.52% ; ﬁﬁ@%ﬁiiﬁam%ﬁ%@Fiiiﬂm
2.22% - $HEEE T RIREL 3.03% @ BEREEERA
REFERFF - ?_%?iﬂ&%l%frwﬂ%s%(_
T—J1:18.96%) WAFRIEATEI28EDE °

HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—8LLFE FEBBRLF
ﬁ)\ﬁ%mzﬁuﬁzﬁﬁ,ﬁ%%EZ%AE%MJD,OOOTE(_—

— 1 AR®82,184,0007T) BMEFRE TEARE
27,412,00070833.35% c T EFREARHAREEMEEE

IEARE [ R BUR | R ARANIE INA R BB 3 WM A EE AR AR
EHBCERROTEME

£EZER

BEZZ-_ZF+A=1+—HLEFE ~E£BHREH
A AE# A ARE6493100T (=T —H: AR
119,180,000 7T) + & &4 A ARR 2 A R HE 54,249,000 7T 5K
45.52% o

MEBANABAREKL61500T(ZE—H: ARK
45,835,000 7T) * BRZ&F A HALE hN8.25% ©
FrEfMERAY O ARKE2371,0000(ZE— N AR

18,152,0007T) * B EF R HEIR D AR 15,781,000 7T °
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Prospects

There is still a high degree of uncertainty in the changes in the epidemic in
2021. The COVID-19 epidemic has accelerated the evolution of major
changes in the world that have not been seen in a century. Globalization
has reversed and repeated. The pace of global economic recovery and
policy changes is still uncertain, mainly due to the possibility of economic
growth, the instability of the country, the challenges of employment and
social stability, and the risks of debt and currency stability. The world today
is in a period of turbulent change.

At the same time, 2021 is the beginning of China’s new journey of building
a modern socialist country in an all-round way. It is necessary to accurately
recognize changes, respond scientifically, and actively seek changes in a
more uncertain and unstable international environment, and always insist
on expanding and opening up policy. During the “14th Five-Year Plan”
period, how to accelerate the formation of a new development pattern with
the domestic cycle as the main body and the mutual promotion of
domestic and international dual cycles based on the strategic direction of
supply-side structural reform and the expansion of domestic demand in the
vital strategic base point.

In 2021, the Group's development is still in a period of important strategic
opportunities. The Group believes that the development trend of China’s
economy will remain stable and positive in the long term. The paper-
making bases in Guangdong Province of the Group took the lead in
completing the “coal-to-gas” conversion and the basic transformation of
the paper machine production lines. Through the comprehensive
promotion of the “coal-to-gas” policy in Guangdong Province, the Group's
paper-making division adopts new products development, technological
innovation, stable products quality and continuous expansion of sales
channels, and will continue to maintain its market advantage. In the
packaging and paper industry, the Group has a complete industrial system
and a solid technical foundation, and has market advantages and
development potential. With the human capital and human resources
accumulated over the years, it hopes to continue to increase investment
and expand new customers and new businesses. In order to make the
Group's stock packaging and papermaking businesses continue to grow
and develop, the Group will continue to vigorously promote the research
and development of new products and technologies, improve the
efficiency of equipment operation, and improve the overall
competitiveness and profitability of the Group with products that are more
adaptable to market demands and more innovative and high-quality
services. At the same time, the Group will continue to spare no effort to
develop promising investment projects during this important strategic
opportunity period, accelerate development while maintaining a stable
capital structure, and strive to create higher returns for Shareholders.

RE
—F-—FRERNEERETREY  HEENE
HREERE LA RHIMERE - 2HKICHABRRR
- RIEERENREWABEN TR EBER

REERAENTIREN  REEYERETAFEE

B - AREBMEERETENERR  E5MRE
BREBEEEH -

—EoFRAKETEEZEHERMEEETRRRMCERH
ERRHFRRZ F - KWABEEINTHE TRENBRIR
B ERERE  MEBREE  TBRE  BRKREFEKX

FIBEBGR o [+10 o I B8 - anfaIFE ARG R A8 B 1
HERBEETR - LEAANTABBERNER L - 10
RIEKABAXRBRATR BARNRERERBERE
MHERRBDEEMAEEN -

“EoFARBERRDENEZRBKEN - AEH
BEFREEERTALT  RMAFNERBETEE -
AREE BT FA R A )38 AR B SR SR TR AR [ R ) A R4
BAEEGNARBEZR LK - BB [RR ] BORERE
REME2EEELE  AKEERRBEEFTERFE &K
el  RENEMEEUARHEERENTEHARE - D
BRMSERERFERY - ERK  ERTE  A5EE
ETEMNEXRAMNEFORMER  BETHESN
?5?)?\%/%73 BREZFERNANEANMATER 2
BESBEIE MR EL MAIMRIES  ER - UEA
SEFENEER  EREBHENRERR - AEED
1A 0 1 BT A R T RO B - IRATREETTRAR
NEREEETISFERNER ERAFELENORE - 1R
FAEEERHEF I RBMNES - R KEBEEILE
EEBEBHMENETERNIBRENSZIREER
ERFRBEENEBOIRTMRER - BHAKRE
EESER
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Partial Financial Statements Analysis

The Group's cost of sales increased from RMB1,918,338,000 in 2019 to
RMB2,102,176,000, representing an increase of 9.58%.

Corrugated Medium Paper

The cost of sales of corrugated medium paper were RMB1,460,558,000
(2019: RMB1,272,188,000), representing an increase of 14.81%, it was mainly
due to the increase in costs after the conversion of “coal-to-gas” in the two
papermaking bases, as well as the impact of the loss of production lines
under equipment transformation.

Paper-Based Packaging Products

The cost of sales of paper-based packaging products were
RMB641,618,000 (2019: RMB646,150,000), representing a decrease of
0.70%.

For the Year, the gross profit recorded RMB390,865,000, representing a
decreased of 12.91% as compared with RMB448,813,000 in Year 2019. The
average gross profit margin decreased from 18.96% in Year 2019 to 15.68%
for the Year.

Corrugated Medium Paper

For the Year, the gross profit from corrugated medium paper was
RMB232,290,000 (2019: RMB287,673,000), representing a decrease of
19.25%. The overall gross profit margin for 2020 was 13.72% (2019: 18.44%),
decreased by 4.72 percentage points.

Paper-Based Packaging Products

For the Year, the gross profit from paper-based packaging products was
RMB158,575,000 (2019: RMB161,140,000), representing a decrease of
1.59%. The overall gross profit margin for 2020 was 19.82% (2019: 19.96%),
decreased by 0.14 percentage points.

Other income, other gains and losses mainly included income from interest
RMB5,153,000 (2019: RMB6,224,000), government subsidies RMB 18,390,000
(2019: RMB5,262,000) and net amount of exchange gains RMB1,294,000
(2019: net amount of exchange losses RMB932,000).

The distribution and selling expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately 0.47% from RMB72,994,000 for the Year 2019 to
RMB72,651,000 for the Year. During the Year, the distribution and selling
expenses mainly included salaries of salesmen, transportation costs and
business promotion expenses. The decrease of distribution and selling
expenses has mainly due to the decrease in transportation costs attributed
to decline in petrol price.

B BRR DM

REENHEEX AR T —
TENE—_ZT_ZTFEF AR?2102,176,000 7T *
9.58% o

NFEAREE1,918,338,000
#1g

TR 4

RBESR T _TFEHEMNEAR/ARE1,460,558,000
T(ZZE—H: AR#1,272,188,0007T) » 1 114.81%
FERMEEAREM [FEeR ] BRAEN  UREER
BEBUEB AN -

HREBEER
MEBPRER T
641,618,000 (= Z—
0.70% °

s = & iﬁﬁ%%ﬁk$2‘%)\§ﬁ%
0 AR#E646,150,0007T) © P&

=

KEE 2 EF B AR 390,865,000  M-E—HEE
[FIHIE A R #E 448,813,000 84 12.91% o %@%ﬂﬁh_
T—NFEM18.96% FEEAFER15.68% °

TR 4

BB AFE 2 EFNAARBE232290,000m(=F
— N ARM287,673,0007C) © F#19.25% «c —ZE =&
FEBBENRERA1372%(ZF — N 18.44%) * B
472BD% -

HRBEER
B p Euu_?_?ifﬁ%%‘lﬁ)\EﬁZB%BOOOﬁ
(ZZ—h  ARM®161,140,0007T) » T#1.59%  —F
CEFEEEENRAE19.82%(ZF—H  19.96%)
D014BADE -

Hlg A - EtblE REBEZREFERAARE
5,153,000 T (ZZ—NF : AR 6,224,0007T) « ERfTH
A AR #18,390,0007( = Z — NF : ARMES,262,0007T)

NI S R EE AREE1,294,000C (ZE—NF : EX
518 F 58 A R 932,000) 7T °
REBOBERHEEERA_T—LFENARE

72,994,0007ETF¢1_9§_7iﬁmAEﬁﬁzém 000
TL BRIEHIA047% - RAFEN DHEEEEERE
TRAEBTE  EBEHRAREBHESER - D#HRH
EBRTHRRAZHMNAE TREFRNNESERRD
FTER
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Administrative expenses of the Group increased by approximately 2.52%
from RMB137,858,000 for the Year 2019 to RMB141,327,000 for the Year.
The administrative and other expenses mainly included salaries of
management, staff welfare, rent and depreciation.

Finance costs of the Group increased by approximately 8.25% from
RMBA45,835,000 for the Year 2019 to RMB49,615,000 for the Year, it was
mainly due to the increase in sales, trade receivables and inventories of the
Group during the Year, which increased in bank borrowings eventually.

Interest rates of bank borrowings were at variable rates ranging from 2.30%
to 3.40% for the Year, as compared with 3.85% to 5.66% for the Year 2019.

Research and development expenses of the Group decreased by 6.50%
from RMB84,970,000 in the Year 2019 to RMB79,446,000 for the Year. The
research and development expenses was mainly due to our goal to
improve the competitiveness of the Group's products and to develop new
products in response to demand from customers, for which the Group
conducted research on new technology and new process to enhance
production efficiency and product quality.

During the Year, the Group's profit and total comprehensive income was
RMB62,560,000. The profit and total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to owners of the Company was RMB54,772,000, representing a
decrease of 33.35% as compared with RMB82,184,000 for the profit and
total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company for
Year 2019.

Dividend Policy

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend payout of the
Company must be in accordance with relevant laws, rules and regulations
and subject to the Bye-laws of the Company. Subject to compliance with
applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Bye-laws, in deciding whether to
propose any dividend payout, the Board will take into account, among
other things, the financial results, the earnings and distributable reserves,
the operations and liquidity requirements, the debt ratio and possible
effects on the credit lines, and the current and future development plans of
the Company.

REBTBAZHZZ—NFEMHARY 137,858,000
AE= E_EEFMAE%MWNQmE BIRNA
252%  (THFAXETEREEAETIE  BFAEAR He
MITEEER

REEREKNAH T —NFER AR 458350007
FAZEZZFZZEFEMARAL9,6150007T - 5184
8.25%  im X ZERAFEFANHEIER - B I EKFIEL
RIS INA S RITEFIL TR -

RAFE RIOTEBERINXEZZHINEN F230%=E
3.40%  M=—Z—NFEEIN T 3.85% £ 5.66% °

REBEHMBEZIHAZT - NFEMNARES4970,000
ETB%?E_%_EEEFE@/\EWM%OOOE [ 18 49
H650%  MBETHEBERATEINRASEERRTF
N E R REERE T SGEITHE @A F B R R - 3
TEMIABERALEESERRERRE -

RER - RNEBEGF R 2E K855 AR 62,560,000
Lo ARRAEBARGEFERZMNEE2ABRZAEARE
54,772,0007C - MZE—NFEARGEBABEFE
2ENEAARKES82,184,0007T © T 33.35% °

REBE
AR BARBAARER  HA - ERRERNARF
ﬁ%ﬂm&ﬂk@mﬁm,& R AERSHE - R

BERER  BRA EREARMA - MRERTIRE
RNBEE  EFXEREE(EFERE) ARRANTBTE
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KREERENEELNTENBRR MRRERTE -
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Dividends

The Board has recommended, subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting (the "AGM"), the payment of a final
dividend of RMB3.00 cents (equivalent to HKD3.525 cents) per Share for
the Year (2019: a final dividend of RMB3.00 cents per Share) to those
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 2 July 2021. The recommended final dividend, if
approved at the AGM on Friday, 25 June 2021. The recommended final
dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The RMB to Hong Kong dollar
exchange rate for the final dividend calculated using the opening indicative
counter buying telegraphic transfer rate for off-shore RMB of The Hong
Kong Association of Banks announced on 26 March 2021. The final
dividend is expected to be paid on or around Wednesday, 14 July 2021.

Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 22 June
2021 to Friday, 25 June 2021 (both days inclusive). During the period, no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify to attend and vote
at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company's branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 21 June 2021.

For determining the entitlement of the recommended final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 2 July 2021
to Tuesday, 6 July 2021 (both days inclusive). During the period, no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to qualify to the recommended final
dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company's branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 30 June 2021. The final
dividend will be paid to shareholders on or around Wednesday, 14 July
2021.
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Liquidity, Financial Resources And Capital Structure
In 2020, the Group's main sources of funding were cash generated from
operating activities and bank loans.

RBES - BHARRAXREGR
R-ZF-TEEARENESRREERGLEDAME
LR RRTER -

2020 2019

—EZEF E— N

RMB’'000 HK$'000

AR¥T FAT

Net assets BEFR 1,189,574 1,124,407
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RS 185,367 231,089
Total borrowings [EE &t 1,111,343 873,312
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company RNAFER AREER 965,681 925,909
Current ratios VLIRS 1.06 1.13
Net gearing ratio* FEEARBLE 84.87% 54.25%

* The net gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by equity attributable

to the owners of the Company, in which the net borrowings are calculated as total

bank and other borrowings less pledge deposits and bank balances and cash.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a net cash outflow of
RMB45,722,000.

The IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) meeting in December 2020 has
made an agenda decision on the impact of the application of financial
reporting standard in cash flows. It clarified how to present the liabilities for
the payment of goods or services received and the settlement-related cash
flow generated by the financing arrangement of the supplier under the
consolidated statement of financial position and the consolidated
statement of cash flows statement. The direct settlement of trade-related
payables by the relevant financier constitutes a non-cash transaction.
Subsequent settlement between the entity and the financier shall be
regarded as repayment of borrowings and reported under the financing
activities item in the consolidated cash flows statement. The agenda
decision also includes content that in the context of supplier financing
arrangements, the accounting policies related to the presentation of the
consolidated cash flow statement have been reassessed. When the bills
discount arrangement does not meet the conditions for de-recognition of
receivables, it will be presented in cash inflow from financing activities in
the cash flow statement.

As a result, the Group has changed its accounting policies and reclassified
and adjusted the cash flows statement for the year ended 31 December
2019 retrospectively. The disclosures about the impact of bill discounting
on its cash flows and the ability for users of financial statements to assess
changes in liabilities caused by financing activities, including changes
caused by cash flows, have been presented in the note 41 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

* FEEBMBULERTVREREERARRAAEE AEIEERGT
B AP ERFERRTRAMEREEREE EIRRTE
RRBITHEBR R E -

ANZE-TFF+_A=+—H AEBEHFESFHREA
R¥#& 45,722,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the net cash from operating
activities would have been increased by approximately RMB279,779,000
and the net cash used in financing activities would have been increased by
RMB279,779,000, if the Group has not applied the accounting policies.

The following table is prepared by the Management showing what the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2020
and 2019 would have been if the Group has not applied the accounting

HEZ-_ZTF+-_A=+—HLLFE MELEKEX
FRAZETBIR RELERHNRSFEBEMOA
R#& 279,779,000 7T M AREEEEN KRS F AL M
AR 279,779,000 7T ©

EEEREEBT MR BrREAKEBE_T_TFR-
E-NFT A=t HIEFERERZSHABRENE
HRERER -

policies.
2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREBTF T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES TR
Profit before tax B 75 A g A 64,931 119,180
Adjustments for: LA TS IEEH % -
Finance costs & AR 49,615 45,835
Interest income FLEWA (5,153) (6,224)
Impairment losses recognised on trade and EERRE 5 N H A fE W R IE R (E S 1R
other receivables 5,055 40
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WME - BERRETE 91,372 80,964
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 21,034 20,206
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment  ¥1% -« BE MR EREEE 1,215 546
COVID-19-related rent concessions FAER RS EBEESESR (1.411) -
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hih | & EEH - 338
Loss (gain) on disposals of property, plant and HEYE - BE REBEE (k) F58
equipment, net 2,280 (546)
Exchange gain on borrowings & FNEE A RO BE 5 s (3,486) (163)
Amortisation of government grants relating to BRZER BN E E 2 BN AL 5H
non-current assets (4,100) (3,325)
Operating cash flows before movements in working BEEAEEAIKEESRE
capital 221,352 256,851
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEEgm) R (14,952) 24,503
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 M EH At EUGRIA (3 00) w4 (151,521) 178,407
Increase (decrease) in borrowings relating to BHECIREREE 2 EZENHRD)
discounted bills receivables 99,100 (64,857)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets BHREE (L) R (1,671) 2,300
Decrease in trade and other payables & 5 I H At N FRIBR A (75,775) (166,073)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities AdBaEEMCRLD) 1,368 (429)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to directors JERTEE I CRL) 153 (1,827)
Cash generated from operations IR HIEATEIE S 78,054 228,875
Income tax paid B PEH (585) (23,539)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R ERRER S B 77,469 205,336
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2020 2019
—ECEF —hE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received A 5,057 6,085
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERREBAERIE
equipment 2,812 1,974
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME - WER&E (132,763) (86,052)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and BEWME  BELRELRE
equipment (30,137) (6,785)
Purchases of other intangible assets BEHMBELEE (1,362) -
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary WEEI B A RIIR &t FE8 (18,211) (5,000)
Placement of pledged bank deposits BFAREPRITFR (311,775) (302,977)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits HRH B3R SR TIF 3K 345,278 271,983
Receipt of government grant relating to non-current  WEUE BEFER B & E 2 BUF#HBh
assets 2,200 16,501
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXBARESFR (138,901) (104,271)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BE K
Interest paid ERFE (45,288) (42,027)
Dividend paid B E (15,000) (50,000)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings ERIRTT RHEMAERK (602,142) (627,651)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHERE (17,151) (17,791
Capital contribution from a non-controlling interest B BB X R FEIEHIAER B AR A
of a subsidiary 3,200 -
Repayment of amount due to a non-controlling BEEMNRBAGFEEHEEES AR
equity owner of a subsidiary (21,468) -
New bank and other borrowings raised ARG ERIT R E M FE K 713,559 608,512
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING RMEXBHE (A REFHE
ACTIVITIES 15,710 (128,957)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERAEEENRDFH
EQUIVALENTS (45,722) (27,892)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—B—AMH
AT 1 JANUARY RERREEEY 231,089 258,981
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RtT=ZA=+—H#
AT 31 DECEMBER BeRALEEY
represented by bank balances and cash BISR1T4E 82 IR & 185,367 231,089
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As at 31 December 2020, the inventories of the Group increased by 23.66%
to RMB169,750,000 as compared to the inventories balance of
RMB137,275,000 as at 31 December 2019. During the Year, the inventory
turnover day was about 26 days (2019: 28 days), remaining at a normal level.

As at 31 December 2020, the trade receivables amounted to
RMB513,348,000 (as at 31 December 2019: RMB431,716,000). The Group
generally granted credit period of 30 to 120 days to our paper-based
packaging products customers and credit period of 30 to 75 days to our
corrugated medium paper customers. The trade receivables turnover days
was about 75 days (2019: 67 days).

As at 31 December 2020, the trade receivables backed by bills amounted
to RMB372,379,000 (31 December 2019: RMB298,640,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the trade payables amounted to RMB139,194,000
(as at 31 December 2019: RMB156,003,000). The Group managed to obtain
a credit period of 30 to 120 days from the majority of its suppliers. The
trade payables turnover days was shortened to 25 days (2019: 34 days).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's bank borrowings and other
borrowings balance amounted to RMB1,111,343,000 (as at 31 December
2019: RMB873,312,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the gross gearing ratio was approximately 41.43%
(as at 31 December 2019: 36.02%), which was calculated on the basis of the
total amount of bank borrowings and other borrowings as a percentage of
the total assets. The net gearing ratio was 84.87%, which was calculated on
the basis of the amount of bank borrowings and other borrowings less
pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances as a percentage of the
shareholders’ equity (as at 31 December 2019: 54.25%).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group pledged certain assets with carrying
value of RMB836,290,000 as collateral for the Group’s borrowing (as at 31
December 2019: RMB789,547,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's capital commitments (including the
engaged and authorized capital commitments) were RMB22,484,000 (as at
31 December 2019: RMB23,275,000). All the capital commitments were
related to purchase of properties, plants and equipment.

RZE_ZEF+_A=+—H AEENEFEELH
23.66% &= NE#169,750,0007T * itk —E—NFE+=8
=+ —AGFEHERN A ARK137,2750007T ° IAAF

B FERABREN26K(ZZE—N:28K)  BIEEK
M o

MR_E-TFE+= H +—B BZRURBAEARE
513,348,000 7t (7 —hWF+_A=+—H: AR

431,716,0007T) ° $Elﬁ@ EHREFRFNTI0X
ZI20AMNERE  WRAEBSEEEEFIOKRETISK
MERAE - B RUIENBAEREN 7SR (22—
67K) e

RIZE-BF+-A=+—H URBREENEHE

sk A ANR#37237900( ZE— A F+ = A
=+—H: AR¥298,640,0007T) °
N_ZE_TFF_A=+—H BEHFENRBEBRARYE

139,194000L(ZE—NLF+ZA=+—H: AR¥
156,003,0007T) ° AEEHD R ER RAEE IR T 1 F 30K
Z120RKMNERE - BSRNRENEAEREBERE2S
K(ZZE—N:34K) -

R_E-_TF+_A=1+—H8 AEBERITEILEAM
EREBARK1,111,343,00T (R=-ZE—hE+=- A
=+—H: AR¥873,312,0007T) °

R-E-_ZF+_A=+—H BREEBBLIRNA
MNA3%B(MZF—NF+ZA=+—8 :36.02%) ' ItT)
RIBRITERREMERSCEEREETDLAE - FE
EEEHEABMIN(R_E—hE+=-_A=+—8:
M%%)kﬂﬁﬁﬁ%m&ﬁ@%ﬁé%ﬁaﬁ#ﬁﬁ
BRRES RIBITESRE  ERRESEDOEE -

R-BZBF+ZA=+—H  KXEEERETREE
AR 836,290,000 (R=F—hF+=A=+—0:
ARME789,547,0007T) WA E - fERAKEEE MR

[ ]
AaA °

RZB-TE+-A=+—H  AEEEAEE(BIEE
I HI R IR R B AOEIE) B AR 22,484,000 (R ZF
—NF+ZA=+—8: AR¥23,2750007T) ' FiBE
RERBWEYE - BE MEHE -
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities
or litigation or arbitration of material importance.

The Group collects most of its revenue and incurs most of the expenditures
in RMB. Although the Group undertakes certain transactions denominated
in foreign currencies, mainly the currency of United States and the currency
of Hong Kong, the exposures to exchange rate fluctuations is minimal. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The
Board, however, will monitor foreign exchange rate closely and consider
entering into foreign currency hedging arrangement should the need arise.

Human Resource Management

The Group had 2,833 employees as at 31 December 2020 (as at 31
December 2019: 2,684 employees), in which 456 were engineers and
technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The staff
costs amounted to RMB217,570,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020
(for the year ended 31 December 2019: RMB239,908,000). The table below
shows the number of employees of the Group by function as at 31

R-E-TE+-A=+-0 AEELESAREE
s BA IR -

AEBABORAREENTHAAREFTE - X&H
L?T%FJ«M\\%‘HEE’M&% TE %%E&ﬁén ﬁﬁk
TR B R e B o AN IR A I AR SN S UK
%ﬁﬁ i%@%’iﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%?l\EEK&ﬁﬁﬁﬁq%)ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

ETINEHRZEE -

Ab’ﬁ}‘ﬁ%ﬂi

R_E-TF+_A=+—H AEBEEMA2833KET
(RZE—NF+-A=1+—H :2684%ZET) &EF
W6ZBTRMEBINAESEESSHEEENES -
HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+-—ALEEMNHEETRAE
ABR¥217570000 (BE-_E—hEFE+-_A=+—H
IFEE : ARM239,908,0007T) c FREFIN —_E-F

December 2020: FTZA=Z+T—AXREEZBFEIASNEEHA
Percentage
of total
Number of Number of
Function Employees employees
HEEHAH
BigE EEHA HESL
Management and Administration BB RITH 356 12.57%
Sales and Marketing PHE AN 81 2.86%

Research and Development in Technology R R 2 AR

and Engineering 333 11.75%
Production and Quality Control HENESEH 2,063 72.82%
Total A&t 2,833 100.00%

Our remuneration is determined by reference to the employees’
experience, qualification and overall market situation, while the bonus is
related to the financial performance of the Group and the individual
performance. The Group also undertakes to provide proper trainings and
sustainable professional development opportunities for the employees if
needed.

The Company has also adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) and a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) with a
primary purpose of motivating our employees and other eligible persons
entitled under the Share Option Scheme or the Share Award Scheme to
optimize their contributions to the Group and to reward them for their
contribution to the Group.

AEENHFMTENSEZENEINERIEE R BE
TR © fEAL AR B W0 A 15 3648 e 8 B R ER 1448 o
AEETREBSREMEEENTRARFRIEE N
SRS EERRRES

ARRIREERMBRAE S ([HBRET8 ) Rk
BiEtE (RO ZBFE]) T2 ENEBEEETE
kMR EABE T REMAERAL  RAEY
AEBENER - RRKFBENERE TRE -
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Major Risks and Uncertainties

In order to achieve stable business operations, the management of the
Company pays close attention to the risk factors that the company may
face. Based on the key risk indicators, after evaluation and analysis, the risks
faced by the Company mainly include:

Due to macroeconomic policy adjustments, certain impacts on the
upstream and downstream customers of the Group will indirectly
affect the sales and profits of packaging and papermaking
enterprises (including the Group). Due to the tightening of the
environmental protection policy, the cost of the paper packaging
industry will increase and there will be certain operational risks.

Since the costs of raw material account for a relatively high
proportion of production costs, fluctuations in raw material prices
have a certain impact on profits.

The Group's packaging business has a low concentration. The
enterprises with certain scale and strength in the industry are mainly
expanding their production capacity and increasing their market
share. The papermaking business of the Group faces leading
enterprises in the industry to compete in the same region and the
market competition is fierce.

Due to the inability to meet the product quality standards in the
industry, the mass quality problems caused by customers’ demand
cannot be met, which resulting in losses from batch waste or
inventories.

EXREEBRFREL
BT%%%F TR ARREREBEMEAAE

EEENERER  KEBREARER - LBFHE
iﬁ AREHBNRREZRRE

MR ZERRAE  BEEL - THEPEL—TE
TE SHEFERENERLX(EREAKEH)
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RRERKAELERAPELERS - Bt B
ERNEBHNBEE —ENTE -

AEBBREBETERER  TEARE—ERR
ME WD RYIAE — PIRAEE RIE Nm5h
BEXRIBKERR - ARBEREBEEBRITEA
MEBCEERBBEABRT  EHSHFAR -
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The directors of the Company (the "Directors”) are pleased to present the
corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020 (the “Year").

The Company has consistently adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) promulgated by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) as guidelines to reinforce our corporate
governance principles. This report describes how the Company has applied
the principles during the Year.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the Code
as stated in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31
December 2020.
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Board of Directors

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company has a balance of skill
and experience and a balanced composition of Executive and Non-
executive Directors, the overall management of the Company’s business
was vested in the Board. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business to the executive management
team, and focuses its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall
strategic policies, finances and shareholders. As at 31 December 2020, the
Board comprised seven members, consisting of three Executive Directors
namely, Mr. Hu Zheng (Chairman), Mr. Hu Hancheng (Co-Chairman) and
Mr. Hu Hanchao, one Non-Executive Director namely, Mr. Chen Riyue and
three Independent Non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Chung Kwok Mo
John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian. The Directors are well-
versed in respective areas such as knowledge and technical know-how of
paper-making and packaging industries, accounting and finance and
business management. The Board as a whole has achieved an appropriate
balance of skills and experience. The profiles of all directors and the
relationship among members of the Board (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships, if any) are set out on
pages 39 to 45.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive Director
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Four Board meetings were held during the financial year. All the Directors
actively participated in each meeting in person, via telephone or video
conferencing. They gave and received reports on the activities of the
operating divisions and presented papers supporting decisions which
required the Board approval. The Board consents were given by-vote at
the Board meetings.

The dates of the 2020 regular Board meetings were determined according
to the requirement of the Bye-laws and any amendments to this schedule
were notified to all the Directors at least 14 days before the meeting.
Appropriate arrangements were in place to allow the Directors to include
items in the agenda for regular Board meetings.

If a Director had a conflict of interest in a transaction or proposal to be
considered by the Board and which the Board has determined to be
material, the individual Director would declare his interest and was required
to abstain from voting. The matter would then be considered at a Board
meeting attended by independent Directors who had no material interest
in the transaction.

BEExe
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BIMAEEE(ERER)  EREE(BMBESR) MiRZ
BSE —EEMITERNMRA A EER =B E I
TEENBEERLELE BEBEEERASEE - EFHE
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Details of the attendance of Directors at these Board meetings and at the
meetings of five Board committees (the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Risk
Management Committee and the Budget Management Committee) and
the annual general meeting (the “AGM") are set out in the following table:

TREAESHFEFEERLAAESTZE S (EXZ
Bg ¥HZEg RLZEg RAREEZBENTE

Meetings Attended/Meetings Held

b= Ve SiE-E V4
Risk Budget
Board Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Management Management
Name of directors Meeting  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee AGM
M HH R% EREE REEE e
EpE Ezg ZEE zZeg Z8%8 Z88 Z88 BERE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Hu Zheng HERE 4/4 NATER 11 11 2/2 11 11
Mr. Hu Hancheng MEREE 44 NAMER  NAMER  NATER  NATER 17N 7n
Mr. Hu Hanchao WERLE 44 NAMER O NAMER  NATER  NATER 17 171
Non-Executive Director FYTES
Mr. Chen Riyue REA%HE A4 NATNER O NAMER  NATER  NATER  NATER n
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EEREE 44 2/2 1n 17n 22 NATER n
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang ElEdp 44 202 1n 1"n 22 NATER n
Mr. Shin Yick Fabian rHEE 44 202 17n 17n 22 NATER n

All Directors had access to the services of the company secretary who
regularly updated the Board on governance and regulatory matters. Any
Director, wishing to do so in the furtherance of respective duties, might
take independent professional advice (through the Chairman) at the
Company's expense. The availability of professional advice extended to the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Risk Management Committee and the Budget
Management Committee.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees, together
with any supporting documents, were available to all Directors. Draft and
final versions of the minutes were sent to all Directors for their comment
and record respectively.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in
order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, industry experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Board recognised the benefits of diversity in the Board in enhancing
the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. The Nomination
Committee will give consideration to a number of factors as set out in the
Policy when identifying suitably qualified candidates to become members
of the Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, industry
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board is
considered well balanced and of a diverse mix appropriate for the business
of the Company. The Company will also take into account its own business
model and specific needs from time to time to determine the optimum
composition of the Board. The Company will review the Policy on a regular
basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Board Committees

The Board has established five committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Risk
Management Committee and the Budget Management Committee,
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020. During the Year, these
committees adhered to their principles, procedures and arrangements set
out above. The respective committee secretary or designated person took
full minutes of the meetings of these committees and the work of these
committees was reported to the Board regularly.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO")

Under the Code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and CEO should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

During the Year, Mr. Hu Zheng was the Chairman, Mr. Hu Jianpeng was the
CEO of the Company for purpose of maintaining a more balanced basis for
judgments and decisions. The Board viewed that, under the leadership of
Mr. Hu Zheng as the Chairman of the Company, taking up the role of
providing leadership for the Board and ensures that the Board works
effectively and discharges its responsibility properly. It can also ensure that
the Board acts in the best interests of the Company and the Group.
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Mr. Hu Jianpeng as CEO of the Company, was delegated with the authority
and responsibility to manage the Group's business and day-to-day
operation, and implemented the Group's strategy to achieve the business
objectives with the assistance of the Executive Directors and the senior
management.

Responsibilities of and Delegation by the Board
The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.

The management, consisting of Executive Directors along with the senior
management, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing the
strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time, and
conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive Directors
and the senior management meet regularly to review the performance of
the businesses of the Group, co-ordinate overall resources and make
financial and operational decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as
to their powers of management including circumstances where
management should report back, and will review the delegation
arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to
the needs of the Group.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders at all times.

Non-Executive Directors

Each of Independent Non-executive Directors and Non-executive Director
was appointed with specific terms. Each of them had signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of 1 year commencing from 1
January 2020, and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the bye-laws
of the Company (the "Bye-laws").

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the
Company confirms that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2020.
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Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

Liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the Company
was arranged by the Company with appropriate coverage for certain legal
liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their duties.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board has adopted the terms of reference on corporate governance
functions on 23 March 2012. The terms of reference of the Board in respect
of corporate governance function are summarized as follows:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(¢ to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to
ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e)  toreview the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set out
in the Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and its disclosure requirements in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The work performed by the Board on corporate governance functions
during the year ended 31 December 2020 included developing and
reviewing the Company'’s policies on corporate governance and making
relevant recommendations.

Continuous Professional Development

Under A.6.1 and A.6.5 of the Code in relation to Directors’ training. All
Directors namely Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng, Mr. Hu Hanchao, Mr.
Chen Riyue, Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin
Yick Fabian have completed continuous professional development training
by attending the in-house training of “Corporate Restructuring Trends
under Changing Environment to Create Corporate Value (Corporate
Restructuring, M&A)” organized by a consultancy training company
engaged by the Company. The attended Directors have provided a training
record to the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee for the purposes
of making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee presently comprises one Executive Director,
namely Mr. Hu Zheng and three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick
Fabian. The chairman of the Committee is Mr. Shin Yick Fabian. The
Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year and details of
attendance are shown in the table on page 28 of this annual report. The
work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31
December 2020 included the following matters:

o make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
Executive and Non-executive Directors for the years ended 31
December 2021. The Remuneration Committee has considered
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration;

o review and approve remuneration and performance-based
remuneration scheme of Executive Directors from time to time by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time; and

. ensure that no Director or any of respective associates is involved in
deciding their respective remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will review
the proposals made by the management on the remuneration of executive
Directors and senior management, and make recommendations to the
Board. The Board will have final authority to approve the recommendations
made by the Remuneration Committee.
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The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Option Scheme”)
whereby the Board may at its discretion grant options to such eligible
participants (as defined in the Option Scheme) to subscribe for shares in
the Company. The principal terms of the Option Scheme are set out in
Appendix V to the prospectus of the Company dated 24 May 2011. The
Company has also adopted a share award scheme (the “Award Scheme”)
whereby the Board may at its discretion grant shares of the Company to
such eligible participants. The principal terms of the Award Scheme is
announced the announcement of the Company dated 23 April 2019. The
purposes of the Option Scheme and Award Scheme are to enable the
Company to grant options or award shares to selected eligible participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

Nomination Committee

According to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall have power from time to
time and at any time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. A director appointed by the
Board is subject to re-election by shareholders at the next following
general meeting of the Company. The nomination of a director should be
taken into consideration of the nominee'’s skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the Company’s business.

The Company has established a Nomination Committee for the purpose of
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four Directors, including
Mr. Hu Zheng, an Executive Director, and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang
and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian. The Committee is chaired by Mr. Hu Zheng.

The Board delegates the responsibility of appointing and re-electing
Directors to the Nomination Committee and they are responsible for
considering the suitability of a candidate, and approving and terminating
the appointment of a Director. Reviews of the plans for orderly succession
for appointment to the Board and its structure, size and composition are
done on a regular basis by the Nomination Committee. They are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and external consultants
may be engaged, if necessary, to access a wider range of potential
candidate(s).

In evaluating whether an appointee is suitable to act as a director of the
company, the committee will review the professional knowledge, industrial
experience and personal skills of the appointee as well as personal ethics
and integrity of the appointee.
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According to the Bye-laws, at each AGM of the Company, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation and every Director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years. Director(s) newly
appointed by the Board shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the
meeting.

The Board considers that it is the responsibility of the existing Directors to
give an induction on the information of the Group to the newly appointed
Director and present a manual on the duties and responsibilities as a
director of a listed company to enable the newly appointed Director to
have a proper understanding of the business.

Three Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng and
Mr. Hu Hanchao had entered into a service contract with the Company for
a period of three years commencing from 1 January 2018, unless
terminated in accordance with the terms of the service contract. The Non-
executive Director and each of the Independent Non-executive Directors
had signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one
year commencing from 1 January 2020 and is renewable upon its expiration
and may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter of
appointment. During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, there
were two meetings held by the Nomination Committee. Details of
attendance are shown in the table on page 28.

The work conducted by the Nomination Committee during the year ended
31 December 2020 included the following:

. to make recommendation to the Board on renewal of services
contracts of non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors; and
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Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the fees charged by the Company’s
auditors in respect of audit amounted to approximately RMB1,950,000. This
is no remuneration paid to the auditors in respect of non-audit services.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee for the purposes of
reviewing and providing supervision over the Company’s financial reporting
process and internal controls.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John,
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian and is chaired by Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year and details of
attendance are shown in the table on page 28. The work conducted by the
Audit Committee during the year ended 31 December 2020 included the
following:

o provide recommendation to the Board on the reappointment of
external auditors, and approve the audit fee and terms of
engagement of the external auditors;

o review and monitor external auditors’ independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the
applicable standard, and discuss with external auditors before audit
commences the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations;

o monitor the integrity of financial statements, interim report and
annual report, and review significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them;

. review financial controls, internal controls and risk management
systems;
o discuss with management regarding the system of internal controls

and ensure that management has discharged its duty to have an
effective internal control system including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget;
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. ensure co-ordination between internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and monitor
the effectiveness of internal audit function;

o review financial and accounting policies and practices; and

o review external auditors’ management letter, any material queries
raised by auditors to management in respect of accounting records,
financial accounts or systems of control and management's response.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for Accounts
The Directors acknowledge the responsibilities for preparing the accounts
of the Company. The external auditors’ statement about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on pages 62-63.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Internal Controls

The Board has kept the Company’s system of internal controls under review
to ensure its effectiveness and convened meetings regularly to discuss
financial, operational and risk management control.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was set up on 18 December 2015 and
currently comprises ten members, including the Mr. Hu Zheng, an executive
Director, three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian, and six senior
management, namely, Ms. Chen Wei, Ms. Hou Lusi, Ms. Cai Yan Mr. Ye
Ningfei, Ms. Zhang Zheng and Mr. Liang Nianlin®™®). The chairman of the
Committee is Mr. Liew Fui Kiang.

Note:

Ms. Zhang Zheng and Mr. Liang Nianlin have been appointed as members of the Risk
Management Committee with effect from 1 January 2020.
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The Risk Management Committee is established to, without limitation,
assist the Board to evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the
risks the Board is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, ensure that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems, and assist the
Board to oversee the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management system carried out by the management on an on-going basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Risk Management Committee
held two meetings to discuss and review areas including but not limited to
the key risks faced by the Group, risk management policy and annual
practice review as well as the appointment of senior managements in
taxation and information technology as members of the Committee.

Budget Management Committee

The Budget Management Committee was set up on 1 September 2018 and
currently comprises three executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr.
Hu Hanchao, Mr. Hu Zheng and Mr. Hu Hancheng and is chaired by Mr. Hu
Hanchao.

The responsibilities of the Budget Management Committee is to, without
limitation, assist the Board to monitor and review the effectiveness of the
Group's annual business plan and financial budget, to review the
implementation of the Group's budget in existing or potential investment
projects and make recommendations, and also give the recommendations
to the Board on the capital expenditures.

Company Secretary

Mr. Li Kin Wai has been engaged by the Company in replacement of Mr.
Kersen Chan as the company secretary since 1 April 2021 and he worked
and communicated closely with Ms. Chen Wei, a vice president of the
Group. His biographical details are set out in the section headed
"Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report. For the year ended 31 December 2020, Mr. Li has undertaken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training respectively in
compliance with Rule 3.20 of the Listing Rules.

Communication With Shareholders

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with its
shareholders, and in particular through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage
their participation. The Chairman of the Board will attend the forthcoming
annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 25 June 2021 to answer any
questions from shareholders.

The Group's official website http://www.zhengye-cn.com contains an
‘Investor Relations’ section which offers timely access to the Company'’s
press releases, financial reports and announcements.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors with relevant information of
the Group in a timely manner.
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Corporate Governance Report
e SRRt

Shareholders’ Rights

Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings
Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company and Bermuda Companies Act, in
addition to regular Board meetings, the Directors of the Company, on the
requisition of shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company, can convene a special general
meeting to address specific issues of the Company within 21 days from the
date of deposit of written notice to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The same requirement and procedure also apply
to any proposal to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for adoption.

Right to Put Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The address is set out in the “CORPORATE
INFORMATION" section of this annual report for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

Constitutional Documents
There are no significant changes in the Company's constitutional
documents during the year.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Directors

Mr. Hu Zheng (#A1E),
and one of the founders. Furthermore, Mr. Hu Zheng is the chairman of the

aged 58, he is the Chairman and executive Director

nomination committee and members of the remuneration committee, risk
management committee and budget management committee. Mr. Hu
Zheng is responsible for overseeing the overall corporate management,
operation and development planning and had over 30 years of experience
in the paper-making and packaging industries. Prior to founding our
Group, Mr. Hu Zheng worked as a technician and as assistant engineer at a
then state-owned paper factory since 1983 then he was a director of a PRC
paper and packaging products manufacturing factory, responsible for the
management of daily operation and strategic planning from 1990 to 2003.
In October 1981, Mr. Hu Zheng graduated from Guangdong Foshan
Vocational College (E & b 1L B % & fiT 2 Ft) (formerly known as
Guangdong Foshan Region Agricultural Mechanical College (& % % f# |1
Mol R A 2R))
at the Macau University of Science and Technology in August 2001. Mr. Hu

and completed a Master of Business Administration

Zheng is the brother of Mr. Hu Hancheng (an executive Director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company (the “Shareholder”) through his
interests in Golden Century Assets Limited) and Mr. Hu Hanchao (an
executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the Company through
his interests in Leading Innovation Worldwide Corporation).

Mr. Hu Hancheng (#8 2 #2), aged 61, has been appointed an executive
Director since 4 March 2011. He is also the Co-Chairman of the Company,
and also a member of budget management committee. He is responsible
for the comprehensive operation management of the Group. He joined the
Group in 2003 and has been the legal representative of Zheng Ye
Packaging (Zhongshan) Company Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, between December 2007 and January 2017.
Mr. Hu Hancheng is in charge of the management and operation of the
packaging business division of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Hu Hancheng was the general manager of a PRC packaging products
manufacturing factory from 1997 to 2003 responsible for the overall
operational management of the business. Mr. Hu Hancheng is currently the
vice president of Zhongshan Association of Packaging Industry. In January
1995, Mr. Hu Hancheng completed an economic management program at
the Guangdong Polytechnic College (EHR & TR B Z 172 Ft) formerly
known as Guangdong Province Adult Technology University (&5 & B AE
FKE). Mr. Hu Hancheng is brother of Mr. Hanchao (an executive Director
and a substantial Shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Hu Zheng (an
executive Director and a controlling Shareholder of the Company through
his interests in Gorgeous Rich Development Limited).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Hu Hanchao (#/£%), aged 63, an executive Director of the Company,
he is also the chairman of budget management committee. He joined our
Group in 2003 and he was appointed as a Director in September 2010 then
was designated as an executive Director in March 2011 and appointed as
Vice Chairman in November 2012; and appointed as Chairman from April
2016 to August 2018. Mr. Hu Hanchao is responsible for the daily
operations management of the Group and supervises the daily
comprehensive operation management in corrugated medium paper
division. He has been involved in corporate management for more than 29
years. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu Hanchao was the deputy general
manager at Zhongshan City Zhong Fa Equipment Rental Company Limited
from 2000 to 2003 responsible for the overall operational management of
the business and before that he was the assistant manager of Xinhua
Bookshop from 1985 to 1994. In August 1985, Mr. Hu Hanchao graduated
from Zhongshan Municipal Communist Party Cadre School (1L & & £
). Mr. Hu Hanchao is the brother of Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive Director
and a controlling Shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Hu Hancheng (an
executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the Company).

Mr. Chen Riyue (Ff B A), aged 42, joined our Group in 31 May 2019. He
served at Guangdong Industry Polytechnic and is currently an associate
professor. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Wuhan
University of Technology in 2001. He also obtained a master’s degree in
engineering from China University of Geosciences (Wuhan) in 2012. Mr.
Chan is a niece-in-law of Mr. Hu Hanchao (an executive Director and a
substantial Shareholder of the Company), Mr. Hu Hancheng (an executive
Director and a substantial Shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Hu Zheng
(an executive Director and a controlling Shareholder of the Company).
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Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (#& Bl &), aged 52, joined the Company on 4
March 2011 as an independent non-executive Director. He is also the
chairman of audit committee and also a member of nomination committee,
remuneration committee and risk management committee of the
Company. Mr. Chung graduated from Macquarie University, Australia in
1992 with a Bachelor of Economics degree, then became a member of CPA
Australia in 1995 and that of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in 1996. Mr. Chung has over 21 years of experience in auditing,
financial management and corporate finance. Mr. Chung was an auditor in
an international accounting firm from 1992 to 1999. From 2000, Mr. Chung
had held several senior management positions, including chief financial
officer, executive director and independent non-executive director, in a
number of listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is currently a vice
president of Yongsheng Advanced Materials Company Limited (a listed
company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 3608). Mr. Chung is also an
independent non-executive Directors of BYD Electronic (International)
Company Limited (a listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code:
285), YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited (a listed company on the
Stock Exchange; stock code: 6123), B & S International Holdings Limited (a
listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1705) and Tokyo Chuo
Auction Holdings Limited (a listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock
code: 1939) since June 2013, December 2017, February and September
2018 respectively.

Mr. Liew Fui Kiang (£1£8%), aged 54, joined the Company on 31 May 2019
as an independent non-executive Director. He is a solicitor of England and
Wales as well as Hong Kong. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in laws from
the University of Leeds in 1989. He also obtained a master’s degree in
business administration (investment and finance) from the University of Hull
Business School in 1996. Mr. Liew was admitted as a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors in 2011. Mr. Liew is an independent non-
executive Directors of Shandong Gold Mining Company Limited (a
company dually listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1787 and
the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code: 600547 CH), China Apex
Group Limited (a listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 2011)
and Zhongchang International Holdings Group Limited (a listed company
on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 859) since December 2020, November
2019 and January 2018 respectively. Mr. Liew was a Chairman and an
executive Director of PacRay International Holdings Limited, (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1010) from August 2017 to
January 2019, a non-executive Director of Amber Hill Financial Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 33) in
December 2019 and an independent director of Baoshan Iron & Steel
Company Limited* (& |1 # #i J% 5 & R 2 7)), (@ company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code: 600019 CH) from 2000 to 2006.

For identification purpose only
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Mr. Shin Yick Fabian (%£%)), aged 52, joined the Company on 31 May 2019
as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Shin graduated from the
University of Birmingham in England with a bachelor’s degree in
commerce. After graduation, he worked in the audit department of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. He had also worked in a listed company in
Hong Kong as group financial controller and company secretary. He is a
fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Chartered Governance
Institute and the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Mr. Shin is a
non-executive Director of Pak Tak International Limited (a listed company
on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 2668) since February 2017. Mr. Shin is
also an independent non-executive Directors of China Automobile New
Retail (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as Lisi Group Holdings Limited) (a
listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 526), Newton
Resources Limited (a listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code:
1231) and China Tianrui Automotive Interiors Company Limited (a listed
company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 6162) since January 2013,
August 2015, and December 2018 respectively. Mr. Shin was an
independent non-executive Directors of China Shun Ke Long Holdings
Limited (a listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 974) from
August 2015 to October 2018, Huabang Financial Holdings Limited
(Formerly Goldenmars Technology Holdings Limited) (a listed company on
the Stock Exchange; stock code: 3638) from September 2016 to October
2018.

Senior Management

Mr. Hu Jianpeng (88 & H5), aged 34, joined the Group in 2014. Mr. Hu
Jianpeng is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Hu Jianpeng held
the post of the Group’s general manager in procurement between 2014
and 2017, was responsible for the supply chain management and
procurement strategy formulation in the Group. In 2018, Mr. Hu Jianpeng
served as the chief operating officer of the Group and responsible for the
overall operation and management in sales, raw materials and procurement
of the Group. Mr. Hu Jianpeng obtained double Master degrees in finance
and marketing awarded by the University of Sydney in 2013. Mr. Hu
Jianpeng is a son of Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder of the Company). Also, Mr. Hu Jianpeng is a nephew of Mr. Hu
Hanchao (an Executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the
Company) and Mr. Hu Hancheng (an Executive Director and a substantial
Shareholder of the Company).
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Mr. Hu Jianjun (#8127, aged 36, joined the Group in 2010. Mr. Hu Jianjun
is the Chief Operating Officer of the Group and is responsible for the
operations, strategic planning in sales and raw paper procurement in
packaging division and maintain customers relationships. Mr. Hu Jianjun
obtained the undergraduate programme in design awarded by the
Wuchang Shouyi University (former known as Huazhong University of
Science and Technology (Wuchang campus)) in 2008. Mr. Hu Jianjun is a
son of Mr. Hu Hancheng (an executive Director and a substantial
Shareholder of the Company). Also, Mr. Hu Jianjun is a nephew of Mr. Hu
Hanchao (an executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the
Company) and Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder of the Company).

Mr. Tan Xijian (FE#542), aged 36, joined the Group in 2014. Mr. Tan is the
vice president of the Group and is responsible for the sales and raw
materials operation management. Mr. Tan was the general manager in raw
materials from 2014 to 2017 and was responsible for the formulation of raw
materials management and procurement strategies of the Group. Prior to
joining the Group, he had five years of project planning. Mr. Tan obtained
a degree in Business Administration from Guangdong University of
Technology in 2016. Mr. Tan Xijian is a son-in-law of Mr. Hu Hanchao (an
executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the Company). Also,
Mr. Tan is a niece-in-law of Mr. Hu Hancheng (an executive Director and a
substantial Shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive
Director and a controlling Shareholder of the Company).

Ms. Chen Wei (FRE(), aged 45, joined our Group in 2007. Ms. Chen is the
vice president of the Group and responsible for the management
operations in finance, human resources, legal, internal audit, information
systems and Hong Kong head quarter of the Group comprehensively. Ms.
Chen has over 16 years of experience in financial management and tax
services. She served as financial supervisor in several papermaking
enterprises and group companies during the period from 1995 to 2001 and
was in charge of accounting and financial management matters. Prior to
joining our Group, Ms. Chen served as account manager and tax consultant
in Zhongshan large-scale tax agent from 2005 to 2007. Ms. Chen completed
the accounting course of Jinan University in December 2005 and obtained
a undergraduate diploma. Thereafter, she was awarded the Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Wales in April 2011,
and obtained the title of senior accountant awarded by Human Resources
Bureau of Guangdong Province (& & & A % &) in December 2008. In
September 2009, Ms. Chen obtained professional qualification as a senior
international finance manager awarded by International Financial
Management Association. She is the member of International Financial
Management Association.
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Mr. Zhou Wenchang (3 &), aged 56, joined the Group in 2015. Mr. Zhou
is the vice president of paper division and is responsible for the overall
operation, production, coordination and management planning in a
production base of paper division in Yongfa. Mr. Zhou has over 34 years of
experience in the technical, production and management skills in paper
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhou worked as production
supervisor at Jiangxi Fuzhou Paper Mill (;T 75 #& JI| 3 4K &) from 1987 to
1998. He was responsible for the production line management. From 1998
to 2014, Mr. Zhou was the factory manager in one of subsidiary of Nine
Dragons Paper (Holdings) Limited and was responsible for the overall
production management. He served as general manager in Hebei Changtai
Paper Company Limited* (i[dL E R K E KD AR A7) between 2014 and
2015, responsible for comprehensive production management. Mr. Zhou
graduated in 1987 from Jiangxi College of Light Industry (JT FA &8 T 2 E1%),
majoring in pulp paper craft (technical diploma).

Mr. Fu Guofa ({# B J%), aged 48, joined the Group in 2017. Mr. Fu is the
vice president of the Group, and is responsible for the overall product
operation, coordination and management planning in a production base of
paper division in Hung Hing. Mr. Fu has over 24 years of experience in the
technical, production and management skills in paper industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Fu worked as deputy general manager in one of
subsidiary of Nine Dragons Paper (Holdings) Limited from 2010 to 2016 and
was responsible for the overall production management. Mr. Fu obtained
an undergraduate qualification majoring in pulp paper craft from Nanjing
Forestry University in 1997.

Mr. Zhou Dafu (JE##), aged 40, joined the Group in 2016. Mr. Zhuo is the
vice president of the Group, and is responsible for the overall product
operation, coordination and management planning in a production base of
paper division in Zhengyi. Mr. Zhou has over 17 years of experience in the
technical, production and management skills in paper industry. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Zhou worked at a numbers of paper manufacturers
enterprises and was responsible for production and management. Mr.
Zhou obtained a degree majoring in light chemical engineering from
Tianjin University of Science and Technology in 2003.

Mr. Li Jun (1), aged 58, joined our Group in 2003. Mr. Li is the vice
president of the Group, and is responsible for the overall management and
its strategies of the Zhongshan base of packaging division of the Group.
Mr. Li has been involved in paper-making process technologies and sales
management of packaging products since graduation. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Li worked for Chenzhou Honggji Paper Factory (#8/1 AT iE3E 4K )
from 1982 to 1993 and was responsible for the production technology and
subsequently at Chenzhou Honggi Number Two Paper Factory (#8125 =
i # ) as assistant plant manager till 1996. Mr. Li was the head of the
transportation department at a PRC packaging products manufacturing
factory from 1999 to 2003 responsible for the inventory and logistics
management of the business. Mr. Li graduated from Hunan Vocational
College for Light Industry (784 8 T2 HR2) in July 1982, majoring
in paper-making processes, and obtained professional qualification as an
engineer (L2fM) awarded by Human Resources Bureau of Hunan Province

(A AEEE) in July 1992.
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Mr. Zhang Xiaoming (5% B BH), aged 59, joined our Group in 2003. Mr.
Zhang is the vice president of the Group, and is responsible for the overall
management and its strategies of the Zhuhai base of packaging division of
the Group. Before that, Mr. Zhang was an executive Director of the
Company from January to December 2015. Mr. Zhang has been involved in
the papermaking and packaging industry for over 31 years with a strong
edge in administration having spent years in a management capacity. Prior
to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang worked for Guangdong Zhongshan Paper
Factory and was the deputy general manager of a PRC packaging products
manufacturing factory from 1995 to 2003 responsible for the overall sales
management of the business. Mr. Zhang graduated in July 1985 from
Guangzhou College of Light Industry (J& M & T % 2 £%) administered by
the Ministry of Light Industry, majoring in pulp paper making.

Mr. Liu Haibo (2178 ), aged 50, joined our Group in 2018. Mr. Liu is the
vice president of the Group, and is in charge of the sales of corrugated
medium paper and raw material management. Mr. Liu has over 26 years of
experience in paper products sales and participated in the marketing of
paper products in various paper products enterprises. He graduated
tertiary level in international trade and marketing at Shandong TV University
and awarded the title of assistant economist.

Company Secretary

Mr. Li Kin Wai (Z & JX), was appointed as the Company Secretary and
Authorized Representative of the Company in 1 April 2021. Mr. Li is a
Manager of Corporate Services of Tricor Services Limited, an Asia’s leading
business expansion specialist specializing in integrated Business, Corporate
and Investor Services. Mr. Li is a Chartered Secretary and an Associate of
both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators).

*  For identification purpose only
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The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders their report
together with audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together the "Group”) for the year ended 31

December 2020.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
the Group are manufacturing and sale of paper, paperboard and paper-
based packaging products. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are
set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 173 of this annual
report.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB3.00
cents (equivalent to HKD3.525 cents) per share to the shareholders on the
register of members on 2 July 2021, amounting to approximately
RMB15,000,000 and the retention of the profit for the year approximately
RMB39,772,000.

The dividend will be payable in HK$. The exchange rate will be based on
the opening indicative counter exchange rate (Buying TT for RMB) as on 26
March 2021 (the date of unaudited annual results’ board meeting of the
Company) disclosed by The Hong Kong Association of Banks.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
for the financial year under review are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in
note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves
Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2020, calculated

in accordance with the provision of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
amounted to RMB16,085,000.

Five Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the latest five financial years is set out on page 174 of this annual report.
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Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities of
the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities shares during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no pre-emptive under the Company Bye-laws, or the laws in
Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

Tax Relief and Exemption
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding the Company’s securities.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period.

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year ended and up to the date of
this report were:

Mr. HU Zheng (Chairman) (Mr. HU Jianpeng as his alternate)
Mr. HU Hancheng (Co-Chairman) (Mr. HU Jianjun as his alternate)
Mr. HU Hanchao (Mr. TAN Xijian as his alternate)

Mr. CHEN Riyue

Mr. CHUNG Kwok Mo John
Mr. LIEW Fui Kiang
Mr. SHIN Yick Fabian

The Company confirms that it has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), and it still considers that the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Pursuant to Bye-Law 108 of the Company’s Bye-Laws, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting
of the Company. Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Chen Riyue and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo
John shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the AGM.
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Directors and Senior Management
The biographical details of Directors and Senior Management are set and
on page 39 to 45 of this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

The executive Directors namely, Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng and Mr.
Hu Hanchao have renewed their service contracts with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from 1 January 2021. Both are subject to
termination by either party giving not less than three months’ written notice
to the other.

The non-executive Director, Mr. Chen Riyue and each of the independent
non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui
Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian have been appointed for a term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2021. Both are subject to termination by either
party giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Emolument Policy

The emolument policies of the Directors and other employees are
formulated based on individual experience, qualification and over market
situation and are reviewed regularly, while the bonus is related to the
financial performance of the Group and the individual performance. The
Directors’ remunerations are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
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meetings.
The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for REBZE-_Z_-_ZTH&+_-_A=+—H L FEXFHHARZ
the year ended 31 December 2020 was set out below: DZBREBABHEINWT -

Number of
Remuneration band (RMB) individuals
AR (AR N -
0-500,000 0-500,000 9
500,001-1,000,000 500,001-1,000,000 17
1,000,001 or above 1,000,001 3k BA £ 3

Details of the Directors’ emolument and emoluments of the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set at the notes 13 and 14 to consolidated
financial statements.

BEENHFWRAEBE UGS HA THFHFBENE
AU HREMFEI13R14 -

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited 48
IEXBIRERER AR

Annual Report 2020
T TEFRH



Directors’ Report
i

Director and Controlling Shareholders’ Interest In
Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in the section headed “"Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this report and note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director and Controlling Shareholders had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, its holding companies, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year
under review.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive's Interests in the Securities of the Company or its Associated
Corporations”, “Share Option Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme”, at no
time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding companies, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Bye Laws provide that the Directors are entitled to be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they shall or may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in
their respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to such
Director. The Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance during the year under review, which provides appropriate
coverage for the Directors.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in the
Securities of the Company or Its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive(s) of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed issuers contained in the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Approximate

These shares were held by Fortune View, which was wholly owned by Ms. Hu
Jianwen, a spouse of Mr. Chen Riyue. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen Riyue was

deemed to be interested in the shares held by Fortune View.

Name of Group member/ Number and class of percentage
Name of Directors associated corporation Capacity/ Nature of interest  securities (Note 1) of shareholding
BEEnEg AEEREARHREEER 5%,/ REtE EHHE RER (M) RERVBE L
Mr. Hu Zheng The Company Interest of controlled 191,250,000 ordinary shares of 38.25%
corporation (Note 2) HK$0.10 each
HELE ARA REHEEER (E2) 191,250,000 & B
0.10B TH) Eimhk
Gorgeous Rich Development Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share of US$1.00 100%
Limited (“Gorgeous Rich”) EnEEA 1 IREE 1.00 €T/ L AR
Mr. Hu Hancheng The Company Interest of controlled 93,750,000 ordinary shares of 18.75%
corporation (Note 3) HK$0.10 each
HEREE ZA/NE] REHEERER (P 3) 93,750,000 R AR E (B
0.10B TR & Bk
Golden Century Assets Limited Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share of US$1.00 100%
("Golden Century”) EaRBAA 1 RE{E 1.00 € TR L A%
Mr. Hu Hanchao The Company Interest of controlled 75,000,000 ordinary shares of 15%
corporation (Note 4) HK$0.10 each
HERRE ARA R EE S (i 4) 75,000,000 i &A% I {E
0.10 8 T L imfk
Leading Innovation Worldwide Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share of US$1.00 100%
Corporation E=nEEA 1HRE(E 1.00 £ & Bk
("Leading Innovation”)
Mr. Chen Riyue The Company Interest of controlled 15,000,000 ordinary shares of 3%
corporation (Note 5) HK$0.10 each
BRAAt4E ZAVNE] SEHEERE S (HEE5) 15,000,000 % & Ak 1B
0.108 TR & Bk
Fortune View Services Limited Interest of spouse 1 ordinary share of US$1.00 100%
(“Fortune View") foiBtEa TREE1.00ETHERR
Notes: B ot -
All the interests stated above represent long positions. The percentage shown was 1. LFEREARER - MIRES L ARBERXERITH
the number of shares the relevant directors or chief executive was interested in ABHARENRNEE - ME—F_FFF+_A=+—H
expressed as a percentage of the number of issued shares as at 31 December 2020. BETROBABDLER -
These shares were held by Gorgeous Rich, which was wholly owned by Mr. Hu 2. GorgeousRich# A Z SR MHAELTERZEREA
Zheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu Zheng was deemed to be interested in the Gorgeous Rich * R K& % R HIE IRH] - #1E 58 £ R B
shares held by Gorgeous Rich. Gorgeous Rich P & M7 B ek
These shares were held by Golden Century, which was wholly owned by Mr. Hu 3. Golden Century B B St MMEREE2EHA
Hancheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu Hancheng was deemed to be interested in Golden Century * RIZ:E 7 KR RD] - HRRFERE R
the shares held by Golden Century. 7 Golden Century FT#5 5 8V IR (H HE B 14 o
These shares were held by Leading Innovation, which was wholly owned by Mr. Hu 4. Leading Innovation# B 2 S {7 - ML L E 2 AMAE
Hanchao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu Hanchao was deemed to be interested in the Leading Innovation ° R 5 R IR GG - tHEFLERR
shares held by Leading Innovation. AT Leading Innovation AT B M IR {5 A #ERS ©
5. Fortune View Bk 1h - MR A A5t 2 BB HEEL

T2 & %A Fortune View ° IRIEFEH LS KA - FRA A%
HEHAE AT Fortune View T3S B MR D A ©
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Share Options to subscribe for the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
Company were granted to, among others, certain Directors pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 3 June 2011.
Information in relation to these Share Options was shown in the following
section under the heading "Share Option Scheme”.

Save as disclosed above and in the paragraph headed “Share Option
Scheme” below, no other interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the Securities of
the Company

As at 31 December 2020, so far as are known to any directors or chief
executive(s) of the Company, the following parties (other than directors or
chief executive(s) of the Company) were recorded in the register kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be
interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company.

BEBERARFR T ——F XA =ZBRANBREE
ETARRIEFTERTREE  URBARRSREE
010 TTH BB - AR ERRENER - B
T TEERERT 81 IR -

B DA B P Ko 7 [ BB MR AT 8 | —ERPRARER SN - AR B
BNA R R R EABOEE 2 Ity - HEROEES - I
BN AR R ERLMA

FERRRAQAFRSFHELR

RIZE-ZF+-_A=+—H $EFEFHARFE
BITRABFRA  TIALCGFEZERARREETHRA
8)AREES M E EDIZE 336 RCHEN AR RFFE
BRMA - REMRRMNe A R EEZREERES
HR D EA AR B D BEITIAS% A LA

Number and class of shares
held in the Company

Approximate
shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/ Nature of interest percentage (Note 1) percentage
s ARIRDEE R REBN

BRREHE B1ip, RRHE Rl (M) Bo

Gorgeous Rich (Note 2) Beneficial owner 191,250,000 ordinary shares of 38.25%
HK$0.10 each

Gorgeous Rich (FffzE2) EmfEAA 191,250,000 f% 5 J& EE
0.10 8L/ I Ak

Ms. Li Lifen (Note 2) Interest of spouse 191,250,000 ordinary shares of 38.25%
HK$0.10 each

FERELZ L (M 2) [Ny 191,250,000 I% &A% (&
0.10 8L/ Ak

Golden Century (Note 3) Beneficial owner 93,750,000 ordinary shares of 18.75%
HK$0.10 each

Golden Century (Fi#E3) EmfEAA 93,750,000 & B AR E 1B
0.10 8L/ Ak

Ms. Li Siyuan (Note 3) Interest of spouse 93,750,000 ordinary shares of 18.75%
HK$0.10 each

FBE (FIEE3) [Ny 93,750,000 i G AR E &
0.10 8L/ Ak

Leading Innovation (Note 4) Beneficial owner 75,000,000 ordinary shares of 15.00%
HK$0.10 each

Leading Innovation (K5E4) EmfEAA 75,000,000 A% & RX E{E
0.10 8L/ Ak
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Number and class of shares
held in the Company

Approximate
shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/ Nature of interest percentage (Note 1) percentage
FREARARROHE R IRAEREA
REAH B4 EntE 85I (M=E1) Bk
Ms. He Lijuan (Note 4) Interest of spouse 75,000,000 ordinary shares of 15.00%
HK$0.10 each
B R %+ (7t 4) I Bt s 75,000,000 A = AR EI (B
0.1078 JT Y & 3B Ak
RAYS Capital Partners Limited (Note 5)  Investment manager/Beneficial owner/ 47,542,000 ordinary shares of 9.50%
Interest of controlled corporation HK$0.10 each
RAYS Capital Partners Limited (FisE5) $REKE EmEB A ZIESEE 47,542,000 Ix G AR E A
i o 0.1078 TTEY & A
Mr. Ruan David Ching-chi (Note 6) Interest of controlled corporation 47,542,000 ordinary shares of 9.50%
HK$0.10 each
Ruan David Ching-chi 5t4 (HfzE6) RiEtEREE R 47,542,000 B B EE
0.1078 JTH) & 3B Ak
Asian Equity Special Opportunities Beneficial owner 46,516,000 ordinary shares of 9.30%

Portfolio Master Fund Limited (Note 5)

Asian

Equity Special Opportunities BE=fEBA

Portfolio Master Fund Limited (Ffi5¥5)

HK$0.10 each
46,516,000 I &P E{E
0.10 8 TT A A%

Notes: BT

1. All the interests stated above represent long positions. The percentage shown was 1. AR RTRE c IRAD L REERRESERN
the number of shares in the Company that the relevant director of chief executive RARRMEE WMEZTEZEF+-A=+—HBAXR2AE
was interested in expressed as a percentage of the number of issued shares in the BITRMEBEADLRT -
Company as at 31 December 2020.

2. Gorgeous Rich is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Zheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu 2. HAIE % H 2 B 1 Gorgeous Rich © RIEFEH K EIE &M - tALE
Zheng was deemed to be interested in the shares held by Gorgeous Rich. Ms. Li AR A5 Gorgeous Rich TR A HI RN G #Em - TBS
Lifen is the spouse of Mr. Hu Zheng. Under the SFO, Ms. Li Lifen was taken to be ZEAMHELENRS - REZHFRBEKRD  TESLL
interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hu Zheng was interested. WEERAELREERREENAREERDhES R -

3 Golden Century is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Hancheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu 3. HER L E2E A Golden Century © IRIEFE S RIS EH -
Hancheng was deemed to be interested in the shares held by Golden Century. Ms. EERR R AEWR A Golden Century FTEF B IR DB s ©
Li Si Yuan is the spouse of Mr. Hu Hancheng. Under the SFO, Ms. Li Si Yuan was TBRRIUTBIERLENRB - BREZHFRPEREG - =
taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hu Hancheng was BEZIHEFERHEREEREERNBRKE KRN T
interested. B -

4. Leading Innovation is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Hanchao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. 4. HREBAS 4 2 E A Leading Innovation © RIEFE #H K HIE 1§
Hu Hanchao was deemed to be interested in the shares held by Leading Innovation. Bl - ERERA S AR AR Leading Innovation BT A I IR 15
Ms. He Lijuan is the spouse of Mr. Hu Hanchao. Under the SFO, Ms. He Lijuan was i o MBEL L RIBERALENLES - REFHFLHAE
taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hu Hanchao was GBI AIBIB A T HEERAER L EEARRNIERLAE
interested. Mty e A R ©
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5. Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund Limited (“Asian Equity”)
is wholly-owned by RAYS Capital Partners Limited. Therefore, RAYS Capital Partners
Limited is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Asian Equity.

6. The shares in RAYS Capital Partners Limited is held by Ruan David Ching-chi.
Therefore, he is deemed interested in all the Shares held by RAYS Capital Partners
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares in the Company were recorded in the Register.

Share Option Scheme

The Company maintains a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”), which was adopted on 3 June 2011 (the “Adoption Date").
Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for 10 years from the Adoption Date. The major terms of
the Share Option Scheme are summarized as follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or
rewards to selected eligible participants for their contribution to the Group.
Under the share Option Scheme, the Directors of the Company may grant
options to any Directors, employees, suppliers, customers, service
providers, shareholder, advisors of any member of the Group or any entity
in which any member of the Group holds and equity interest and any other
person who the Directors considers, in its discretion, have contributed to
the Group.

The total number of share which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the share in issue as at the date of listing, unless
shareholders’ approval has been obtained, and in any event must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the share of the Company in issue from time to
time. The total number of share issued and to be issued upon the exercise
of the options granted to or to be granted to each participant under the
Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
share of the Company in issue.

The exercise price for the shares under the Share Option Scheme shall be
such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the time
of grant of the option but the subscription price shall not be less than the
highest of the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of the Board approving the
grant of an option, which must be a business day ("Offer Date"); the
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; and the nominal value of the Company's shares.
A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by the Directors to each grantee, which period may commence from the
date of the offer for the grant of options is made, but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by
the Directors and stated in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee,
there is no minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme for
the holding of an option before it can be exercised.

As of 31 December 2020, non of these options has been granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed.

Share Award Scheme

The Company operates a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”), which was adopted on 23 July 2019 (the “Adoption Date”).
Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Award Scheme will
remain in force for 10 years from the Adoption Date.

The Board may, from time to time and at its sole discretion, select any
eligible person to participate in the Share Award Scheme and determine
the number of Shares to be awarded and the terms and conditions of the
awards. Awards shall be satisfied by Shares acquired in the market at the
prevailing market price and no new Shares will be allotted and issued
under the Share Award Scheme. The trustee of the Share Award Scheme
(the “Trustee”) shall hold the awarded shares on trust for the award
holders until the awarded Shares are vested in the relevant award holders
according to the Share Award Scheme rules. Upon vesting, the Trustee
shall either transfer the vested awarded Shares at no cost to such award
holders or sell the vested awarded Shares at the then prevailing market
price by way of market order and remit the net proceeds to the award
holders in accordance with the direction given by such award holders.

The Board will constantly review and determine at its absolute discretion
such number of Awarded Shares to be awarded to the selected persons
under the Share Award Plan with such vesting conditions as the Board may
deem appropriate.

Equity-linked Agreement

Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company or enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the Reporting Period or
subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.

Discloseable Transactions

On the announcement dated 3 January 2020, the Group entered into the
Agreements with Zhengyi Paper Products and Paper Industry Company
Limited (“Zhengyi”) to acquire 80% equity interest in Zhengyi for a
consideration of RMB60,000,000. The acquisition has been completed on 1
March 2020.
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Connected Transactions

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements also constituted connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, and are required to be disclosed in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The following transactions between
certain connected parties (as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company
have been entered into and/or are ongoing for which relevant disclosure
had been made by the Company in the announcement dated 1 January
2020.

In December 2020, Zhongshan Rengo Hung Hing Paper Manufacturing
Company Limited (“"Hung Hing"), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company and Shanghai Rengo Packaging Decoration Company Limited*
(B84 B2 EEER A F) ("Shanghai Rengo”), a limited company
established in the PRC, and Wuxi Rengo Packaging Company Limited* (&
S B AR A R]) ("Wuxi Rengo”), a limited company established in
the PRC and owned as to 91% and 9% by Shanghai Rengo and Rengo
Company Limited* (L > J — % H & #t —#k s\ & 11). Shanghai Rengo and
Wuxi Rengo provided an extension of financial guarantees to Hung Hing to
secure the banking facilities with an aggregate amount of RMB10,140,000.

Under the de minimis provision set forth in Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules
and is therefore exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval.

Non-Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
The following transaction between member of our Group constitute non-
exempt continuing connected transaction of our Company under Rule
14A.33 of the Listing Rules by reason of any of the applicable percentage
ratios (other than the profits ratio) being greater than 5% on an annual
basis or the annual consideration being greater than HK$1,000,000.

Zheng Ye Packaging (Zhongshan) Company Limited (“Zheng Ye Packaging
(Zhongshan)”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Zhongshan
City Zheng Ye Leasing Company Limited (“Zheng Ye Leasing”) entered
into three tenancy agreements made between Zheng Ye Leasing as
landlord and Zheng Ye Packaging (Zhongshan) as tenant in respect of the
letting of the premises as summarized below:

o Date and subject matter of each tenancy agreement:

—  Tenancy agreement dated 1 January 2020 (the “First Tenancy
Agreement”) in relation to the letting of premises located at
Dongcheng Road, Dongshen Town, Zhongshan City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC for use as our production site
with a total gross floor area of approximately 36,475 sq.m..

For identification purpose only
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Tenancy agreement dated 1 January 2020 (the “Second
Tenancy Agreement”) in relation to the letting of premises
located at No. 126 Dongcheng Road, Dongshen Town,
Zhongshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC for use as our
production site with a total gross floor area of approximately
7,844 sq.m..

Tenancy agreement dated 1 January 2020 (the “Third Tenancy
Agreement”) in relation to the letting of premises located at
Nos. 119 and 126 Dongcheng Road, Dongshen Town,
Zhongshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC for use as our
workshop and canteen respective site with total gross floor
areas of approximately 2,622 sq.m. and 304 sg.m. respectively.

Monthly rental and management fee payable:

The First Tenancy Agreement is in amount of RMB459,605.
The Second Tenancy Agreement is in amount of RMB98,833.
The Third Tenancy Agreement is in amount of RMB36,867.

The monthly rent payable for the renewal term under each of
the Tenancy Agreements will be the then market rent provided
that any upward adjustment to the monthly rent will be subject
to a cap of not more than 10% of the monthly rent payable
immediately prior to the expiration of the original term.

)
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o Rental deposit paid:
—  The First Tenancy Agreement in amount of RMB300,000.
—  The Second Tenancy Agreement in amount of RMB100,000.
—  The Third Tenancy Agreement in amount of RMB50,000.

During the year, the rental and management fee of the premises from
Zheng Ye Leasing amounted to VAT inclusive of RMB7,143,660 (2019:
RMB7,143,660).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions of the Company and have confirmed
that these transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i)  on normal commercial terms; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reported to the Directors that during
the financial year:

() the above continuing connected transactions have been approved
by the board of Directors;

(i) the above continuing connected transactions have been entered into
in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such
transactions; and

(iii)  the respective cap amounts set out in the relevant agreements
referred to above have not been exceeded.

Corporate Governance
Details of the Company's corporate governance practices are set at in the
Corporate Governance Report of the annual report.

Mode Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules. All the Directors of the Company have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year under review, 24.66% of the Group's revenue was attributable to
the Group's five largest customers and sales to the Group's largest
customer accounted for 7.73% of the Group's revenue for the year. 46.33%
of the Group's total purchases was attributable to the Group's five largest
supplier and purchases from the Group's largest supplier accounted for
27.54% of the Group is total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or shareholders, who to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's share
capital, had an interest in these major customers or suppliers.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the year, no Directors of the Company or their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) were considered to have an interest in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than those businesses of
which the Directors were authorised to represent the interests of the
Company and/or the Group.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float during the year and up to the date of this report under the
Listing Rules.

Events After the Reporting Period

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, the Group has no other
significant events after the reporting period up to the date of this annual
report.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the AGM.

By order of the Board

Hu Zheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ZHENGYE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
EXERERER D

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhengye
International Holdings Company Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 64 to
173, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter
HEENER

FRREITEE (8

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESEBATNEEMRENSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets

FTURTRBRABRENERRARESNEE ZREFME

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables not
backed by bank bills (“trade receivables”) and contract assets as a
key audit matter due to the management'’s judgement and
estimates involved in the determining provision for expected credit
losses.

BN EIREH A REEEBRNET BB RaH B R kst B
1R ARITRIB R B EOR T ([ B B BWGRIE ) e EERE
FHATEE R EAEIR -

As disclosed in notes 4 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management uses provision matrix to estimate
expected credit losses for trade receivables and contract assets,
which is assessed individually for each significant trade debtors and
contract assets, and collectively for others by grouping of various
trade debtors and contract assets that have similar loss patterns
after considering size and industry of debtors, business relationship,
ageing status, repayment history and/or past due status of
respective trade receivables. The provision rates applied in the
provision matrix is estimated using the historical observed default
rates of the debtors and contract assets taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonably and supportably
available to the directors of the Company without undue costs or
effort, and are updated if considered to be required.
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As disclosed in notes 22 & 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of trade receivables and contract
assets as at 31 December 2020, are RMB707,250,000 (net of
allowance for credit losses of RMB6,873,000) and RMB18,628,000
(net of allowance for credit losses of RMB nil).

BIER S B MRIMTE 22 R 2AMBKE KRB -2+ - A=+—

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of the
trade receivables and contract assets included:

BMABESRUGARA NEERENGENERF 81

o Obtaining an understanding of management process in
assessing the estimated provision for expected credit
losses for trade receivables and contract assets;

e  HENEBHEUIEMANEENTRMEEBHRMLER
TR TREERRF

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the groupings of trade
receivables and contract assets according to their
similarities in historical loss patterns;

o BREELBIEXBULTEHEZRBURMAaNEESAE
EEMN

o Evaluating the reasonableness of management's
determination of the estimated loss rates (with reference to
historical default rates and publicly available forward-
looking information);

e  FHMAERBEMTEMAEAENSEN(2EELRENTIA
NREGOHREEES)

o Testing the accuracy of the ageing analysis of the trade
receivables, on a sample basis, to the supporting
documents;

o DB ARERE S ERFORNRE DAV ERNE - UKk
SR

o Testing the accuracy of contract assets, on a sample basis,
to the supporting documents;

o DRI - XBXAHARRA OBEENERE

o Checking the accuracy of management’s calculation of
expected credit losses for trade receivables and contract
assets under provision matrix; and
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TEHEEEERERT - &

H G B9RKEFIBERENEENREERARK707,250,0007T (3 o Evaluating the historical accuracy of estimated provision for
BRIE BB 1B 2EHE AR 6,873,0007T) & A K% 18,628,0007T CEE & expected credit losses for trade receivables and contract
BERAEFESFE) assets.
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 S A% R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

RHMBBER RSP B BRRARENEM

EENEBRRYGRAMBHRRERES NEEANKGF
HERMERNBEAHERPOLNGEERE - THAE
ERESEEANZBEMBRE BFERBARERRES
0k ET(ERBRB)BREEFNER  RILZIA
BENEEMBEN - EETERARENAREEAE
AT BESRBEEAEL - ARFRETHNKFNRE
BETRERBFRBEBBRAERETHERAER —EXE
RERIF AR A BE IR o S SRR AT LA fh AR Sk A AR 5
o HERERERRLEBRERERATETEER
EIRMESFE M IBRMRMELREERTE - RIBRIHERER
MBARRERK -

ERIRIBE BB ERFMETET TIEN—&7 - NE
FHERETEFERTERAMYRBEREREE - &

also: SV

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the e AR E R RGEER AR ME RS E ME R E
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, FHEBEASERBUMAER » 3Rt MITEXIZF A
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and JEEZE R - LVER R MEE WETRE 1
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a BEEERNER - AREGERE I N EE B
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material e ERER - BERRLZOZERNTES 2 L
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting I 7R RE 35 38 R BR A 1M 28 B A9 22 K 8 AR PR i /9 R B
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional = A R BE 25 IR (A $5 5 1T B B A9 B K 68 SR PR i Y &
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. i o

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the auditin e TRREEREANREIER  ARFHEEHRTE
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the FBEMITIEY BEBERIPIEHIAEMIEEE
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on =58
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the o FEEEMRASTERRNEEERFEL S
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures A AEEFEENS R -
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going HEERAFECESTERMNBE EELER -
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence RIEFTERMNR RS  BERAFEESENE
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or MABEBMNERTETE  #mAjEEs 558
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to MIPBELEENEEEARE - WESRATEE
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material ANEEMN - AIE N BRSSP REERAE
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s EBSAMERERPNEREE  SNEEEET
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial B AEFEERRIEBRBER - TENERE
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our HEREEZEAT RS B BTSSR TEE - A
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained M RREHEKBERAAJEER BRETEFEL
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or & o
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 S A% R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wong Yan Wah.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
4518 fm S HAh 2 T U 4 3R

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_ZT-_ZF+_A=1+—HILFE

and Other Comprehensive Income

2020 2019
g 322 —T-NEF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AR¥T T AREFTT
Revenue WA 5 2,493,041 2,367,151
Cost of sales SHERAR (2,102,176) (1,918,338)
Gross profit EF 390,865 448,813
Other income HApg A 7 26,287 14,028
Impairment losses under expected credit SRE A 1B 0 FE(E
loss model, net of reversal 8 (5,055) (40)
Other gains and losses Hh e & EE 9 (2,201) (932)
Distribution and selling expenses SIENIEEER (72,651) (72,994)
Administrative expenses THREX (141,327) (137,858)
Finance costs Y@ 10 (49,615) (45,835)
Other expenses HAhF 2 (1,926) (1.032)
Research and development costs R (79,446) (84,970)
Profit before tax BR 5 A g A 12 64,931 119,180
Income tax expense FTiSfiF 11 (2,371) (18,152)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 4 % Fl| & 2 Uk z5 42 58 62,560 101,028
Profit and total comprehensive income FREGZEN=ETE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NETE Y =N 54,772 82,184
Non-controlling interests JEFERE R = 7,788 18,844
62,560 101,028
Earnings per share BERER
Basic (RMB) EX(ARE) 16 0.11 0.16
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited b4 Annual Report 2020

EXEBEBZERERAR

ZECTEFR



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SR A BABSIR I 2%
At 31 December 2020
RZTEZTF+A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E ARET T AREBTT
Non-current Assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 17 1,040,423 892,291
Right of use assets FREEE 18 197,943 216,194
Other intangible assets HinfmZ&E 19 4,120 =
Deferred tax assets EERIRE E 32 7,265 6,475
Deposits for acquisition of a subsidiary BB B A RlIE S 20 - 5,000
Deposits for acquisition of property, HBEWXE  HEMRELRS
plant and equipment 30,137 6,785
1,279,888 1,126,745
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories =7g 21 169,750 137,275
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H At FE W IR 22 922,741 771,974
Contract assets BHEE 24 18,628 16,957
Tax recoverable Al B YA I8 - 607
Pledged bank deposits BEHEBRITIFR 25 106,401 139,904
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRNIRE 25 185,367 231,089
1,402,887 1,297,806
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables g 5 &k E At eI 5RIE 26 259,447 307,580
Consideration payables e RERE 27 11,956 -
Tax liabilities HIEBE 6,461 6,452
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 28 1,025,339 816,593
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 14,226 17,277
Contract liabilities AHBEE 30 3,583 2,215
Amounts due to directors R EERIE 31 507 354
1,321,519 1,150,471
Net Current Assets REBEERE 81,368 147,335
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities EELERRBAER 1,361,256 1,274,080
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SR A BABSIR I 2R
At 31 December 2020
RZEZTF+_A=+—H

2020 2019
—B-%F —FTNF
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000
B ARET AREFIT
Capital and Reserves EXREE
Share capital fi&% 7 33 41,655 41,655
Share premium and reserves IR AR (B K (% 924,026 884,254
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RABER AEIREZ 965,681 925,909
Non-controlling interests JEIE = 223,893 198,498
Total Equity fERBR 1,189,574 1,124,407
Non-current Liabilities kRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE 32 6,787 5,629
Consideration payables FENREBZHE 27 10,875 =
Bank and other borrowings IRIT R EMER 28 86,004 56,719
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 30,998 48,407
Deferred income EEF A A 35 37,018 38,918
171,682 149,673
1,361,256 1,274,080

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 173 were approved

and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2021 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Hu Zheng
#AE
DIRECTOR
BZ

EEEN T —F-A-TRARERRETEE
E173EH)

REMBRE  YRATALTRARES

Hu Hancheng
HER
DIRECTOR
BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

»‘/]?

QL. S

EHERET%

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE

—EEF+_A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREEAEL
Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests Total
BEA  BRARE EERE HERE B7ER Nt EERER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
(note a) (note b)
(FftzEa) (FfzEb)
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NF—A—H 41,655 92,968 129,481 (23,389) 653,010 893,725 179,654 1,073,379
Profit and total comprehensive FRENRZERGER
income for the year = = = = 82,184 82,184 18,844 101,028
Dividend paid (note 15) BRRRS (P 15) = = = = (50,000) (50,000) - (50,000
Transfer to statutory reserve BRI TG = = 5,693 = (5,693) = =
At 31 December 2019 - +-A=+—H 41,655 92,968 135,174 (23,389) 679,501 925,909 198,498 1,124,407
Profit and total comprehensive FERARZARELE
income for the year - - - - 54,772 54,772 7,788 62,560
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 36)  4e&E HTEB 2 7] (Fii7E 36) - - - - - - 14,407 14,407
Capital contribution from a B A R IR R
non-controlling interest BARA
of a subsidiary - - - - - - 3,200 3,200
Dividend paid (note 15) BERRE (i 15) - - - - (15,0000  (15,000) - (15,000)
Transfer to statutory reserve ;@;@Iiﬁfﬂéﬁﬁ - - 1,283 - (1,283) - - -
Transfer upon closure of a subsidiary ¥/ 7 7] 4 5 85 - - (1,546) - 1,546 - - -
At 31 December 2020 ZZ-TF+-A=F—H 41,655 92,968 134,911 (23,389) 719,536 965,681 223,893 1,189,574
Notes: HEE :

(@)

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the Peoples’ Republic of
China (the "PRC"), the subsidiaries established in the PRC are required to provide
for the PRC statutory reserve, by way of appropriations from their respective
statutory net profit (based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements)
but before dividend distributions.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of certain subsidiaries established in
the PRC, those subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation

to the statutory reserve.

Certain subsidiaries’ appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the
subsidiaries’ board of directors. The board of directors shall decide on the amounts

to be appropriated based on the profitability of each subsidiary each year.

The amount mainly relates to reserve arising from group reorganisation carried out
by the Group in preparation for the public listing of the Company’s shares on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 2011.

RBHEARINE ([HE ) BRERER - R BRI
MEARARERNRES B MAEMARN (ERZMEATN
FEDREM B IRR) LA S D IRATA h BURE R (E L B -

RBRABERZIAE THERABNASSEME - ZZHE
R RVEBERTOGET R 10% TORE i o
ETHBAREESMBETYAZMNBATNESSREE
Ho-Exg ZEﬂi})fli%W%@TE’]%ﬂ NHETE 5 T B
& -

AEENFAESRIERBEEEAREARTABRMHNR_-F
——FEEEMARZMERATEE LTHR -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

»\/T\/\fﬁ,i{)lbi%jz

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_ZT-_ZF+_A=1+—HILFE

2020 2019
—ETHF —hE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTT
(Restated)
(&=51)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RExK
Profit before tax BRA A A 64,931 119,180
Adjustments for: HATSHIEHFE
Finance costs BLE AR 49,615 45,835
Interest income FEMA (5,153) (6,224)
Impairment losses recognised on trade ERE S & H MW
and other receivables RIEEE 5,055 40
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BENRERETE 91,372 80,964
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE 21,034 20,206
Impairment losses on property, M - BRERFEREERE
plant and equipment 1,215 546
Covid-19-related rent concessions FABRRSEEESES (1,411) =
Amortisation of other intangible assets Eftnfm & EgiE - 338
Loss (gain) on disposals of property, HEME - BE RREESIE
plant and equipment, net (Uhzs) #58 2,280 (546)
Exchange gain on borrowings 6 R EE A O B W e (3,486) (163)
Amortisation of government grants relating to BREFERBE E 2 BT L #H
non-current assets (4,100) (3,325)
Operating cash flows before movements EEEABHHILERSRE
in working capital 221,352 256,851
(Increase) decrease in inventories FE (&M R (14,952) 24,503
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 I H th JE KR IEIE AN (332,200) (213,615)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets BHEE (E) R (1,671) 2,300
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 Rk EAMEFRIER D (75,775) (166,073)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities ASHBREEMNCHD) 1,368 (429)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to directors FERE S RIEE I GRi ) 153 (1,827)
Cash used in operations REERFTRIR S (201,725) (98,290)
Income tax paid BRI FEH (585) (23,539)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEBARE TR (202,310) (121,829)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

,\vTx/\fﬁﬂ‘z{)lui%:z

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZTF+_A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—ETHF —hE
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E ARET T AREBTT
(Restated)
(&=51)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REX
Interest received 2 HF) S 5,057 6,085
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEWE - BE KR EEHRIEA
plant and equipment 2,812 1,974
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE  WENRE (132,763) (86,052)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, HBEWXE  HEMRELRS
plant and equipment (30,137) (6,785)
Purchases of other intangible assets BEHMELEE (1,362) =
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary W BB B A R IR & i F 5 36 (18,211) (5,000)
Placement of pledged bank deposits TFARERRITIFR (311,775) (302,977)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits B BRI R TE R 345,278 271,983
Receipt of government grant relating to WERE BFER B E E 2 BT b
non-current assets 2,200 16,501
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXBHMARSFHE (138,901) (104,271)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES EES S
Interest paid [EENEANSS (45,288) (42,027)
Dividend paid BERRE (15,000) (50,000)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EERITREMER (602,142) (627,651)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEAE (17,151) (17,791)
Capital contribution from a non-controlling B X R FEAE I AR B AR A
interest of a subsidiary 3,200 -
Repayment of amount due to a non-controlling BE T A A JE e i
equity owner of a subsidiary WA AFIE (21,468) -
New bank and other borrowings raised FTERISERIT SR E AR fE R 993,338 935,677
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEXBAMERSFHE 295,489 198,208
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BRE&RBSZEEYR L BE (45,722) (27,892)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY R—B—HWRERHRSZEY 231,089 258,981
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R+=ZA=+—HWRER
AT 31 DECEMBER REZEY
represented by bank balances and cash BUsR1T45 85 IR S 185,367 231,089
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B iR M T
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE_Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

General Information

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to
the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Mr. Hu Zheng,
Mr. Hu Hancheng, Mr. Hu Hanchao and Ms. Hu Jianwen, who
collectively own 75% of the Company'’s share in aggregate and act in
concert, are regarded as the controlling shareholders of the
Company.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in
manufacture and sale of paper, paperboard and paper-based
packaging products. The Company and its subsidiaries are
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the principal subsidiaries of the Company operate (the “functional
currency”).

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on
or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Definition of a Business
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to HKFRS
16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions.

Except for the Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions and the application of the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretation Committee (the "Committee") — Supply Chain Financing
Arrangements, the application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i BB R Mt R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE_Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 for
the first time in the current year. The amendments provide a new
definition of material that states “information is material if omitting,
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which
provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.” The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or
magnitude of information, either individually or in combination with
other information, in the context of the financial statements taken as
a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments clarify that while businesses usually
have outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set of
activities and assets to qualify as a business. To be considered a
business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes
and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments also introduce
additional guidance that helps to determine whether a substantive
process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional concentration
test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set
of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional
concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether to apply
the optional concentration test is available on transaction-by-
transaction basis.

The application of the amendments had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the current year as similar
conclusion would have been reached without applying the optional
concentration test.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i BB iR Mt R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_ZT-_ZF+_A=1+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

The Group has applied the amendment for the first time in the
current year. The amendment introduces a new practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to assess whether a COVID-19-related rent
concession is a lease modification. The practical expedient only
applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 that meets all of the following conditions:

° the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 Leases if the
changes were not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The
related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven
or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit
or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The application of the amendment had no impact to the opening
retained profits at 1 January 2020. The Group has benefited from two
to six months waiver of lease payments on several leases in the PRC.
The Group has derecognised the part of lease liability that has been
extinguished by the forgiveness of lease payments using the discount
rates originally applied to these leases respectively, resulting in a
decrease in the lease liabilities of RMB1,411,000, which has been
recognised as variable lease payments in profit or loss for the current
year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A e BB R M R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZTE+_A=1+—HIEE

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

In December 2020, the Committee, through its agenda decision,
clarified how liabilities to pay for goods or services received and the
related cash flows when the related invoices are part of supply chain
financing arrangements should be presented in the statement of
financial position and statement of cash flows. The Committee
observed that an entity’s assessment of the nature of the liabilities
that are part of the supply chain financing arrangements may help in
determining whether the related cash flows arise from operating or
financing activities. Accordingly, the settlement of trade related
payables directly by the relevant financiers which resulted in
derecognition of the relevant liabilities constitute non-cash
transactions and the entity’s subsequent settlement with financiers
should be considered as repayment of borrowings and presented
under financing activities in the statement of cash flows. Upon
issuance of the agenda decision, the management of the Group
reassessed the Group's accounting policies in respect of the
presentation of cash flows arising from discounting bills which are not
derecognised, in which the Group considered the cash received from
discounting as borrowings whilst the cash flows relating to the
borrowings were presented under operating activities as the
management considers the cash flows are in substance, the receipts
from trade customers. Based on the clarification through the agenda
decision, the Group changed its accounting policies retrospectively
by presenting the cash received from discounting under financing
activities in the consolidated statement of cash flow and the
settlement of the related receivables and borrowings are disclosed
as non-cash transactions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i BB iR Mt R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Effects of this change of accounting policy on the consolidated
statement of cash flows are as follows:

° Proceeds received from discounting of bills to banks which did
not qualify for derecognition previously included under
operating activities of approximately RMB327,165,000 have
been reclassified and presented as cash inflows under financing
activities for the year ended 31 December 2019, which resulted
in decrease in net cash from operating activities for the year
ended 31 December 2019 by approximately RMB327,165,000,
and increase in net cash from financing activities for the year
ended 31 December 2019 by approximately RMB327,165,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the net cash from operating
activities would have been increased by approximately
RMB279,779,000 and the net cash used in financing activities would
have been increased by RMB279,779,000, if the Group has not
applied the accounting policies.

The reclassification has had no effect on reported profit or loss, total
comprehensive income, financial position or equity for any period
presented.

As a result of the change of the accounting policy, the effect of
discounting of receivables backed by bills on its cash flows and
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including
changes arising from cash flows have been presented in note 41.
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A e BB R M R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-F-FFI-A=1 BLFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to Hong 2. FITRLBIETHNEBUMBREEL(E
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") BRRREED)NER®

(Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments ARE B IR A EF LA T B 8 M 15 R A AT
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: SIS BB I IS RE R -
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related BAEIEHRELER 17 REEEHI K
Amendments’ TEEFEET
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BAEIERELER3 BESAEZE AP 2
Framework? CCHEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark ERPH®REERQ FIEEEHE —
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2 AR EFERIZ9 F_ERY
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 BRMBRELERT -

BRUBERELER4 R
BRMBRELER 16

(BRTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BAEYVBREZER 10 K& A B A& A
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its BB EEH%ER| 28 AR
Associate or Joint Venture? (1EETA) BEHELRA?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as EEEEL (BEFTA) BESEATEL
Current or Non-current and FERBUE B2 R
related amendments to B5(ZF=FF)
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)' Z B EFEET
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — BERGFTERN6(BRIR) WX BERRE—
Proceeds before Intended Use? KEE A2 BIT 12
AKIE?
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of EBGEIERIZ7 (BE]A) ZHEAH —ETT
Fulfilling a Contract® & RIBIK A2
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs EBUBMELER (BE]AR) BB EER
2018-2020? FRENE
(ZE-NFZ
ZE_TFRR)
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 1 R-ZE-_=F— A — B AERARZFEEHRER -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 2 RIZZTZ=F—A— BN ERB 2 FERRER -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. 3 T B F AL IR E RS BRI A 3K o
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. 4 R —F— A B2 ERE 2 FEEMER -
Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, BTNl ET ] R&KIEET S eI I HRE RSN » R T]
the directors of the Company anticipate the application of other new EETEH  FERCEMEMT T RKIESTE B
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the KR SHANEFBLESHBRENT BB RFR
Group's consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future. SEREATE -
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22 /N ¥ 23
AR e RS R M AR
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-F-TFI-A=t-BLFR

2. Application of New and Amendments to Hong 2.
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)

The amendments:

° update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so that
it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”)
instead of Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010);

° add a requirement that, for transactions and other events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a
business combination; and

° add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A e BB R M R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZTF+_A=+—HILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments to Hong 2. FITRLBIETHNEBUMBREEL(E
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs") EREIRAEER ) WER (@)

(Continued)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on ZEBIAATGBEEEAEHRTEEZARE
the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months AR =+ — (8 A mRE R )E R E8sINES]
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non- LB BN EARSHIERE @ EFEHE

current, which:

. specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non- . FIHAEERERRERRTE 2EMNMmDE
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the BRESIERE - AEMs - BEBIIAE
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments N
clarify that:
(i) the classification should not be affected by management 0] ZOEITREEERN T @ ARNLGS
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12 BENSENTEHSTE &

months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with (i) BBMWEZERANETREBGKME
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at the BIEERARKEBBHAFAARS
end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not &R ZREMR|®E PR K
test compliance until a later date; and BB INFE : &

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the . BEWEBBEEAERETIER ARy FHE
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the B aEEE RN T BETES
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its EEEEERESSIEREemMTA: 2
classification as current or non-current only if the entity IS IRIEEEBERABRAT R 2GR
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument N EBESEARESIERS -

applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a AN BERESEBSSTERE 15 2B A
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the THEITIES]  LAMBHAERE B RIF — MR T -
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.
Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2020, BEAEEEEZE T _FTF+_A=+—HHX
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of EBEE  KREITSERAEBNEEETD
the Group's liabilities. £5 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i BB iR Mt R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_ZT-_ZF+_A=1+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that were
produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management (such as samples
produced when testing whether the relevant property, plant and
equipment is functioning properly) and the proceeds from selling
such items should be recognised and measured in the profit or loss
in accordance with applicable standards. The cost of the items are
measured in accordance with HKAS 2 Inventories.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether a
contract is onerous in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the unavoidable costs
under the contract should reflect the least net cost of exiting from
the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. Costs of
fulfilling the contract include incremental costs and an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The amendments are applicable to contracts for which the Group has
not yet fulfilled all its obligations as at the date of initial application.
Specifically, the amendments are applicable to the Group's
assessment of onerous contracts in relation to outstanding unfulfilled
paper-making contracts and packaging contracts.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.
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A e BB R M R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZTF+_A=+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

The annual improvements make amendments to the following
standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes
substantial modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower
includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or the
lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16
removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement relating
to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove any
potential confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the requirements in HKFRS
13 Fair Value Measurement by removing the requirement in
paragraph 22 of HKAS 41 to exclude taxation cash flows when
measuring the fair value of a biological asset using a present value
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technique.
The application of the amendments is not expected to have TEHIE AZ S BT e U AREBN M BN kKR
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the HEREATE -
Group.
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Ara B iR M T
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_T_TFT_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories, or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial assets takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

3.
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i BB R Mt R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE_Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specially, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ara B iR M T
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_T_TFT_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary attribute to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit of loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 January 2020, the Group can elect to apply an
optional concentration test, on a transaction- by-transaction basis,
that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar
identifiable assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash
and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting
from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is
met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment properties which are
subsequently measured under fair value model and financial assets/
financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance
of the purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised , and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively.

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low-value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If,
after reassessment, the net of the acquisition- date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best
depict the Group's performance in transferring control of goods or
services.

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components, including
contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of properties and equipment that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the
useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

COVID-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

° the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are
accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities
are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the
period in which the event occurs.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Sale and leaseback transactions
The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess whether
sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that does not satisfy the requirements as a sale, the
Group as a seller-lessee continues to recognise the assets and
accounts for the transfer proceeds as borrowings within the scope of
HKFRS 9.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i BB R Mt R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE_Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivables as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income”.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefits is recognised at the earlier of
when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring
cost.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries) after deducting any amount already paid.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_T_TFT_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for
the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely
amount or the expected value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_T_TFT_A=1+—HILFE

3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Buildings and machinery in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group'’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected
useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there
is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end
of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project) is
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
° how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the assets, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or a cash-generating unit for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Shares granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments reserve. For
shares that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
shares granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balance) and contract
assets which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

BEARSFTEHE®)

TREE
EREENDBRA R E
ERMEEZNTAEAT BRI EIL LA A

SHE

e SREEANEHRAORERERBNZIE
BRAFE - &

s  ANKFEBRFERMERRBERES
BXNAERNEZRERE -

AN - W AT SRR R D — TR S FHE R - AKE
AIRE T AT RUGH IR E — R AR B IR A ERIR
AREFAREMCE2ANRGEFENEBREEANRA
AREFFABRGERE -

B R A S A
MEBWMARERIZEHERAHEZSHEENE
BRA ZOERER, - M SWA S B E E R A EEH
BRFNEEFAE  REZEREELRBEAER
BERTX) SfemEERRBZAERRE
MBWMARZEREET —ME M 2 #HKA
ERERMNIEER - EEERENERTAZE
ERpAEMZEREESBREERE MK
AHEeREENBEEXEEBRBARFGERNELZ
BEMERGYeREERTIAERAERN X
TERER

AEEREREENRACEBRRIAGERE
DRFERYBEAIRTHRE(EEREE S
REMIRR - MERERKREIR - BKEER
AR RRITER) - BHEEERSBENESER
SEMEHARRE MHERARZEERRE
) o

Annual Report 2020 99
"B EFEFEH

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXEBEBRIZERBR AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ara B iR M T
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_T_TFT_A=1+—HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for contract assets and
trade receivables. Customers are assessed for ECL categorising into
receivables fully backed by bank bills and not backed by bank bills.
The ECL on contract assets and trade receivables not backed by
bank bills are assessed individually for debtors and contract assets
with significant balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix
with appropriate groupings based primarily on the debtors’ ageing
profiles. The ECL for debtors with trade receivables backed by bank
bills are assessed individually taking into consideration of credit
rating and reputation of the banks issuing the bills.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 90 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
below basis:

. Nature of financial instruments;

o Ageing status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 3.

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it
may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation for
the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the Group has
the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution and redemption
of principal amount indefinitely are classified as equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amounts
due to directors and bank and other borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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4.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets, which is
assessed individually for each significant trade debtors and contract
assets and collectively for others by grouping of various trade
debtors and contract assets that have similar loss patterns after
considering size and industry of debtors, business relationship,
ageing status, repayment history and/or past due status of respective
trade receivables.

The provision rates applied in the provision matrix is estimated based
on the historical observed default rates of the debtors taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At the end of
each reporting period, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and updated if required after considering the forward-
looking information that available to the directors of the Company.
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables not
backed by bank bills for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore estimated the expected loss rates for the trade receivables
not backed by bank bills and the contract assets on the same basis.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Due to
greater financial uncertainty triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Group has increased the expected loss rates in the current year as
there is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led to increased
credit default rates. The information about the ECL and the Group's
trade receivables and contract assets are disclosed in note 40.
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5. Revenue

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

L PN

(a) RAFFENHWADHT

Corrugated
Medium  Paper-based
paper packaging Total
B HREE st
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBT ARBT T
Types of goods or service Ems iR &R
Sales of corrugated medium SHE RS AR EE o
paper products
Corrugated medium paper AA grade  AA &% FLAE 4R 1,684,546 - 1,684,546
Corrugated medium paper C grade CHR RIS K 8,302 - 8,302
1,692,848 - 1,692,848
Sales of paper-based packaging HEMBBEEMR
products
Brown Box ek A - 538,250 538,250
Honeycomb Paper LS TH - 116,668 116,668
Color Box AR Y] - 145,275 145,275
- 800,193 800,193
Total 45t 1,692,848 800,193 2,493,041
Timing of revenue recognition WA TERR 2 R
A point in time — (& feF S 2 1,692,848 - 1,692,848
Over time —ERBFREAER - 800,193 800,193
1,692,848 800,193 2,493,041
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5. Revenue (Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

5. WA @)

(a) REEBEFEHNNBADH(E)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from

contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the

segment information.

RTIIHmRERE S R EARDFRER
RIRENERNEER o

Segment

revenue Elimination Consolidated
2 ERBA i N
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT ARBT T

Sales of corrugated medium SHE BB AR E M
paper products 1,839,318 (146,470) 1,692,848

Sales of paper-based packaging HERRBEER
products 800,193 - 800,193
Revenue from contracts with customers 3 B &5 & £ 2,639,511 (146,470) 2,493,041

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

(1)

()

Sales of corrugated medium paper (revenue recognised
at a point in time)

For sales of corrugated medium paper products, revenue
is recognised when control of goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to the
customer’s specific location. The normal credit term is
30-120 days.

The Group requires certain customers to provide
deposits. When the Group receives a deposit before
delivery of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the specific contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Sales of paper-based packaging (revenue recognised
over time)

The Group's contracts with customers for the
manufacture and sale of paper-based packaging
products are tailor-made based on customers’
specification with no alternative use to the Group. Taking
into account the contract terms, the legal and regulatory
environment in PRC, some of the contracts provide the
Group enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date and revenue is recognised over time
based on the stage of completion of the contract using
input method. The normal credit term is 30-120 days.

Please refer to note 24 for the detail on recognition of
contract assets.

(b) EFFENHBHER
(1)  REEAAEDHEE (WAL —BERES
ﬁg’ﬁ/ﬂﬂ)
HREFRSHEERNEESE  KAEE
MIEHEBEER  EYNEEER

PR EER - ERERHARIINE
120K °
AEEERETEPRMHITS - EAR

SEEXNEY 2 APEIFERE - &
REARRRRBELESNARE B
FER RFERHWABBIT SREALLE

2) HMHEEHE (RAE—RERFHAEE
)
AEEERFFI AR BEEME
ERHEEANDIRBEPHNREE S
EH o REBEEAMRE - %)@xﬂ
KRR - REEEEREERE - 2
DENRRNEERMH TiﬂﬁE’J—Jiﬁ
R MZzEERERBZEBAERT
B WA TI IR IR & &) 58 AR R (52 A
BAEER ERERHAIRE
120K °

RRBERBNF BRI E24 -

Annual Report 2020
"B EFEFEH

107

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXEBEBRIZERBR AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Ara B iR M T
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

5. Revenue (Continued) 5. WA@®
(c) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance () REBEBERIEREEFHITSCRANFGHEYN
obligation for contracts with customers EFd

EBESHRMAUBREREESONBEOE
BREBAFSESHIN—F  MREEE
PR ELERSER - DEEZFERER R
BRNZHERILARKE -

The performance obligation under the contract for the sales of
corrugated medium paper and paper-based packaging
products has original expected duration of less than one year
and as permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contract is not disclosed.

EXEBEBZERERAR

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (a) REZEFEHNHNBADIT
Corrugated
Medium Paper-based
paper packaging Total
FLAB R4 REBE HEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREETTT ARBETT ARET T
Types of goods or service & AR E R
Sales of corrugated medium SHE FLAB AR = ah
paper products
Corrugated medium paper AA grade  AA 4% FLAB R 4% 1,559,861 - 1,559,861
Sales of paper-based packaging HERRBERER
products
Brown Box Wk 4 RS - 495,384 495,384
Honeycomb Paper i E AT B T = 172,685 172,685
Color Box P AR vl - 139,221 139,221
- 807,290 807,290
Total #Et 1,559,861 807,290 2,367,151
Timing of revenue recognition A FERR 2 B
A point in time —{E FRF 2 1,559,861 = 1,559,861
Over time —BRERANER - 807,290 807,290
1,559,861 807,290 2,367,151
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5. Revenue (Continued)

5. WA

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (a) REEFEFEHHWBRAD(E)
(Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from ATFERREREARIARAES IS
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the IR FTEH S EER AR o
segment information.
Segment
revenue Elimination  Consolidated
2 EBUTA K 5H e
RMB‘000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETIT AREFT ARBFIT
Sales of corrugated medium paper HERBSHRER
products 1,693,124 (133,263) 1,559,861
Sales of paper-based packaging HERRBEER
products 807,290 = 807,290
Revenue from contracts with customers 3 B & F & £ H A 2,500,414 (133,263) 2,367,151
(b) Performance obligations for contracts with customers (b) EFEAHMBEHNEE
(1) Sales of corrugated medium paper (revenue recognised (1) REEEAEREE (WA E—1E05 E &

2

at a point in time)

For sales of corrugated medium paper products, revenue
is recognised when control of goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to the
customer’s specific location. The normal credit term is
30-120 days.

The Group requires certain customers to provide
deposits. When the Group receives a deposit before
delivery of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the specific contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Sales of paper-based packaging (revenue recognised
over time)

The Group's contracts with customers for the
manufacture and sale of paper-based packaging
products are tailor-made based on customers’
specification with no alternative use to the Group. Taking
into account the contract terms, the legal and regulatory
environment in PRC, some of the contracts provide the
Group enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date and revenue is recognised over time
based on the stage of completion of the contract using
input method. The normal credit term is 30-120 days.

Please refer to note 24 for the detail on recognition of
contract assets.

@)

#aR)

HREBTREMNEE  WAEER
Mt ERRER  NEYEEER
PR EMRE - EREMAMA0E
120K °

AEBFBERETEPREMFTE - EX
SEEXINEY AR FRE - &
REARMKBELESNARE A
TER RERNBA BB EAL -

MREEKFE (WAE—REFABE
#aR)

7N B B2 5 B AT 37 A A B B 3K E v B
ERHEANIREBEEFNREES
EH - AEBEEHEMRR EREE
WG REIREREREERE - &

EF MZEESCREEE DT
BK - TR A T AR R A 4958 AR BE B {5 B
BALER EEERBRIOKRE
120K o

BHEEERHFBENHE24 -
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BE_T_TFT_A=1+—HILFE

Revenue (Continued)

(c) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers
The performance obligation under the contract for the sales of
corrugated medium paper and paper-based packaging
products has original expected duration of less than one year
and as permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contract is not disclosed.

Segment Information
The Group is principally engaged in supply of corrugated medium
paper and paper-based packaging products.

The Group determines its operating segments based on internal
reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the executive directors of
the Company) in order to allocate resources to the segment and to
assess its performance.

The Group is organised into business units based on their products,
based on which information is prepared and reported to the Group's
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of performance. The Group's reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are identified as two
main operations:

1. Paper-based packaging: this segment produces and sells
paper-based packaging products.

2. Corrugated medium paper: this segment produces and sells
corrugated medium paper.

WA (50)

() REERIBERETFHETSRNFBED
&%
EBESHRMAUBREREESONBEOE
BRABBHERE LN —F  MRBEEE
PR ELERSER - DEEZFERER R
BRNZHERILARKE -

ﬂnﬁﬂ
AEEFEREHRERFCAREROEER

o

AEERIBLEARE (AAKEERE) EH
BERAR S D B RET ﬁﬁnﬁ&%ﬁ%ﬁ%%
BENAKEARNRE  (FRETHESEDMNE

£ o
AEBZHEMSE DEEEN - 1%%%%@&%

B EWMAKETIREERRE  ERERD
KRBT EZA - $EIE§E%%E%E%8T
MR R B EE D BMAR

1. RS - by BPAEE R IHE A AR -

2. HBEEK: HWOMEERHEEAREKER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-ZT-TFT-_A=1T—HLFE

6. Segment Information (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results
by reportable and operating segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

DEER )

REBRATHR R EL D EEI D WA R E
BT ©

BE-Z-BRET-A=t-HLEEFE

Corrugated
Medium  Paper-based
paper packaging Total
RAE T4 HHEH st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®T T AR®T T

REVENUE WA
External sales SNERSHE 1,692,848 800,193 2,493,041
Inter-segment sales o EPEISHE 146,470 - 146,470
Segment revenue S EPUA 1,839,318 800,193 2,639,511
Eliminations 3 (146,470)
Group revenue EEKA 2,493,041
Segment profit pan=ivingl 46,480 22,786 69,266
Eliminations Biv | 335
69,601
Unallocated other income Ko EAMUKA 3,623
Unallocated corporate expenses RO EERT (8,293)
Profit before tax R 35 A& A 64,931
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6. Segment Information (Continued) 6.

Other segment information included in the measurement of

segment results:

Corrugated
Medium  Paper-based
paper packaging Tota
B HREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT ARBT T
Depreciation on property, M - BERBETE
plant and equipment 68,251 23,257 91,508
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEEITE 8,830 12,204 21,034
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories 3 : 7 EHE R L& 58 (50,944) - (50,944)
Less: Amount recognised in cost of sales Ji : CHER Z HEKR AL EE - (15,371) (15,371)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible assets J&{ : £ EERE AL & 4R (136) - (136)
Total depreciation and amortisation e R EAEt 26,001 20,090 46,091
Impairment losses recognised on EHERE S5 R EAM
trade and other receivables W IERIE 1,825 3,230 5,055
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6. Segment Information (Continued) 6.

For the year ended 31 December 2019

a\ =0 =
DEBER (#)

BE_Z2-NAF+-A=t—-HLEE

Corrugated
Medium Paper-based
paper packaging Total
A4 HMBIB R HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTFT ARBTT AREBT T
REVENUE N
External sales SNEREH E 1,559,861 807,290 2,367,151
Inter-segment sales DEHEIHE 133,263 = 133,263
Segment revenue 7 EBUA 1,693,124 807,290 2,500,414
Eliminations B (133,263)
Group revenue SEKA 2,367,151
Segment profit 3 24 A 104,570 18,661 123,231
Eliminations b=t 82
123,313
Unallocated other income ROBEABA 858
Unallocated corporate expenses AOBEDERT (4,991)
Profit before tax f& 753 B A 119,180
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6. Segment Information (Continued) 6. DEBER ()
Other segment information included in the measurement of BRERAMBEEZFAENEMDELER

segment results:

Corrugated
Medium Paper-based
paper packaging Total
RS 4 mEBE #EEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

Depreciation on property, M - WERBETE

plant and equipment 59,189 21,775 80,964
Depreciation on right-of-use assets ~ {# & ETE 7,780 12,426 20,206
Amortisation 5 338 - 338
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories 3§ : 7 &H & AL 4 58 (44,668) = (44,668)
Less: Amount recognised in cost of sales & : R Z HHEKR AL EE = (17,874) (17,874)
Total depreciation and amortisation e R A 22,639 16,327 38,966
Impairment losses (reversed) ERER(RE)ZESH R

recognised on trade and H b fE R IB R E

other receivables 104 (64) 40
The accounting policies of the reporting and operating MES e R R AEEE
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies STHEERE DEHEBEES D PRI &
described in note 3. Segment results represented the profit F o RIBNZWARES -

earned by each segment without allocation of corporate
income and expenses.

No reconciliation of reportable and operating segment (R AT BB ¥R 4> 2R i 48 U A (BIIBR 4D SRR U A ) ER
revenues is provided as the total revenues for reportable and AEB W AR - I EIR A BB DT
operating segments excluded inter-segment revenue is the U A EY S ER o

same as the Group's revenue.
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

The following is analysis of the Group's revenue from its major

DEER ()

FIRAEEEZERBWADH :

products:
2020 2019
—BoRF —ZE-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETFT
Corrugated medium paper AA grade AA R RS AR 1,684,546 1,559,861
Corrugated medium paper C grade CARRAB A 8,302 =
Brown Box PNBE S 4RAE 538,250 495,384
Honeycomb Paper ¥R s 116,668 172,685
Color Box AN ] 145,275 139,221
2,493,041 2,367,151

The Group's operations are all located in the PRC.

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years over 10%

REENZEGURPE -

HEFENREFPERNNBAGEREER

of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: W A 10% E T
2020 2019
—g-%F —T-NF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR¥ETFT
Customer A BER N/A i F 253,424
! Revenue from paper-based packaging. 1 KEMRBEAHWA -

Information of the reporting and operating segments of the
Group reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment
does not include any assets and liabilities. Accordingly, no
segment assets and liabilities are presented.

HEBRLERAREFEROERERBANEZ
RWAREZED MER L BAAEMEE
REE - it XESIDHBEERAE -
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7. Other Income 7. HilA

2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETFT
Interest income from bank deposits RITIF R BHA 5,057 6,085
Interest income from rental deposits HERESHEWA 96 139
Management fee income ERERA 39 73
Sales of scrap materials SHERER 1,249 806
Government grants related to income (note) AREWANBFHEL (&) 14,290 1,937

Government grants amortised from FR IR RE A B B O BT A A
deferred income (note 35) (Pff=E£35) 4,100 3,325
Sundry income FETEUW A 1,456 1,663
Total st 26,287 14,028

Note: Government grants received by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries as financial
incentives for local economic. No other conditions are attached to the

BYRE © AR B R R B AR SZ A Y BB A BIUR S & U S 7R 40
BATREX RO BR AT B G o 1t B IS i I P N o] EL b 15

financial incentives. 5o
8. Impairment Losses Under Expected Credit Loss 8. REEEREFE
Model, Net of Reversal

2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR% TR AR¥TT

Impairment losses recognised on trade E®RE 5 RHMEWGRIAZ RERSE

and other receivables

(5,055) (40)
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9. Other Gains and Losses 9. Htth=mKkERE
2020 2019
i —ThEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREBTT
Exchange gain (loss), net b 5 Woa (JE18) F 81 1,294 (932)
(Loss) gain on disposals of property, HEWE - B REE (EE) W F58
plant and equipment, net (2,280) 546
Impairment losses recognised on property, ERERWE - WE KRiE 2 REER
plant and equipment (1,215) (546)
(2,201) (932)
10. Finance Costs 10. AERZA
2020 2019
—E_EF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREBTT
Interest on: IATIEERFE
Bank and other borrowings HRAT R EAth fE R 45,288 42,027
Lease liabilities HEARE 3,125 3,808
Imputed interest on consideration payables EARERENHER S 1,202 -
49,615 45,835
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11. FIBHiBEX

11. Income Tax Expense

2020 2019
—ECEH —T-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

PRC Enterprise Income Tax: MBS
Current tax BT I8 3,579 16,468
(Over) under provision in prior years VARTF B E Rt (3,615) (1,303)
(36) 15,165
Withholding Tax TEHFTEHE 1,237 7,288
Deferred tax (note 32): RERTE (FizE32) - 1,170 (4,307)
2,371 18,152

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
has no assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. Certain PRC subsidiaries
approved as advanced-technology enterprises by the relevant
government authorities are subject to a preferential rate of 15%.
During the year, four PRC subsidiaries were approved as “small and
low-profit enterprises” by the relevant government authorities are
subject to a two-tiered preferential rate. The first RMB1 million of
taxable profit of the qualifying group entities will be taxed at 5%, and
taxable profit above RMB1 million will be taxed at 10%.

AEBRMEFRABEEFTEELRRDUEN - 8
I EGL BRI S BE B -

LR EAREMBECEMESRA(ERERE]
REBEWIEHIRE - PREMNBA RN RRESE
195 25% o % T BB A B3 2 AR B S0P it
HEERIRIMTE  BEHERE15% RAERN
PU R T 8 & m) EAR BE BT B PTHEE & [/ N BU BRI 1
| TEERAHER - G ERHERES  E
BARYE —BETEATITEF IR R5%:1E
miBdARE — 5 & ITEMT TS FDERIRR R
10% 518 -
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11. Income Tax Expense (Continued)
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group's income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

. FrEHiBx (@)
Ei A EBEEENRIBARAERN LT R
ERZBIEHE -

HRARENRARTEES - B TREEE - &
W I E B RS BE LR -

AEERARY EGGRABEREME2AKRERA
BR B A g A S R T -

2020 2019
et —ThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥®TT AR¥ETT

Profit before tax i 258 A s A 64,931 119,180
PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25% AR B (b ZE PTG 25% 16,233 29,795
Tax effect of income tax credit granted to M ff A R E’Jﬁﬂ?éﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ?%ﬁ

subsidiaries for research and development costs EEMHETE (12,361) (13,520)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible HBIEN S P AR AZORGETE

for tax purpose 3,452 814
Effect of tax exemption on concessionary TRIZA G YT b B B N m) E#%

rates granted to the PRC subsidiaries BEVHEOT B E (4,401) (6,310)
Tax effect of tax losses/deductible temporary RIER %ﬁ%gﬁ%é/‘j?u;‘)ﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁ'\i

differences not recognised ERIBBRE 3,651 3176
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences B A LRI ARER 2B EE

previously not recognised ARG R ER (278) =
Over provision in respect of prior years RUARTEE B ERE (3,615) (1,303)
Withholding tax on undistributed profits H I A R R 2R s

of the PRC subsidiaries (note) EOTEFL (M 5E) (310 5,500
Tax expense for the year RNEEHIAR X 2,371 18,152

Note: In accordance with the PRC tax circular (Guoshuihan [2008] 112) effective
from 1 January 2008, the PRC withholding income tax at the rate of 10% is
applicable to dividends to “non-resident” investors who do not have an
establishment or place of business in the PRC. For “resident” investors with
establishment or place of business in the PRC, the PRC withholding income
tax is 5%. The withholding income tax represents the withholding income tax
provided on the profits arisen during the year ended 31 December 2020 of
the PRC subsidiaries of the Company which was available for distribution
amounting to RMB12,400,000 (2019: RMB55,000,000). During the year ended
31 December 2020, one of the subsidiary applied the “resident” certification
and the withholding rate changed from 10% to 5%.

Mizr: REBER-_ZTENF—A—BERNPEFHEEX(H
T £1 [2008] 5 11255%) + FLE R 10% 8 BB FEH
HAREM [IEER] (A B &R sk &8
HEh) A E RS o 5% /R BTE TS Bl il A A e
RHTER] (REPBR I EEs L ) RE &R
B ZBEERARANTENBAREE 2=
F+Z A=+ BIFERESRFMEERTENA
BE - EA# o IREAR 12,400,000 T(=F— AN
F: ARM55000000) HE-ZZT-_TF+=A
ST-BHLEFE EPF—RFRAAHEBZTIERIR
& HIEHR KA 10% Bk A 5% °
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12. Profit for the Year

Profit before tax for the year has been arrived at after charging

12. XEEH
PAEEBRBADEFID 08 (EA) T5IEIE

(crediting):
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREBTT
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERRETE 91,508 80,964
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETE 21,034 20,206
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hfth R 2 & E B - 338
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories B FENAENMEEE (50,944) (44,668)
Less: Amount recognised in cost of sales B SR HEN A (15,371) (17,874)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible assets B BEAENAENM 2 (136) =
Total depreciation and amortisation EREHAE 46,091 38,966
CQOVID-19-related rent concessions (note 18) FAER RS EBESER (MFE18) (1,411) -
Auditor's remuneration ZE B & 1,950 1,748
Cost of inventories recognised as expense R BEIFRAX H 2,028,040 1,777,080
Staff costs BIRA
— directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments — BEERITEREHME (Fi5E13)
(note 13) 3,882 3,831
— salaries and other benefits costs other than — EBFRITHREHINE R
directors and chief executive EH b A2 A B AR 221,596 220,224
— retirement benefits schemes contributions — EERITBAEAIMYRK
other than directors and chief executive & M ET B R 4,286 15,856
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories B FENERNMLeRE (47,354) (42,317)
Less: Amount recognised in cost of sales B SRR HERKA S (71,191) (77,768)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible assets B BREAENERNME (841) =
Total staff costs 8 TRk A% 110,378 119,826

Where government grants, including the COVID-19 related grants, as
part of profit or loss, presented consistently by deducting them in
reporting the related expenses, rather than separately or under other
income in note 7.

IRBFHE - BiEEFEAESAEOHE -
EREEN—n  BEERSHEEERFIRE
ff—BUh 25 - MAREM L7 T BB E M
WAE TS -
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EERTHRAENE

13. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments 13.

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 7 (2019: 10) directors

and the chief executive were as follows:

ENSEMLAEF(CB—AE  +R)RTR
BROBMSIT -

Retirement
Performance benefits
related scheme
Fee Salary bonus contributions Total
EREF
ik e RERSE HEGER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BTRT ARETR AR¥TR AR%Tr AR%Tx
For the year ended BE-Z-ZF
31 December 2020 +-BA=t—-RLFE
Executive directors HIE=R
— Hu Zheng — #AIE - 1,000 - 18 1,018
— Hu Hanchao — W - 1,000 - - 1,000
— Hu Hancheng — iiERE - 1,000 - 18 1,018
Non-executive director FNTEE
— Chen Riyue —®AA 360 - - - 360
Independent non-executive directors B FFHITES
— Chung Kwok Mo John — EER 174 - - - 174
— Shin Yick Fabian — %5 156 - - - 156
— Liew Fui Kiang — 2= 156 - - - 156
846 3,000 - 36 3,882
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13. EERTHATME @)

13. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments

(Continued)

Retirement
Performance benefits
related scheme
Fee Salary bonus  contributions Total
RRAEF
e i KRR FTEIER FEy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AR®ETT ARETT ARE®ETRT ARETR
For the year ended BE-Z-NF
31 December 2019 +=ZB=+—-BLEE
Executive directors HIE=R
— Hu Zheng — #AIE - 1,000 - - 1,000
— Hu Hanchao — HEH = 1,000 = = 1,000
— Hu Hancheng — iiERE = 1,033 = 1,038
Non-executive directors FNTEE
— Hu Hanxiang — HRERE = 150 = = 150
— Chen Riyue —MBA 210 - - - 210
Independent non-executive directors B IEHITEE
— Wu Youjun —RKE 35 - - - 35
— Zhu Hongwei — KRB 35 = = = 35
— Chung Kwok Mo John — EER 177 = = = 177
— Shin Yick Fabian — %5 93 = = = 93
— Liew Fui Kiang — BlizsE 93 = = = 93
643 3,183 - 5 3,831
Note: MizE -

Mr. Hu Hancheng and Mr. Hu Zheng are also the Chief Executives of the Company
and their emolument disclosed above include those for services rendered by them
as the Chief Executives. The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group. The emoluments of non-executive director and independent non-
executive directors shown above were for their services as the directors of the
Company.

Mr. Hu Hanxiang retired as a non-executive director of the Company on 31 May
2019, and Mr. Chen Riyue appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on
31 May 2019. Mr. Wu Youjun and Mr. Zhu Hongwei resigned as independent non-
executive directors of the Company on 31 May 2019, and Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr.
Shin Yick Fabian appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company
on 31 May 2019.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any emoluments during
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

HEREERBERERBASRRRAEERTHAR « I
RS MBEDEEMMEREETETRARRBKR - Lt
HITEECHMEEE THRAARARIRAKREEEFHMMR
%o EHMFRTEERBUINTEETZMERMHARAL
AIH AR -

EFAER T NFRA=T—BRELARINTE
T - RAREER-ZF-NFRAA=T—REERRAIFEH
TEE - RAREEERKREBEENR-_T-NAFRAA=1T—
RREARBBIIFATES  SMELEEREDEER
E-NEFAA=T - HREARRTBELIFNTES °

BE-_Z-_TFR-ZF-NFT-A=+—HBLEFER " I
EITHAAR ST EERETAE -
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14. Five Highest Paid Employees 14.
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included two directors (2019: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the
remunerations for the year of remaining three (2019: two) highest
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the
Company are as follows:

hEEEHEETL

FH AEEREEaTNEEREMEES (R
EEREITBRAR) (ZE—NF: ZZE8=(BEK%
RITHRAER)) BEMMSFBERN LXHE
13- EBR=F(ZZT—NF: MB)WIIARTE
EdmERTHRAENERTNESENMESFER
I

2020 2019
S L
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TT AR¥ETT

Salaries H4e 2,609 1,692
Performance related bonus BRI ES 1,313 910
Retirement benefits schemes R FIET B 13 15

3,935 2,617

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

P F oI R :

Number of employees

BTA#
2020 2019
523 —T-NF
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 7% 1,000,001 7T £ 7% 1,500,000 7T 1 1
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 7% 1,500,001 7T £ 7% 2,000,000 7T 2 1
3 2

During the year, no emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and other employees) were incurred as
inducement to join the Group or compensation for loss of office.

FR AEBREFMAL(BREEREMES)
3 8 AR ARV & 1 2% DDA 7K 55 1B &) 22 ) oK B B
e -
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15. Dividend 15. K&
Dividend for ordinary shareholders of the Company recognised as AREEBRED KR TARNRZ BB E ZKE
distribution during the year:
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBTT
2019 Final — RMB0.03 (2019: 2018 final —E-NFEXRH —FRARE3.005
— RMBO.10) per share (Z=2—Nn&F : ZE-N\FEXRH
— BRARE10.005 15,000 50,000

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of RMB0.03 (2019: final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 of RMBO0.03)
per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of RMB 15,000,000 (2019:
RMB15,000,000), has been proposed by the directors of the Company
and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming
general meeting.

16. Earnings Per Share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following

16.

RREERE  AAREEEZRNEE-_Z =%
E+:H£+—H¢$§$%h%ahAE%3m
—NEF: ZE-NF+ZA=+—HILF
E: AHBRBEERARKE30) AstARE
15,000,000t ( = & — L & : A R % 15,000,000
7)o MEBER R A FE fE R R IA K S HE A o

BREF
ARBEBEAREEREAREERNIZIATH
BEtE

data:
2020 2019
i —E-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT ARBFT
Earnings ZF

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the R ESREARBF NIRRT
Company for the purposes of WA AREIEFAFE

basic earnings per share

54,772 82,184

Number of shares RHEA
Number of ordinary shares for the purposes AR EERERZF®

of basic earnings per share

BB

500,000,000 500,000,000

No diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019 were presented as there were no potential ordinary shares
in issue for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

BE_T_ZER_FT-AF+-_A=+—AHL
FRERBETEEEAR #BE_T_TFR_
E-NFHA=t—HLLFE SEEIRNT
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A e BB R M R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_FF+-_A=+—HIEE

17. Property, Plant and Equipment

17. ¥ BEKRRE

ZECTEFR

Furniture Plant
Leasehold and Motor and  Construction
Buildings  improvements fixtures vehicles machinery  in progress Total
B HENEEL BARETEE RE HEREE REIR @
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
AREFT ARETT AREFTL AREFTL ARETTL ARETT AREFT
COST A
At 1 January 2019 R=EF-NE-A-H 189,010 11,309 29.883 21,116 1,119,295 11926 1,382539
Additions AE - - 715 1,080 149 86,786 88,790
Disposals irk = - (347) (1,283 (2,809 (177) (4.576)
Transfer from construction in progress HERTRER 45 - 11,295 - 4483 (56,585) -
Transfer to construction in progress BROARTR = = = = (17,659) 16,083 (1,576)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-F=1-H 189,466 11,309 41,606 20953 1,143810 58,033 1,465,177
Additions AE 164 32 1,248 870 - 137,657 13997
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEHEAT 3530 786 807 372 53421 12,706 105976
Disposals il (125) (1,620) (1,202) (1,078) (13.480) (1,369) (18,874)
Transfer from construction in progress mERTiRER 18,232 = 3240 = 173,343 (194,815) =
Transfer to construction in progress ERRHETR = = = = (45,589) 3172 (12417)
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-_ZF+-F=1-H 242,261 10,507 45,699 244 1,311,505 45,384 1,679,833
DEPRECIATION i
At 1 January 2019 R=E-NE-A-H 83,891 8,460 17,949 16,234 369,566 - 496,100
Provided for the year Efitit 9,065 1079 2174 2410 66,23 = 80964
Eliminated on disposals HERLH = = (312) (1,043) (1,793) = (3,148)
Transfer to construction in progress EEREETR = = = = (1,576) = (1,576)
Impairment loss recognised in profitorloss ~ BEEZEAHERE = = = = 54 = 544
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NET-F=1-H 9295 9539 19,811 17,601 432919 - 572,886
Provided for the year Rzt 10,983 1,090 3040 2530 73,865 - 91,508
Fiiminated on disposals HERH @) (1618) (1,118) (941) (10,063 - (13,78)
Transfer to construction in progress ERREETR = = = = (12417) = (12417)
Impairment loss recognised in profitorloss ~ EABEEZFERE - = = = 1.215 = 1,215
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-BEt-f=t-7 103,897 9011 7% 19,190 485579 - 69410
CARRYING VALUES FaE
At 31 December 2020 R-B-ZF+-F=1-H 138370 1496 23966 5281 825926 45,384 1,040423
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=1-R 96,510 1,770 21,795 3352 710,831 58,033 892,291
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

17.

18.

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value at the following rates per annum:

4.50%-18%
Qver the shorter of the term of the lease,

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Plant and machinery

or 20%-50%
11.25%-18%

18%
4.50%—18%

The buildings are situated in the PRC and are held under medium

term lease.

Details of property, plant and equipment pledged are set out in note

17. %  BERRE®)

AL BB RERE(ERZTRRIN) HB &S
KAGETERMETR - MBEAEREFT A ERFRRIET
S EE L RFHRITE

EgF 4.50%—-18%
HEmEEE FEEEMAAHRA -
3 20%-50%
KM RETEEE 11.25%—18%
E 18%
VN 4.50%-18%

BFAUNTE - UhHBELEE -

EHEIRYE - BE MR BERKIEE38

38.
Right-of-Use Assets 18. FRHEELE
Leasehold Leased Machinery
lands properties and vehicles Total
HELTH MEEE R R E et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETTT AREFIT ARETFT
As at 31 January 2020 —EBE-EHF
TZAZ+—HLEFE
Carrying Amount AREE 172,583 19,316 6,044 197,943
As at 31 December 2019 R=Z—h&E
+=—A=+—H
Carrying Amount BREE 170,504 37,321 8,369 216,194
For the year ended —ECEHE
31 December 2020 +TZA=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge FETR 5,888 12,569 2,577 21,034
For the year ended —E-hEF
31 December 2019 +TZA=+—BLEE
Depreciation charge EHE 5,732 12,097 2,377 20,206
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZTE+_A=1+—HIEE

18. Right-of-Use Assets (Continued) 18. EAEEE®)

2020 2019

—E-FF —E-NF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETFT

Expense relating to short-term leases BREPHEERY 3,636 4,933
Total cash outflow for leases HEZREeRBEF 20,787 22,724
(Disposal) additions to right-of-use assets, net FREEE(LE)RNEFE (5,023) 12,430

For both years, the Group leases various offices, warehouses,
machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 12 months to 22 years, but may have extension and
termination options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office buildings.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land
components of these owned properties are presented separately

RMEFE  AEERSELERLE HR #
frr] VTHE - HEMBEERM12EAZ 2552
B BT A] A B ERMAR LR ERE - HE
AR TDIR BRI R EER - LB B EZNTRIIER R
fERfh o FOREE AH B R AT 1N AT RUH BAMR SR R - AR
SEERGNZERREEATEANZHRE -

AN AREHEREE T REEREAEL TE
BFERAERT - AEEIILEMERER (B
HERBELH) CERHAA - BALEYEER
B —RMETAR R - BB FURES R St
DI - WEREMEZBEL A D T BT
T o

only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.
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BE_Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

18. Right-of-Use Assets (Continued) 18. EAEEE®)
The Group has extension options in a number of leases for properties AEEERTEEMFEAEEEREELKIE
but no termination opinion. These are used to maximise operational ER - ZE AN ERS B FREELSE A
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group's RS ETEEM - AT AR KRS EH S AR g i
operations. The majority of extension options held are exercisable ERAEETE  MASHBBEEAITE -
only by the Group and not by the respective lessors.
The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is AEERHERBHBTIHREEARERETFEL
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The potential HRSBIZHE - LA N AEE TS BT TERLTER
exposures to these future lease payments for extension options in BEEENELRRHEENRNEERREBENT
which the Group is not reasonably certain to exercise is summarised
below:
Lease liabilities Potential future
recognised lease payments
as at notincluded in
31 December lease liabilities
2020 (undiscounted)
REEERE
R=Z-ZF BEBERK
+T=ZA=+—H8 MHENHEE
BANHESE (REAZR)
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARETFTT
Properties LIES - 20,819
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HE_T-_THE+_A=1+—HILEE

18. Right-of-Use Assets (Continued)

The following table summarised the additional lease liabilities

recognised during the year ended 31 December 2019 as a result of

exercising extension option that the Group was not reasonably

certain to exercise:

For the year ended 31 December 2019

18. FHAEEE@®)
TREBETRE_Z—AF+-_A=+—BLIHF
ERETEREEEMEB A EEE XS BRE
TEEEINAE A E -

BE-TAE+-A=+—AILEE

Extension
option
exercisable
during the
year ended Extension
31 December option
2019 exercised
AEEZE
—T-NE
+=A=+—H
IEFEARTTRE fuasifess 2
fuasifese 7 BATE
No. of leases No. of leases
HEH=E HEHE
Properties LIES 3 -
Additional lease liabilities recognised HE_Z-NF+_A=1T—H
during the year ended 31 December 2019 LEFERERNBINEERE
(RMB'000) (AR®FIT) 18,787

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to

exercise an extension option, upon the occurrence of either a

significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is

within the control of the lessee. During the year ended 31 December

2020, there is no such triggering event.

UbAh - BB EBBAE SR EAZSSE RN ER
BAEBRELR  AEEGEHTHREAHEHME
TR EREE - BE T _EF+ A ="1—
BILFE @ BB EMmEZEMt -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE_T-_THE+_A=1+—HILEE

18. Right-of-Use Assets (Continued) 18. EAEEE®)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, lessors of various offices,
equipment and vehicles provided rent concessions to the Group
through rent reductions ranging from 1% to 100% over two to six
months.

Some of these rent concessions occurred as a direct consequence of
COVID-19 pandemic and met of all of the conditions in HKFRS
16.46B, and the Group applied the practical expedient not to assess
whether the changes constitute lease modifications. The effects on
changes in lease payments due to forgiveness or waiver by the
lessors for the relevant leases of RMB1,411,000 were recognised as
negative variable lease payments.

Some of these rent concessions were not within the scope of COVID-
19-related rent concessions. The reduction of the Group's lease
liabilities of RMB199,000 and a corresponding adjustment of the
same amount to the right-of-use assets were recognised.

To better manage the Group's capital structure and financing needs,
the Group sometimes enters into sale and leaseback arrangements
in relation to machinery leases. These legal transfer does not satisfy
the requirements of HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale of the
machinery. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has
raised RMB44,900,000 borrowings in respect of such sale and
leaseback arrangements.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
notes 29 and 40.

BHE_Z-_ZE+_-_A=1+—RBItFE  ZAHKL
= RENERNEREAANEBREEERE-_F
ANEAABHEESRIBER1%E100%6WHEEES -

EF—LHCERAFATRASRIBEENMMK
RFEE BB B BRE LR 16.46BFTHI 2 (&4
RASEEZRAMTERTFEMIETHZZE
FREAMAEEH HEAHERHEAENZE R NE
HHEENREHHTE AR 1,411,000 TEER
AATSHEENK -

ER-UEeEERTENUBERESHENES
BENEEZA - AEENEERERD T ARE
199,0007T + AR FE M0 T PR M B EE 1T T AR FE Y

B/ -

ABTEIHERAEBNEREBNBET K K
SEERERMRB ST LHERALTH - 254
FERINTE BBV BEREENS(EAKRIEE
AR BWHAE BE-_ZE-_EF+_-_A=+—01F
FE AEERBRLHERDNALTHES T ARE
44,900,000 TTHIfE 7K ©

HEaENHEERAE S TN EAE BENE29
M40 FIH
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-ZT-TFT-_A=1T—HLFE

19. Other Intangible Assets 19. HthBEEE
Development
costs
B R A A
RMB'000
ARETFT
COST R
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 RZE-NE—-HA—HB ZZ—hF
and 31 December 2020 +—A=+—BRk=FE-_ZTF+=-_A=+—H 8,563
Additions NE 4,120
At 31 December 2020 —E-EFE+-RA=+—H 12,683
AMORTISATION ey
At 1 January 2019 —ET-nF—-H—H 8,225
Charge for the year FNEHR 338
At 31 December 2019 —E-NEFE+=-B=+—8 8,563
Charge for the year FE R =
At 31 December 2020 —E-TF+-_A=+—H 8,563
CARRYING VALUES AREE
At 31 December 2020 —E-FTF+-A=+—H 4,120
At 31 December 2019 —E-hF+=-_A=+—H =
Development costs are internally generated. FREKAREANE
The above intangible asset has finite useful lives. Such intangible R\ EERNERFRAR - MABTLEERE
asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years. RROED SFHE -
20. Deposits for Acquisition of a Subsidiary 20. WK B RRE
On 10 December 2019, the Group entered into a Letter of Intent with RZF-AFTZATH  AREETABER
Jiangxi Shengjing Technology Company Limited for the acquisition BRARRIM KB THZLEERERXARAA
of 80% of equity interest in Yudu County Zhengyi Paper Products and 80% [t - WA RE—F-—NF+-ARBR=F
Paper Industry Company Limited. Deposits amounted to —NE+Z A+ =B 7 RIX AR 2,000,0007T
RMB2,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 were paid on 4 December 2019 K AKRH3,000,000T/EE - WAKBERZF
and 12 December 2019, respectively. The acquisition was completed —TEZA—BEK - WEFHITREEN 36
on 1 March 2020. Please refer to note 36 for the details of the
acquisition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

21. Inventories 21. 78
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Raw material and consumables AR S E R 119,657 110,811
Finished goods X 50,093 26,464
169,750 137,275

Details of inventories pledged are set out in note 38.

22. Trade and Other Receivables 22.

BT EHBENHIE38 -
B2 RHEMERRIER

2020 2019
—g-8 -—T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥®TT AR¥ETT

Trade receivables =) &0 513,348 431,716
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (6,728) (1,912)
506,620 429,804

Trade receivables backed by bills NEERREBE S EWFIE 372,851 298,640
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEBREE (472) -
878,999 728,444

Advances to suppliers B e IR 18,232 25,693
Prepayments SEUNE/SE 5,975 5,304
Other receivables H U GRIE 19,716 12,533
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEEREE (181) -
43,742 43,530

Total trade and other receivables B 5 R E A EW B4R EE 922,741 771,974

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, gross amount of
trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to
RMB886,199,000 and RMB730,356,000 respectively.

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 120 days from the
invoice date to its trade customers except for the customers newly
accepted of which payment is made when goods are delivered. For
customers with good credit quality, the Group also allows them to
provide bank bills before the due date of trade receivables. Those
bills have maturity ranging from 60 to 180 days guaranteed by bank.

R—_E-_EF+_A=+—Bk-_ZFT—NF+=
A=+—8 EEFHNANEKEZEREES R
A AN R # 886,199,000 7T & A R # 730,356,000 7T ©

AEEHBEZHEABHETE  nEFRFREE
0RE120ANEAH - HEAENRFERERR
MR - EREERTNER  ZEBTAE
REWRE SERZREIEE AR HRITEE - BEERE
BRHAE A 60Z 180K © HIRITIER -
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22. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

Included in the trade receivables backed by bills are amount of
RMB172,121,000 (2019: RMB100,303,000) backed by bank bills.

As at 31 December 2020, total bills received amounting to
RMB372,851,000 (31 December 2019: RMB298,640,000) are held by
the Group for future settlement of trade receivables, of which certain
bills were further discounted/endorsed by the Group. The Group
continues to recognise their full carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period and details are disclosed in note 23. All bills
received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than one
year.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables not backed by
bank bills presented based on dates of delivery of goods, at the end
of the reporting period:

22.

BEZRHMEWRIE®)
NEZEEAEENESIRBUREBREARE
172,121,000t (=& — 1L F : A R ¥ 100,303,000
TL) BB ERE -

MN-ZZE_THFEF+-_F=+—0  AEEBFERKLE
EZ S REBGIER KRR A% A AR 372,851,000
T(ZE—-—AF+-_A=+—H: ARK
298,640,000t ) + EHEFEE#E— AR RA
AEE - AEBERBEHAREERRELEMBERE
B FEEHNAM 23 NREFKBINAEERE
MEHBAHY TR —F o

FIENBEMRERERBXARLEEZTIN
H S REFB TR RITRBEITORED

2020 2019

t e 222 —ZE-NEF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETFT

0-60 days 0-60 days 409,324 307,211
61-90 days 61-90K 42,753 40,519
91-180 days 91-180K 49,197 59,461
Over 180 days 180 KA = 5,346 22,613
506,620 429,804

The aged analysis of trade receivables backed by bank bills based on
dates of delivery of goods or recognition date of the gross trade
receivables, at the end of the reporting period are analysed as

FIEHN B E R IRIRE X B HSE 5 R UK
TRARRER A AUNRITREF 2N REEK
FRECDOMTAAT

follows:
2020 2019
—ECERH —T-NEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥®TT ARETT
0-60 days 0-60X 41,818 65,413
61-90 days 61-90K 51,869 35,514
91-180 days 91-180K 195,698 148,813
Over 180 days 180 RLA = 82,994 48,900
Total #Bat 372,379 298,640
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22.

Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
RMB97,296,000 (2019: RMB103,049,000) which are past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, RMB11,346,000 (2019:
RMB28,460,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default after taking into account the repayment
histories and financial position of debtors. For trade receivables in
which customers have provided bank bills for settlement are not
considered as past due nor in default. Other than bills received, the
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer.

As at 31 December 2020, in determining the recoverability of a trade
receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of
the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to
the reporting date. The customers with balances that are neither past
due nor impaired have good repayment histories and no impairment
is considered necessary.

Details of trade receivables and bills receivables pledged as set out
in note 38.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for
the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 40.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group discounted
bills receivable of external customers with recourse in aggregated
amounts of RMB520,743,000 (2019: RMB580,025,000) to banks for
short term financing of which the associated borrowings amounting
to RMB515,255,000 (2019: RMB572,263,000). Upon the change in
accounting policy related to the discounting of bills as mentioned in
note 2, the proceeds received from discounting of bills to banks
which do not qualify for derecognition have been included under
cash inflows under financing activities for the year ended 31
December 2020 with comparative information restated. For proceeds
received from discounting of bills to financial institutions of
customers, the relevant cash flow are presented as operating cash
flow in the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended as the management considers the cash flows are, in substance,
the receipts from trade debtors. For the non-cash settlement of
discounted bills receivables, please refer to note 41.

During the year, the Group endorsed bills receivables with recourse
in aggregated amounts of RMB26,490,000 (2019: RMB48,881,000) to
suppliers for settlement. The relevant transactions are non-cash
transactions and the effects are excluded from the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

22.

EZREMEWRRIE S
R-BE-BHE+-A=+—0 AEENBSER

BB IR AREE AR 97,296,000t (= F
— N - AR 103,049,00070) EBA - RIS
HEIE EIH] - BA R HEAE s - AR 11,346,000 7T
(ZZ—NF: AR¥28,460,00070) B #HI90 K
AL WHEERBEHRERARENEE  EEESL
REBANPBERRET AR BEL - BREPIE
HAEERITRENE SHEKGIE - TR AEHE
4o BRUIREIMZRIN  AEBIW KRR ZSEHIFTE
43RG o

HAREMHELH - ARBEFEEETPNE
REEREEREPERARE -

RZZE-TF+-_A=+—H EETEZIRKK
BHEEA TRER  AEEZEERAREERE
AREREAMHIEHHESRUFENERES
WEREE - REHAE RITERGE - WERHIT
FRE  ALSBIEEREZEE -

EHEME 5 RUGIR & B IRF B ENESS -

HE_Z_TE+_A=+t—BILEENEIR
H b fEURGRIE 2 B E R RIS S KT FE40 -

BE-_Z-ZF+_A=+—HILFEHH K&
ERTHIN RN SRREZERRERE
BEemEAARKS520,743,000 T (ZE—NF : AR
#% 580,025,000 7T) T #RITIE ARG EAim & /) BB (B B
S E B ARBES152550007C (ZEE—HF : AR
572,263,0007T) ° A0 sE2 Fral - =R ELIR A
WERTECRBEEEbE  RERMBATHARIL
ERIEHENRTHRREFABE ST+ =
A=+ HLFERETHNRSHAT » WEE
IR E R - SRR BIRIIRA R F S B EeT
EErlzs  HERSREEAHRSTERF U
KEBRERENFERIT  TEZFELRER
B AAEEERARCTEEE LRREESRE
WAR - AR EREEAIRAIERSEE - F2 AW
FE41 o

FR - AEEREEFUNSERENE SERIK
TR e S M AR 26,490,000 (ZE— 1 A
R 48,881,000 7T) tE A& M 750% - HEERZ 5 A3
ReRG  HEYETBRREREGEESRERT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

BHE_ T -_TF+_A=1t—HIFE
23. Transfers of Financial Assets 23. HESEMEE
The following were the Group's bills receivables as at 31 December JNENR —_E—_TEFER _FT—NFE+=-_A=1+—8
2020 and 2019 that were transferred to banks, financial institutions or NREBSRHEENEKREZEEZEEIEMBRESE
suppliers by discounting or endorsing on a full recourse basis. As the BRIRS S EE EINRIBMER TIRT - SR
Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating to S FER - AMNANEEBYEEREZEZRINEIE R
these receivables, it continues to recognise the full carrying amount AR E KR K BlTR - He R el el sIE
of the receivables and the related trade payables and has recognised FEREME © WEBRER HIRT RSB NN
the cash received from banks and financial institutions on the transfer REEABEEES (R KzE28) °
as a secured borrowings (see note 28).
Bills receivables of external customers are carried at amortised cost. INEREE R M FEUR ZIR IR AN S - NEFENIPESE
Bills receivables arising from intra-group transactions in which the WEWEELS  EAEEETENEZEC IR
relevant group entities discounted or transferred the bills to banks, EIZEIRIT SRESEER  EREERE
financial institutions or suppliers, such bills receivables and related FAEERNIBENFEEEAEBNLEGSTER
intra-group payables have been eliminated in the Group's RAELY o
consolidated statement of financial position.
Bills Bills
receivables receivables
discounted to endorsed to
banks with suppliers with
full recourse full recourse Total
ZHEBREZ
EHEREZ eEE%
EWEEIR R HERRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR%T T AR%T T
Carrying amount of bills receivables FEUEEREE 395,378 9,873 405,251
— external customers — HMEDRE R 263,154 9,873 273,027
— intra-group customers — EERNTEE 132,224 - 132,224
Carrying amount of trade payables Z Z RN FIAREE - (9,873) (9.873)
Carrying amount of bank and HRIT R E M fEFREREE
other borrowings (395,378) - (395,378)
Bills Bills
receivables receivables
discounted to endorsed to
banks with  suppliers with
full recourse full recourse Total
FHEBREZ
ZHBREY EEER
FEUS B3R R E HEPNEE 5T
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREET T AREETFTT AREF T
Carrying amount of bills receivables FEWEIRREE 296,278 10,482 306,760
— external customers — SNERRE R 213,978 10,482 224,460
— intra-group customers — EENHER 82,300 = 82,300
Carrying amount of trade payables B BN FEEmE = (10,482) (10,482)
Carrying amount of bank and RIT R E M SRR E
other borrowings (296,278) = (296,278)
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24. Contract Assets 24, EHEE
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
—EEF —E-hE
+=H=+—H +t=ZRA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREBTT
Made-to-order paper-based packaging products &R BEEEMNAEBDEE R 18,628 16,957
Current =9:0] 18,628 16,957

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group's future performance. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

Contract assets, that are not expected to be settled within the
Group's normal operating cycle, are classified as current and non-
current based on expected settlement dates.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
assets recognised are as follows:

The Group typically does not requires a deposit on acceptance of
order. The consideration is payable on the earlier of the delivery and
acceptance of the finished goods by customers or notice from the
customer to cancel the order. If the customer cancels the order then
the Group is entitled to receive payment for work done to date
pursuant to legal and regulatory environment in the PRC. The Group
typically issue bills to customers when the finished goods are
delivered to customers and acknowledged by customers. The credit
term is ranging from 30 to 120 days.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 40.

EHNEEFTEHARERZRTHKMIERT 2R
B ARAZSEFNUREBARRERRAGE - &
BERKABEGER  GHEEEBREZE FEKK
18 o

EHNEERMTEEASENER 2 EBHAE
5 SRENAEEAMOBRAREBEIERD

FECHERAWEESHRNARNRIERIT

AEEBRFEZERTERERGS - AEBEER
PR Z R M2 B3R F BUH ] B A 3@ A
XAt o RBEFHUEETE - RSB B #EREPH
R MEERBEWEES B IEATFEK TER R
H e BRMRAGBRREEISHELHRAR » A%
ERpEemEF RS - ERHANEI120K -

RERHEF IS E M40 -
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25. Pledged Bank Deposits and Bank Balances and 25. EEABRTERRBRITERRRS
Cash
Bank balances carry interest at market rates within range from 0.01%
to 0.35% (2019: 0.01% to 0.35%) per annum. The pledged deposits T—hF: 0,01%10.35%) 2 AR 17 2 A
carry interest rates which range from 0.3% to 1.65% (2019: 0.3% to AENF030%E1.65%( —F— LF : 030% =
1.65%) per annum. 1.65%) °

RITEHHEMSFEFEN F001%20.35% (=

BEEIRIRIT R FRITOER » SERRAR
SEFERITHE - BEARE 106,401,0007T (=
T—hFE+-A=+—H: AR¥139,904,0007T)
NEXAEAR=ZZEARNEENRITERNE
NEBELER A2 EARBEE - BIEAER
I RS EEERBRITE KA R o

Pledged bank deposits represent deposit pledged to banks to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting
to RMB106,401,000 (31 December 2019: RMB139,904,000) have been
pledged to secure the short-term bank borrowings and bills payables
repayable within three to six months and are therefore classified as
current assets. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the
settlement of relevant bank borrowings.

26. Trade and Other Payables 26. EZRHEMENRIE
2020 2019
t e 222 —NF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETFT
Trade payables B S e IE 139,194 156,003
Bills payables — secured BAEE — Gk 15,829 68,572
Other tax payables (note) H B8 (M%) 37,893 30,800
Payroll and welfare payables FE 5 K p ) B 35,919 30,901
Construction payables B TR2FR08 4,341 3,918
Others HAit 26,271 17,386
259,447 307,580

Note: Included in other tax payables is RMB36,078,000 (2019: RMB28,880,000)

provision of value-added tax.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the dates of receipt of goods at the end of the reporting period.

BRE - ELft fE A B0 2R AP A 32 (E T B A 15 A R K 36,078,000 7T

(ZZ—14F : AR¥28,880,0007T) °

HINNMEMRIZREREMAH2INOE 5

NRIAREE DT

2020 2019

—g-8f —T %

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®T T

0-60 days 0-60X 117,537 131,759
61-90 days 61-90K 5,040 11,822
91-180 days 91-180 K 8,456 4,181

Over 180 days 180 RLA 8,161 8,241
139,194 156,003
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26. Trade and Other Payables (Continued) 26.
The aged analysis of bills payables based on the dates of receipt of
goods at the end of the reporting period are analysed as follows:

B 5 R H AR RE @
51854 $R 25 H K 4R PR R IR B A 2. 51 0 R
R ITIT :

2020 2019
—g-%F —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARET T

0-60 days 0-60K 5,416 20,538
61-90 days 61-90K 6,741 13,744
91-180 days 91-180:K 3,672 34,290

15,829 68,572

The credit period on purchase of material is 30 to 120 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to monitor the

BEMBNTHERENF0E 120K « REER
B BRE R ERBRAEZEESR -

settlement.
27. Consideration Payables 27. BRRERE
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREEF T
Non-current IETm B 10,875 =
Current i} 11,956 -
22,831 -

On 1 March 2020, the Group acquired 80% equity interest in Yudu
County Zhengyi Paper Products and Paper Industry Company Limited
("Zhengyi") for an aggregate consideration of RMB47,200,000 plus
contingent consideration. Deposits in the aggregate amount of
RMB16,000,000 and cash consideration of RMB13,800,000 was paid
on or prior to the completion. For the remaining cash considerations
of RMB6,200,000, RMB7,840,000, RMB1,670,000 and RMB1,670,000
should be paid in September 2020, March 2021, March 2022 and
March 2023 respectively. Regarding the contingent consideration
arrangement, the Group is required to pay additional amounts of
RMB4,270,000, RMB4,270,000 and RMB4,260,000 at 30 June 2021,
2022 and 2023 respectively if Zhengyi's profit after tax in each of the
calendar years 2020, 2021 and 2022 exceeds RMB3,000,000,
RMB4,000,000 and RMB5,000,000 respectively.

The present value of the discounted considerations amounted to
RMB27,829,000 was accounted for by the Group with discount rate of
5.23% as consideration payables at initial recognition. For detail of
the acquisition please refer to note 36.

R-Z-_TF=ZA—H AEENERBARE
47,200,000 7T B N AR B UL EE T &SR EEK R K&
%&%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ(fﬁﬁéjmo%s@%%oK\\%ﬁ}‘zﬁéa
2 AIE iR $ 425 A R 16,000,000 7T &35 &
K& /\Ef#maoooow@ BTITRERBARE
6,200,0007C © A K #7,860,0007T A E #
1,670,000 7T F1 A R #1,670,000 TED RN = =
TFNA ZTEZ—F=R ZTZ_F=RAM=
T_=F= HsEH MBEBRREELY:  WELE
BEZ-_ZF —ZT_—FN_Z_—_F8M[EA
BERNHEF B %IJta@AEﬁ%ooo,oooﬁ N
R ¥ 4,000,000 7T A1 A R # 5,000,000 7T * AEEFH
KT -——FA=+H —ZE-—FM=_FT==
FRA=ZTHD R ARK4,270,0007T « AR
#5 4,270,000 T A A R #5 4,260,000 TT K EEINE &8 ©

B EHNIRER AR 27,829,0007T * RAEH
hA T SRR ARE IR % 5.23% 51| RIENREKIE - B
BB AES - F2RME3S -
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28. Bank and Other Borrowings

28. RITREMER

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-A%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
Secured BHEMA 764,583 670,113
Unsecured it 83,493 51,820
848,076 721,933
Carrying amount repayable: AR AT EIEE RS REE -
Within one year —F R 833,826 688,683
Within in a period of more than one year —F A BT EBME
but not exceeding two years 14,250 19,000
Within in a period of more than two years MELA LB R A F
but not exceeding five years - 14,250
848,076 721,933
Carrying amount of bank loans that contain a BiEpSEER—FENEER
repayment on demand repayable: RITIEREREE
Within one year —F R - =
848,076 721,933
Less: Amounts due within one year shown B HERSEB TN —FAEBERE
under current liabilities (833,826) (688,683)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities IEREBEENZEERE 14,250 33,250
The Group's borrowings that are denominated in the following REFUABELEY L EE IS ENER
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant entities HHN T -
are set out below:
2020 2019
b 322 —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFT
HKD BIT 47,324 51,820
Bank borrowings as at year end were secured by the pledge of assets FANHIEE 38 A - FERIRITEZ A BEEBIER
as set out in note 38. o
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28.

Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued) 28.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are as follows:

HBITREMERE)
AEMEENERFEZMESAETHRE)
RBEMT :
2020 2019
—EB-BfF —T—hE

Effective interest rate:

BRI =

Fixed rate borrowings 2.66% to 7.20% per annum
FRER FFE2.66%E7.20%
Variable rate borrowings 2.30% to 3.40% per annum
FRER FFE2.30% £ 3.40%

At 31 December 2020, variable-rate bank borrowings are amounting
to RMB47,325,000 (2019: RMB289,471,000). The borrowings are
arranged at the interest rate based on benchmark interest rate from
HIBOR (“Benchmark Rate”) plus, if applicable, a premium and
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. At 31 December
2020, fixed rate bank borrowings are amounting to RMB922,719,000
(2019: RMB521,267,000).

As at 31 December 2020, secured bank borrowings include the
discounting of (i) bills receivables from external trade customers
amounting to RMB141,186,000 (2019: RMB125,173,000), and (ii) intra-
group bills receivables amounting to RMB132,224,000 (2019:
RMB82,300,000), to banks with recourse.

2.50% to 5.44% per annum
FHIE 2.50% & 5.44%
3.85% to 5.66% per annum
FHI 3.85% & 5.66%

RZZE_TF+-A=+—H8  BITFZEERELHE
B ARBA7325000( T —NLE: ARK
289,471,0007T) ° fEEF R T EF B ARRITLHE
REEFF R ([BEFRE]) - 0L (@Ea) -
BERSAEEEBRESRENERAR N2
—NE+ZA=+—08 RITTEEREEAAR
#922,719,000 7T ( =T — 1.4 : AR 521,267,000
JL) °

RZZE_ZTF+=-A=+—H BERRTEAREE
AR A RIFRITEERENINEESRPEKRE
BESEAARE141,18600 T (ZE—NF : AR
#5125,173,00070) » R (i) D HEEKZIELEE A
AR #13222400( =T — L FE: ARK
82,300,000 7T) °
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28. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

28. SRITREMMERE)

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET AREBT T
Secured (note 1) EHEM (PHEET) 253,127 132,899
Unsecured (note 2) MR (FTE2) 10,140 18,480
263,267 151,379
Carrying amount repayable: AR TEBEENEREME
Within one year —F R 191,513 127,910
Within a period of more than one year —F A EETBBME
but not exceeding two years 54,041 16,576
Within a period of more than two years M LA EE TR A F
but not exceeding five years 17,713 6,893
263,267 151,379
Less: Amount due within one year shown B AERBAE T 2 —FRERRE
under current liabilities (191,513) (127,910)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities FERBBEB TN ZEBENIE 71,754 23,469
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28. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

Notes:

M

In 2017, the Group entered into agreements (the “Agreements A") with a
PRC financial institution (“Financial Institution A") whereby the Group drew
down RMB43,599,000 from the Financial Institution A (included in other
borrowings) which are to be repayable within 3 years from the date of draw
down at variable rates based on Benchmark Rate plus a premium. The
effective interest rate of the borrowings as at 31 December 2020 are 9.24%
(2019: 9.24%).

In 2019, the Group entered into agreements (the “Agreements B”) with a
PRC financial institution (“Financial Institution B") whereby the Group drew
down RMB44,900,000 from the Financial Institution B (included in other
borrowings) which are to be repayable within 3 years from the date of draw
down at variable rates based on Benchmark Rate plus a premium. The
effective interest rate of the borrowings as at 31 December 2020 are ranging
from 11.71% to 11.72% (2019: ranging from11.71% to 11.72%).

In 2020, the Group entered into agreements (the “Agreements C") with PRC
financial institutions (“Financial Institutions C") whereby the Group drew
down RMB137,757,000 from the Financial Institution B (included in other
borrowings) which are to be repayable within 3 years from the date of draw
down at variable rates based on Benchmark Rate plus a premium. The
effective interest rate of the borrowings as at 31 December 2020 are ranging
from 9.60% to 10.24%.

As collaterals for the above financing, the Group transferred the ownership
title of the related machineries to the Financial Institution A, Financial

Institution B and Financial Institution C.

Except for the other borrowings related to Agreements A, Agreements B
and Agreements C, as at 31 December 2020, secured other borrowings also
include the discounting of other bills receivables from external trade
customers amounting to RMB122,967,000 (2019: RMB88,805,000) to financial

institutes with recourse.

Upon discharging all the Group’s obligations under the Agreements A,
Agreements B and Agreements C, the Financial Institution A, Financial
Institution B and Financial Institution C will return the ownership title of the
machineries to the Group for nominal amount of RMB100. Despite the
Agreements involve a legal form of a lease, the Group accounted for the
Agreements A, Agreements B and Agreements C, as collateralised
borrowings at amortised cost using effective interest method in accordance
with the actual substance of the Agreements A, Agreements B and

Agreements C.

Loans of RMB10,140,000 (2019: RMB18,480,000) are included in other
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position at 31
December 2020, which are obtained from two companies (2019: two
companies) controlled by a non-controlling equity owner of a subsidiary. The
loans are arranged as entrusted loans through banks, which are to be
repayable within one year at fixed interest rate of 3.50% per annum (2019:
3.50%). During the year, loans of RMB8,340,000 has been repaid and the
repayment of remaining loans amount of RMB10,140,000 has been extended
for one year with interest rate remained at 3.50% per annum.

28. BITR

GEX

M

Hfth & 7K (40)

RET—+F  AEERE—FESREE (SR
HER DT ((HER]) - Bt AR EAASE
ETE%@%%@%WAE%@S%%Mﬂ%W@%
HibfER) Mz E=FRNEE R=2T= T¢
+_ﬂ:+fﬁ~ﬁﬂﬁﬂig_gﬁﬂi piki=Es)
FIE9.24% (ZT—NEF : 9.24%) 51 &

RZT—NGF  AEERE—RHESREE (2R
BBz DT ((HEZ ) Bt AR EAASE
E ] A & B 2 FEELA R 44,900,000 ST & H (B 1E
HMER)  MZzESBE=—FRNEE R_T_TF
+ZA=+—8 " HFB R FEEEFRNEES
ENFNTIBENT2%(ZE—NE  NFENTIRE
11.72%) 18 »

R-ZE-ZTF  ALERE-—HTESHEE (SR
BER )T ((HBER D) Bt KRB EALRE

E n] B < B S R EELA R ¥ 137,7570,000 TTfg 51 (2
FEHAMER)  MEZEASBE=FAEE R=_T=F
F+ZA=+—8 EFENRZEEERNENEE
BENTF9.60% E10.24%1H ©

ERLAREZER  AEEEKERESR  EFE
EETZERBET SRERBIREREER -

%:§:§¢+:ﬂ:+*ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ'%%z
iR A B E e RN - AR EMETE
%%%Eﬁ%%%%ﬁ%ﬁ@%ﬁ%%%ﬁAE%
122,967,0007T (ZE—h4F : AR¥88,8050007T)E
BEREN D RS

RIRFAKBERGET - BRAZRBHARATHBERE
% CRBET SERBLRSBERBAMEERS
EEARBI00THZ KB EGERETAEHE -

BEBBAEET LT ZHE  AKETNZHH
F R LkBEREEARNR - EAERMEER/

A ek £ R iRk O fF B SE A AR RO IR G B SR A
BE o

TERER R M B A R JE I fl A AFTIERI M RNR A
A (ZZE—NF : MERAR)H Aﬁmm1mommn,
T—HE : ARM18,480,0007T) ERBEHR =
TE+Z H:+fEhD%%#&%¢mﬁm%ﬁ
m ZERERARITLHNEAER  MZEXHE
%fimuliiﬂ%3m%tffn¢-%mw@
E - REANDEEEKS,340,0007T ' B TERARKE
1ommmmnekﬁ F - HFFEIEET 5 3.50% °
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29. Lease Liabilities

29. HE&SE

2020 2019
S L
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TT ARETT

Lease liabilities payable: EREERE -
Within one year —F R 14,226 17,277
Within a period of more than one year —F A BT BEMRF
but not more than two years 13,122 16,495
Within a period of more than two years MFEIA FETBETF
but not more than five years 8,176 16,193
Within a period of more than five years AFLAE 9,700 15,719
45,224 65,684
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months & : mEABE#ARET —_EAR
shown under current liabilities FE(EEFRIA (14,226) (17,277)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ImBEERERE T =EA®%
shown under non-current liabilities JE(EE A 30,998 48,407
Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other than the T 5|2 AR @B AT S LA SN S TG
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below: S AE
HKD
BT
RMB’000
ARBFT
As at 31 December 2020 RZE-_ZTF+-_A=+—H 518
As at 31 December 2019 E—NFE+=-_A=1+—8H 663
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30. Contract Liabilities

2020 2019

ft e 222 —ZE-NEF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETFT

Corrugated medium paper products B AR 3,583 2,215
Current =3 3,583 2,215

As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to RMB2,644,000. AHBBEBR-_S—NhE—A—BHNEEAEAREK

2,644,000 7T, °

The amount of contract liabilities includes the revenue to be

ARNAESRERFERWANMBBEER - 640

recognised and the related value-added tax. The contract liabilities
balance varies in accordance with the number of contracts
outstanding at the end of reporting period. The following table
shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current year
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

BEHRERERSPRRTKNERBEMEL
TRBETTAFERRBNBATESVEEES
HMEERR URENFBRERRENENEEES
KB -

Corrugated
medium paper
products
B SEER
RMB'000
AREBFT
For the year ended 31 December 2020 —ECEF+_A=1+—HILEE
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract FUEERBEEERABKANSE
liability balance at the beginning of the year 1,960
For the year ended 31 December 2019 —E-NAF+ZA=1+—HILFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract FUEHRBEEAREBAKRANTR
liability balance at the beginning of the year 2,340

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

The Group requires a deposit on acceptance of orders from some of
the customers. When the Group receives a deposit before the
delivery of corrugated medium paper products, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit.

FEOHERANABSRNARNRERET

AEBEREZBAORFPHNAERIGIE - EAK
BEZXMNEBECRERFKETEHE - EREAK
FIERELSNRE  BEEFMA OERNKAR
BEREBESIL
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31. Amounts Due to Directors
The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

32. Deferred Taxation
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

31. EREERIE

RNEREFAREER  2EREEREE -

32. EERE

RIE2F 2R ETEERREERBRERES
MBRRARAE I - BIEMBE2R A - BEHIA

REBAITIT

2020 2019

—E-EF —T-NF

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREFIT

Deferred tax assets RIEFRTEE E (7,265) (6,475)
Deferred tax liabilities FEEIBEE 6,787 5,629
(478) (846)

The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised

UNTRRAFERBAFETIECHABELHRA

and movements thereon during the current and prior years: (BE) / ABEREE
Impairment
Impairment Undistributed on property,
Right of Lease Contract ~ Provision ~ Deferred on Depreciation profit of Unused Other  plant and
useassets liabilities assets  for inventory income  receivables differences subsidiaries taxloss  payables  equipment Total
KEAR B it 9% HE
fRERE HERE  GKRE  FHER  BERA RUGOEHE  FEZE TUAREA  REER  BARE RRERE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARMTT ARETn ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  AR¥Tn  ARETR
At January 2019 R-Z-nE-F-A W oo 0% () o) 5 78 - - - 345
(Credi) charge forthe year ~ A(EE)FHR (1.426) 1274 (154 (2 (197) © (166 (1,784 - - - 4301)
At 1 January 2020 R=E-%%-A-A 8177 (8,329) 510 (1,986) (5,839) (287) 1,408 5,500 - - - (846)
Acquisition of a subsidiary N AR 288 - - - - (59) 2,000 - (2.949) (82) - (802)
(Creit) charge for the year ER(EH)HE (1,190) 1,028 9 (33) 285 (683) n 310 2,029 n (183) 1,850
Effect of change of tax rate hxgloze - - - - - - - (680) - - - (680)
At 31 December 2020 RZEZ%F
+-A=1-A 1215 (7,301) 589 2,019 (5,554) (1,029) 3419 5190 (920) (5) (183) (478)
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BE_T_TFT_A=1+—HILFE

32. Deferred Taxation (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of RMB10,686,000 (2019: RMB3,789,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the unused tax losses of RMB4,556,000 (2019: RMB3,789,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The unrecognised tax
losses at the end of reporting period will be expired in the following

32. EEHRIE )

FUFRERRA - AEEARBAHBEBEAARE
10,686,00070 (= F — L4 : AR #3,789,0007T )
B AT AR SE AR SR A o ARESATERIE R R A
FMEF AFEERBEERNRERBARE
4,556,000t (ZZF— N4 : AR¥3,789,0007T) °

R EARARERTISBIEGEATFEE

years: By
2020 2019
t e 222 —ZE-NEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETFT
2024 — T pO4F 2,570 3,789
2025 —E-RF 1,986 -
4,556 3,789

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of RMB9,758,000 (2019: RMB4,050,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

Under the EIT law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on 10% of
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of the
PRC subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised was approximately RMB591,369,000 (2019:
RMB588,783,000). No deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in
respect of these difference because the Group is in a position to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that such difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

FERRERR  AEENTENERTEEZEERAR
#£9,758,0007C (= — N5 : AK¥4,050,0007T) ©
A AT E B = RR A] LA E SRR
FRADE - AL AREREZ AR NE R =R G0
REERI TR A E o

FREMCEMEFARE - B ENE AR ATHREUG
MABRMREEWE S 2 T RAEHTE B =TT
NE—A—BRERHARERETHIEB &M
BARKRDREBFHELRERE  aHNABARK
591,369,000 7t ( =& — h.4F : A R 588,783,000
JC) c R AS B REIEHIE R =B EE - B
ZEEEAARBRATREET SRR - I ERZE
ERERELERIERE -

future.
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BE-F-FFI-A=1 BLFE

33. Share Capital 33. k&
Number Nominal
of shares value
BB FHE
HK$
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BREE0.10B T EBAX
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019, R-ZZE—hh—A—H  ZE—h&F
and 31 December 2020 +ZRA=+—BR=-ZE_EF
+=—B=+—H 1,000,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019, RZZE-—N—A—B ZZ—h#&
and 31 December 2020 +ZA=+—HR=ZZE-ZF
+=-—A=+— 500,000,000 50,000,000
RMB'000
AREEF T
Presented as at 31 December 2019 and 2020 2 AN —TE—HhER-_TE-TE
+—A=+—H 41,655

There were no changes in the Company'’s authorised, issued and fully
paid share capital during the both years.

WA - ARTMEE - ERTRBERALE
B -

34. Retirement Benefits Schemes 34. EARBERIFHE
The Group operates a mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all AEBAFMEEBAEREEMABTESE - &
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are Beitdlc EERAEB 2 EENH - BIEEAE
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control W EEHE - AEERESDRBBEASH 5%
of a trustee. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to megEestEETR  BEERAREEE H1,50087T
the scheme, which contribution is matched by employees but subject (ZZ—14F : 1,50087T) ©
to a maximum amount of HK$1,500 per month (2019: HK$1,500 per
month) for each employee.
The employees of the Company's subsidiaries established in the PRC AR R BB A R 2 & 835 & B A E I8
are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated ZBEZERRBRFEIZKE - MBARARESS
by the PRC government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute S&ETEOLRRRBNG S HFAETEEE
certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefits F o REBEERAREFGFE 2 T2 E—BEERBIR
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with ZErEER B e -
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specific
contributions.
The total cost charged to income of RMB4,322,000 (2019: P W BR HI B 9 BB R 49 A R 54,322,000 7 (=&
RMB15,861,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes —NF : AR¥15,861,0007T) JhX R AE B R A
by the Group in respect of the current accounting period. St HM DA BB AN R AR o
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35.

36.

Deferred Income

In 2020, the Group received government subsidies of RMB2,200,000
(2019: RMB16,501,000) for the cost of constructions of its paper-
based package and corrugated medium paper plant and the
replacement of machineries. The amounts were treated as deferred
income at 31 December 2020 and 2019. The amounts are transferred
to income over the useful lives of the relevant assets and the amounts
transferred to income during the current year is RMB4,100,000 (2019:
RMB3,325,000). As at 31 December 2020, an amount of
RMB37,018,000 (2019: RMB38,918,000) remains to be amortised.

Acquisition of Subsidiary

On 10 December 2019, the Group entered into a Letter of Intent with
Jiangxi Shengjing Technology Company Limited (“Jiangxi
Shengjing”) for the acquisition of 80% of equity interest in Zhengyi.
Deposits totalling amounted to RMB5,000,000 were paid in 2019. On
3 January 2020, the Group entered into an equity acquisition
agreement (“Agreement”) with Jiangxi Shengjing regarding the
acquisition of 80% equity interest in Zhengyi for an aggregate
consideration of RMB47,200,000 plus contingent consideration.

According to the Agreement, the Group is required to pay an
aggregate deposit of RMB16,000,000 inclusive of the deposit of
RMB5,000,000 paid in 2019, and cash consideration of
RMB 13,800,000 should be paid on completion. For the remaining
consideration of RMB6,200,000, RMB7,860,000, RMB 1,670,000 and
RMB1,670,000 should be paid in September 2020, March 2021, March
2022 and March 2023 respectively. Regarding the contingent
consideration arrangement, the Group is required to pay additional
amounts of RMB4,270,000, RMB4,270,000 and RMB4,260,000 at 30
June 2021, 2022 and 2023 respectively if Zhengyi's profit after tax in
each of the calendar years 2020, 2021 and 2022 exceeds
RMB3,000,000, RMB4,000,000 and RMB5,000,000 respectively.

The acquisition was completed on 1 March 2020. Zhengyi is
principally engaged in the corrugated medium paper making
business and was acquired with the objective of improving the
Group's sales and production. The acquisition has been accounted
for as acquisition of business using the acquisition method.

35.

36.

IEIE U A
RZZBZZF - AEBEUREEREEEEREFN
RS R SRR AN RS B R BUTHIRE - €A A
2 200,0007T (=& — 114 : AR¥ 16,501,000
) WS HE—ZT-_TFR_TE-—NF+=A
=+ —HE®BRABETKRA - LSEEREEEE
FERFHRERZKA - L SERAPREEZ Bk
A £HEABAREA4100000T(ZE—LF : AR
#83,3250007T) - RZZE=_FF+_A=+—1H "
HFEHENSE A ARK37,01800T(ZF—N
F: AR¥38,918,0007T) °

W B Fft B 2 H

MNZZE—NE+=A+H AEBETHERBRE
BRAR(CIERE I WE TEZEEERSR
MEBRAAISO%BRE  WET—NEIZFFA
R#5,000000ciZ® - RZTE_TF—HA=H"
AEESTARBITREKE RS ((HE])
LAZAR (B A R ¥E 47,200,000 7T 3 hnsk A (B U B8 IE
25 80% P #E -

RIEZ B - ANEBELE H AR 16,000,000
THES  BERZZE—NEXMNNTEARE
5,000,0007T * WERTEKEZHREREARE
13,800,000 7T ° #& IR & (E AR 6,200,000 7T *
AR #7,860,0007T © AR¥E 1,670,000 A K1
1,670,000 CED RN _EFNA —FT=—
FZA B —F-AN—ZE_=F=AZf-
REBESIAHELY  WEEBRE_Z=_ZF -
=—=*—i%u_q__iﬂlaria’m&?‘rwfﬁ
BB 38 A B 3,000,000 7T A R # 4,000,000 7T A
AR#5,0000007T  AEBFELE_T=_—FA
=+R B —FN-_ZE-_=FA=1+HH5
ST AR 4,270,000 7T © A R¥E 4,270,000 7T F A
R 4,260,000 TTHYREIN G FE ©

HBRREER_FT_FTF=-HA—HxK - ERXE
RERFCRERET - YHBBARSAKEN
HEMERENKT - WEEHREERKBEARSE
U -
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36. Acquisition of Subsidiary (Continued) 36. WEBHMIE 2 R (&)
RMB’000
ARETFT
Cash paid in previous year EFEMNERE 5,000
Cash paid in current year REENERE 24,800
Deferred cash considerations (Note) EIER S KB () 16,454
46,254
Contingent consideration arrangement (Note) FARBLHE () 11,375
Total #Et 57,629
Note: RMB16,454,000 and RMB11,375,000 represent the estimated fair value of the MsE © AR ¥ 16,454,0007T & A R # 11,375,000 7T 7 Bl & I
deferred cash consideration and the obligation from the contingent TEEERENGBA AN BERIRRBLHEAALE - B
consideration arrangement respectively. The fair value of the deferred cash WMEMK  BEERERERIALTHENARBESH
consideration and contingent arrangement amounted to RMB10,963,000 and A AR #10,963,00070 & A R # 11,868,000t + W E
RMB11,868,000 respectively as at the end of the reporting period and have S ABMRERIE -
been included in consideration payables.
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised by the Group at the date NNER AEEERNNEERDHEZNBENT :
of acquisition are as follows:
RMB’000
ARBFT
Property, plant and equipment M - WE REE 105,976
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE B 802
Right of use assets EREEE 7,806
Inventories 7E 20,145
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H A FEUGRIA 4,205
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRERE 12,789
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A R RIE (27,219)
Bank borrowings RITIER (31,000)
Amount due to a non-controlling equity owner of a subsidiary FE{BIE A A IEIEHIE S A A (21,468)
72,036
The non-controlling interests (20%) in Zhengyi recognised at the RULHE B HARE R 80 IE (B IR 41 25 20%) Th &
acquisition date was measured by reference to the proportionate BHERLLOIMEEFEENLHIMNETE €585
share of recognised amounts of net assets of Zhengyi and amounted AR¥514,407,000 7T °
to RMB14,407,000.
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36. Acquisition of Subsidiary (Continued) . WEB B B X F] (50)
RMB'000
ARBFT
Consideration transferred EEENRE 57,629
Plus: non-controlling interests (20% in Zhengyi) o FERERRiER (IE182 20%) 14,407
Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired B EEREIFEESRE 72,036
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEENEE =
No goodwill arose on the acquisition of Zhengyi. s F B mEEE
RMB'000
ARBFT
Net cash inflow from acquisition WEEE LIRS RAFRE
Bank balance and cash acquired BRRITESRKR S 12,789
Consideration paid in cash NBR & MHRE (36,000)
(23,211)
Represented by: Rk
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary HE-_T-NAF+-A=+—HILHHE
during the year ended 31 December 2019 B IE BRI F58 (5,000)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary HE_Z-_TF+-_A=+—HILHEH
during the year ended 31 December 2020 W IEERIR S/ F 58 (18,211)

Included in the profit for the year is RMB14,858,000 attributable to
the additional business generated by Zhengyi. Revenue for the year
includes RMB189,352,000 generated from Zhengyi.

Had the acquisition of Zhengyi been completed on 1 January 2020,
revenue for the year of the Group from continuing operations would
have been RMB2,509,570,000, and profit for the year from continuing
operations would have been RMB62,073,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been
completed on 1 January 2020, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group had
Zhengyi been acquired at the beginning of the current year, the
directors of the Company calculated depreciation and amortisation
of property, plant and equipment based on the recognised amounts
of property, plant and equipment at the date of the acquisition.

BEAFENGANEERERELMMERE
IEEDRT - SRR/ ARK14,858,0007T ° RFEEE
EHERELNPMABARE189,352,0007T °

AR—_E_TF—A—AXKWEBER  AEER
N S R UR == 48 BE FE A A\ R 8 2,509,570,000 7T
MERN@ S FEE A AR 62,073,0007T ° HEE
FHEERR AR - BAMAREBREREN -
TFE—A—BERNER TEREERNKRE R
BIBEEMNEEZ  IWNRIEARREENTA -

HEBRAENUE  REEAEEDN [EZ ] K
AREHE - ERFFECWEYE - BE RRET
EMEHEER - 2ETDRBRKE AN ERYE
B B AR R 8 o
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37. Capital Commitments

37. EREE

2020 2019
et —ThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥®TT ARETT

Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of
property, plant and equipment contracted for
but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements

J:A REETHBETHER
RiFa M BRRBENEAFRX

22,484 23,275

38. Pledge of Assets

The following assets were pledged to secure certain banking and

other facilities (including property, plant and equipment under a
finance lease) granted to the Group at the end of the reporting

period:

38. EEHKH
AT RRBERRAEECEREE  FRETA
SEETROREMBENER(BEREEET
B - BB MR E)

2020 2019
—EEHF —ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBET T

Buildings and construction in progress BERERETIE 88,972 61,361
Plant and machinery BB L ies 134,813 134,378
Land use rights + b {sE R AE 109,267 106,269
Trade receivables B 5 E IR 80,000 80,000
Bills receivables FEWZ= 263,154 213,978
Pledged bank deposits EIRRIRITIER 106,401 139,904
Inventories =7E 53,683 53,657

836,290 789,547
In addition to the pledge of assets above, bank borrowings of R st FEEERE R —TF+— 8

RMB132,224,000 (2019: RMB82,300,000) are secured by the
discounted intra-group bills receivables as at 31 December 2020.

=+—8 AT L%gﬁﬁaiﬁsﬁﬁmﬁﬁfﬁm
HE) D B R R B S 5 A AR 132,224,000 7T
(Z=—NF : AR¥82,300,0007T) °
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39. Capital Risk Management 39. EXxEkER

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes bank borrowings and other borrowings as disclosed in note
28, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of the review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associates with the capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends, new share issues as

FEEEREES  REAEENETELHNS
e BE - AN RBEHEHRBA K
BAETEHRARRIMBADS - AEHeBESE
BEAFRFTE -

AEENEABRBEER (BIEME 28 EEN
RITREMER) TGRS RBRSEEYW AR
ARBVHEA ARG R (BERD RFEE) -

ARBEEEERRTERNREE - (ERRE A —&
7 BEEBEAKAREAERERR - AEEE
REERHRERE  BBRKNRE - BITHR - A
RBETHEBREEREAERTERBEAR
o

well as the issue of the new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

40. Financial Instruments 40. €T A

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBEFIT
Financial assets THEE
Amortised cost b XN 1,208,930 1,111,970
Financial liabilities THEE
Amortised cost B AN 1,314,166 1,183,618

The Group'’s major financial instruments include trade and REBNTESH TEBEZS S REMEL
FIE - BEMRITER  ROEBRRES
B 5 REMBMNKRIE - BAESFHKIE - ]R1T
R EMEF AR B E T EEARIE - BRZ
EeMITANFBEE N ERE - 8%
EemTEABENRRBEN SRR (B
EAERR)  EREREEBESRER -
T X EHI AP R 2 F RO - BEE
SEEREEZERR - UEREF - B
HEREUEE 185 o

other receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, amounts due to directors, bank
and other borrowings, lease liabilities and obligation under a
finance lease. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Market risk
The Group's activities expose primarily to the market risks of

changes in interest rates and currency rates.

There has been no significant change to the Group's exposure

to market risks or the manner in which it manages and

measures the risk.

0]

Currency risk
The Group collects most of its revenue and incurs most
of the expenditures in RMB.

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated
in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arises. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposures and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets (mainly including bank
balances and cash, pledged bank deposits and trade and
other receivables) and monetary liabilities (mainly
including trade and other payable and bank borrowings)
at the reporting date are as follows:

40. €@ T

I=NE))

=\

B AR
EE N ERRENERIEEERD
IS -

EEMEZOTEARALEE R EXEA
BT R EEARE -

EMER
S B M)A S A R B A R
HHE -

AEBETETUINEFENRS -
B 1t 7 2 B R B LB o A SR B3R B
WEINELIRBER - A - BREE
BINERBRINETZREE B L
BEARINERK

SENHEARUIINEHENEREE
E(EXZeRRTEHERES  CER
RITFEFIARE 5 R EAEKFHIR) Kk
R (TZRRE S REMBBEMNK
LA RARTHE ) BREEN T

2020 2019
—EEF —T—NF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Assets BE
usbD =TT 177 638
HKD BT 7,470 12,860
JPY AT - 83
GBP HEE 10 =
Liabilities af&
HKD BIT 47,843 52,443

Sensitivity analysis
The Group mainly exposes to the currency of HKD
relative to RMB.

AEERAREEEEIERZETH
[\ o
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

0]

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
10% (2019: 10%) increase and decrease in RMB against
the relevant foreign currencies. 10% represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of
the reporting period for a 10% (2019: 10%) change in
foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
trade and other payables, bank borrowings, trade and
other receivables as well as bank balances denominated
in foreign currencies. A positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit and other equity where the
RMB strengthens 10% (2019: 10%) against the relevant
currency. For a 10% weakening of RMB against the
relevant currency, they would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and other equity and balances
below would be negative.

40. €@ T

k)

(i)

B (&)

SR/

BB (48)
EEER ()
TR AE B AR S ABBEINE
P = 1% A0 K D 10% ( — T — A4
10%) FIBURASE < 10% BARBEEE
BEABRENIINERR - WRE
EREHERNAIBAREEB TG
BREDIMERERITENINESTE
EBIEE  TRRERAARFAZRELN G
JA 2 BR B R 910%( — & — L
10%) B &) - GRRE DT BEIEAEEST
ERITEERIRITE S - EERB
TR G0 - Ep AR S S
BEFER FF10%(ZZF—HE : 10%) °
fid A R B X 48 B8 S #& B (B K% 55
10% + B BRAT& A G RASZH AT

=44
R °

EXEBEBZERERAR

2020 2019
-5 —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARETT
usb ==
Profit or loss M S e 1R (16) (84)
HKD BT
Profit or loss vl it 3,336 3,279
JPY Hit
Profit or loss gl St} - 8)
GBP TR
Profit or loss S E 1R (1) =
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued) 40. €T H(®)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on bank deposits, and bank and other borrowings which
carry at prevailing deposit interest rates and variable rate
based on the interest rates quoted by the People’s Bank
of China respectively.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to its fixed rate pledged bank deposits, bank and other
borrowings. The Group currently does not use any
interest rate hedging policy to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis on bank balances is not presented as
the management considers that the Group's exposure to
interest rate fluctuation is insignificant.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the variable-
rate bank and other borrowings at the end of the
reporting period and the stipulated change taking place
at the beginning of the financial year and held constant
throughout the year. A 100 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease for variable bank and other
borrowings are used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates in respect of bank and other
borrowings.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variable were held
constant, the Group's: post-tax profit for the year ended
31 December 2020 would have decreased/increased by
RMB1,462,000 (2019: RMB1,457,000).

mis AR (F)

(ii)

VeSS

R IRITE A R ERTT R EAR R (3%
BOEFRNXEREBETBEARRITHR
B EAENT BB MBRITH S
KR ARAEEAARBERE
M= B

AEENARENEEREIZAHE
EREEMRITER  RITREAME
Ko ARBRKILEMNBEFMITET
AA Q% EREOR RREE o AT -
BEEERARERKEEHHEKXF
KRR -

AEEARZHSBAKEHHTE
AR FERRAMERBESER

EIE—H o

HREEERRANEEAZN X RS
BB RITEBRHGRE DAL
®E7 -

THIBRE ST THRBRE HIRAF
BERTT B E A £ SRR = R B DA % B B
FERRBOREXBYRBEFE
RETEMETE - RAAMAETRE
2 A B EHA & & & AT 100
EEE (ZF—NF  SOEER) (3Li¥
BROTEEMERMS) KEE - IIE
B2 AB 2 RIRHERTT R E A& A &
MR IERREEE -

i 7 & EF/ TFREI100EESE(ZF
—NF  S0EER) - MmATH H M
BRI AAEEEBEE_T_FF
T A=+ —HIEFENBRREBER
e 18 A R #1,462,0007T (=
T—hF : ARK1,457,0007T) °
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amounts of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets except that the credit risks associated with
trade receivables is partially mitigated because settlement of
certain trade receivables are backed by bank bills issued by
reputable financial institutions.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit assessment system
to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed regularly. The Group may require a deposit to be
received from certain customers of corrugated medium paper
products before acceptance of orders. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model upon application of
HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or based on provision
matrix. Customers are assessed for ECL by categorising into
receivables fully backed by bank bills and not backed by bank
bills. Debtors with trade receivables backed by bank bills are
assessed individually taking into consideration of the credit
rating and reputation of the banks issuing the bills. The Group
assessed the ECL on trade receivables not backed by bank bills
and contract assets individually for debtors and contract assets
with significant balance and/or collectively based on provision
matrix with appropriate groupings based primarily on the
debtors’ and contract assets’ ageing profiles.

40. €@ T A\

FERBRBERE
RZZZZEFF+_A=+—H EHEFHRK
EEETEEMEAKRBEXPBRRINEX
ERRRAEEMIEINARAMSIZIHCD
REeREENREE -

AREEY EFEEMERRIEMEEER
EEARAREEESREERBNEER
b - MEEE S EUFEAENEERRTD A
DRE  ARETURITER/RENES
FEUGRIAR S E B EE RIS RMERL -

BEFFIVAKNELNEZERABEREXN
REEREEERR  ARBEEEEERIK
EXAEEEEERBEREESEM - £ES
ERIFEP 2R AKEEBARME AT
A EERPNEREEYERTFPM
EREE THEERRANEFLHRG - &
BRATER - AREREERURBTHES
MELEFPHIRE CHEEMEER
B ARERIREVRBITEN IR @B HIETS © Ut
S AEBERER IR BB E R E Y
BREEAIRZBREREEBRREAETR
EffE - FPBBNBATEHRITERX
FEARRITRBE N RKRFETED
EREXNFE - AARTEBXFNEZE
WHRENEB AR RBETERENRITHE
R ARMEB BEITEBNG - AEEHES
AMBRNEEEBNRITEBNANEESE
BXFE P RERREOTARE R RET
TAHE - EREBATNAREEEFTEAH
A REPEREHER - TERNEBA
MEKNBEENRERETEE DA
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers (Continued)

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks/financial institutions with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other receivables are assessed individually and not included in
provision matrix. The credit quality of other receivables have
been assessed with reference to the historical information
about the past due information, default rate and the financial
position of counterparties. The directors of the Company
consider that the credit risk of other receivables is low in view
of the good collection history.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 29% (2019: 34%)
of total trade receivables represented amounts due from the
Group's largest three (2019: three) trade debtors as at 31
December 2020. The management is of the view that these
trade debtors of the Group have good trade record without
default history and consider that the trade receivable from
these customers is recoverable.

Other than those described above, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk.

40. eI A )

EERR KA E TS ()

EE YA NELN BB ERAERAK
BE ()

FORBOEEEARER BRAXSHFL
BB (2 B ST AR M A T B 5 R ST AR B 0 3R
17/ 2 RS -

HoAth & YRR A BB RHE - TRBEERAER
A - HtBRKBENEEERE2EEH
BEGR - BONERXSETFHBERRNAE
SEERETTRHE - ERRIFOBGREE - A
AREERA/EMERFENEERBREE -

R-ZE-TE+-_A=+—H A&EE=Z
ZEHBEBBA(ZE—NE : =R)HARE
EZESEBABBREIN (=T —NF:
34%) AW AEEBFEEARBRE+F B
S BEBERA  FMAEENEFHIERE
BABERITNR o8k - AERRIER -
AURBZERFERNE S EIGIER T
G0

B baES - AEEWEEAEFEERR
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts

with customers (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets and contract assets, which are subject to ECL

. EBMTHA®E

FERBRBERGE (8)
BEFFTAKELNE S RN
BE(%E)
TRHANAEESREENEERR - XA
BrERERERNMG

VIE Jo & 49

assessment:
Internal 12m
credit or lifetime
2020 Notes  rating ECL Gross carrying amount
AHEE  TEARRS
b S 253 s AR AECERR BEREE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Pledged bank deposits EHEMRITER 25 (note) 12m ECL 106,401 106,401
(B3Ei) TZEARHAEEESE
Bank balances RITE 23 (note i) 12m ECL 185,367 185,367
(B3Ei) TZEARHAEEESE
Other receivables H i IR 22 (note i) 12m ECL 19,716 19,716
(BrEii) TZEARHAEEESE
Trade receivables — 2 SN ZuE 22 (note iii) Lifetime ECL 883,873
goods and services — Em Rk R (not credit-impaired)
(Wi BEEBEEER
(FEERE)
(note iii) Credit-impaired 2,326 886,199
(Wi FERE
Contract assets BHBE 24 (note iii) Lifetime ECL
(P zEiii) (not credit-impaired) 18,628 18,628
BEEBEEER
(FEERE)
Notes: ffEE -
(i) For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group has (i) HRABEERREENS AREE2EHE
made reference to the external credit rating for its major bank ZIRITHEBH NS ETR -
balances.
(ii) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses (ii) BRAREERREERME - AEEERAHE

(iii)

past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2020, the

Group has no past due other receivables.

For trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets,
the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances amounted to RMB268,891,000 or
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on these items by

using a provision matrix as mentioned above.

BB SERRERRR2EEELM -
RZZE-ZF+-A=+—H FEETEL
HHE fth B YRR o

(i)  BERTEE/RENEZEBUKRARADE
EME  AEECRAEBWHMEERN
LAt BER G RHERERMNIERERE -
M BB KR A5 R B A9 A R 268,891,000 7T
SERRENEB AN REBMEM LR EH
R SR A WBERERER -
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued)

. EMIT A

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FERBREREFNS (8
Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts HEFITVAHELNE ZENRNEREH
with customers (Continued) BE (&)
Internal 12m
credit or lifetime
2019 Notes rating ECL Gross carrying amount
mNEEE  tZEAmKH
—NF Bfsx  ATAR HHEERR HBERE(E
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Pledged bank deposits BEMRITER 25 (note) 12m ECL 139,904 139,904
(P%ET) ToEABMEEES
Bank balances SRITHEE 25 (note i) 12m ECL 231,089 231,089
(P%ET) ToEABMEEES
Other receivables H i pE U hm 22 (note i) 12m ECL 12,533 12.533
(P=Eii) T-EABHEEES
Trade receivables — 2 5 RENE 22 (note i) Lifetime ECL 728,584
goods and services — ERERE (not credit-impaired)
(Ftsxii)  REEHEEERE
(EEERE)
(note iii) Credit-impaired 1,912 730,356
(fzriin)  FERE
Contract assets AUVBE 24 (note iii) Lifetime ECL 16,957 16,957
(not credit-impaired)
(Ftsxii)  REEHEEERE
(EEERE)
Notes: Bt
(i) For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group has i) AR EERKRERNS AEEE2ZHEE
made reference to the external credit rating for its major bank BIRITEE RN SRS EFTAR -
balances.
(if) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses (if) MANEERREEMS @ AEBFHBEE
past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased Bt E A EREEERM IS D EELN -

(iii)

significantly since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2019, the

Group has no past due other receivables.

For trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets,
the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances amounted to RMB187,993,000 or
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on these items by

using a provision matrix as mentioned above.

(iii)

R-E—NE+-A=+—0  ALELES
ER R 4t PSR o

MIERTREBERRENE SRBGRARAHNE
EME  AEEERBEBVHMEERN
A BR ETRRERBIROBRAERE -
B EABERRAEREN AR 187,993,000 7T
HEERMENBEBAIN - NERERD LR EE
FERETEE 2SI A MBEHERER -
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts

with customers (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about

specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, impairment
allowance of RMB nil (2019: reversal of RMB101,000) were
made on debtors with credit-impaired debtors and an
impairment loss of RMB4,402,000 (2019: RMB141,000) was

recognised.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified

approach.

. EBMTHA®E
FERBRBERGE (8)
BEFIIVAEKNELNEZERANBEREXN
BE(%E)

HETEAERRBEBABRRSHANESL
BERENRMGES  WREATEFHORTEE
ERETHE  BEFBEHRALTKR &
BETHESHE  UBRREFGENTEE
BARERES °

HE-_Z-_TF+-_A=1+—BItFE %
EEERBEGEBANEBAELRERER
ANRBZT(ZZE—AF: @EARE
101,000 ) REBRBAEBE R ARE
4,402,000C( Z = — N F : AR ¥ 141,000
JT) °

T%izﬁmTﬁTﬁﬁﬁTtﬁ/ﬁEﬁﬁu H)E B IR
FENREFRREEER -

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit- Total
impaired) impaired) amount
“KETEE K ETEH
FEES FEBE
(EEERE) (EERHE) BEHEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARBTTT ARBTT
As at 1 January 2019 —E—H—H = 1,872 1,872
Changes due to financial instruments  —ZF—hF— F — B #ERH
recognised as at 1 January 2019: TRT AT :
— Impairment losses recognised — BER(E#)REBE
(reversed) 141 (101) 40
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+-_A=+—H 141 1,771 1,912
Changes due to financial instruments —Z ~ T4 — 3 — H##RH
recognised as at 1 January 2020: SR T BB
— Impairment losses recognised — ERRBEEE 4,402 - 4,402
— Acquisition of a subsidiary — BB B AR 19 395 414
As at 31 December 2020 RZZEZZEF+_A=+—H 4,562 2,166 6,728
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued)

For trade receivables backed by bank bills, allowance for
impairment of RMB327,000 (2019: nil) has made since the
directors of the Company consider the probability of default
and taking into consideration of the credit rating and
reputation of the banks issuing the bills.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade
receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs
earlier. The Group has taken legal action against the debtors
to recover the amount due.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity for
its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the year
of the reporting period.

40. €@ T A\

LASRITRIE AR ENE 5 EWGIE - HiRE
BiEAARE32700T(ZE—NEF: &)
REHNEEREERENE SEWGRIE  BR
NEIZEFZERTEHNNIREETERT RE
BITIRITTOEASRMEE -

EEENBTERARNBEENNBREE
RAERBENEHAIZE  AEESHERES
R IR - flan - EEBARKBRHKEE
AWERF - REEZ KT IRR R F A
ERARBEEERE) - REESHEBA
REUERITE A MBI N SR -

EEERSESRBRE  NEBEEZERERS
EEEAR/RENRELRNECEFEY  AB
AEENLERHRES  WREKRSREKN
BHPE -  EREEERITEROEM -

TRHAVNAEESRABNENIEA - &
RDOBEAEERANRNRT A HERE R
BENARMRASRERH - LHZ 258
BRERERGRZBITERTIFARRR
B MARRITESAREBETERSEZ
R - EtTE SR B EZ AT
RIBFEE < EERHRE -

ZEROENSRASRSTE - WHEAEZ
BFI% - BIRBRSBREE BEEORH X
e
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued)

40. €T A ®)

Liquidity table REEESH
Weighted ~ On demand or Total
average less than 6 months Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 6 months to 1 year 1-5 years 5 years cash flows amounts
Rr~fER ~EA AERRS
TRz B E-F -E1f BENE kg e
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT NS NS NS NS AR®TT
2020 =
Trade and other payables BAREMEMNTE NATER 179,485 - - - 179,485 179,485
Amaunts due to directors ERESHE N/ATER 507 - - - 507 507
Bank borrowings R
—fixed rate —E8 4.25 494,045 310,226 14742 - 819,013 800,751
— variable interest rate —%8 2.35 8,971 38,941 - - 47912 47,325
Lease liabilties HERE 575 9,045 8,217 24,334 17,462 59,058 45,224
Other borrowings ittt
—fixed rate —E8 350 122,146 10319 - - 132,465 132,107
— variable interest rate —%8 10.24 34,860 34,860 76,890 - 146,610 131,160
Consideration payable ERRENE 5.23 7,860 4,210 11,870 - 24,000 22,831
856,919 406,833 127,836 17,462 1,409,050 1,359,390
2019 Z2-N0F
Trade and other payables BHREMERFE /AR 204,268 = = = 204,268 204,268
Amounts due to directors ERESZA NATER 354 = = = 354 354
Bank borrowings HiTlea
—fixed rate -8 401 257,515 152,553 37,463 - 447,531 432,462
— variable interest rate —38 4.83 162,250 134,527 - - 296,171 2890471
Lease liabilities HEak 578 10333 10332 319 260 82,552 65,684
Other borrowings Kzt
—fixed rate — R 350 89132 18,807 - - 107939 107,285
— variable interest rate —%8 11.39 15,083 9180 18,380 7,098 49721 44,094
778935 35399 94013 30,79 129142 1183618

The amounts included above for variable interest rate

instrument for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to

change if changes in variable interest rates defer to those

estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting period.

% B E B A RN IR E PARAER] A A&
M- QFFALRAEITESRABETZER
B

TANSRTEEE -
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40. Financial Instruments (Continued) 40. @I A (&)
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are SHMEENEREBBNANEEESRELE
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing ESNERTBRBESRES MO EEER7E
models based on discounted cash flow analysis. TH ©
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying REEETERBRE  NEEMBERRAIRE
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at AT RN EEN SR A ENEREE
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements HEEANRBERS -

approximate their fair values.
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HEZ

41.

Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising From Financing

Activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

41. BHBMETHELENER

TREAMIEHAEEHREEDEENEER
BREES MRS EE - mﬂéﬁé@)@iﬁ’]ﬁﬁm =
HeREXARREREWDBEAEEB Z2KE
fﬁ%ﬁ%i‘%ﬁ%ﬂﬁé@)ﬁﬁ SCHRERE °

EXEBEBZERERAR

activities.
Amount
Lease due to
liabilities/ anon-
Obligation controlling
Bank Other under a Interest Dividend  equity owner
borrowings  borrowings  finance lease payables payable  of a subsidiary Total
fgeE/ EfHEAT
HEHE FEHER
RITER BhfER 508 EfFE EfRE BEA @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTT  ARBTR ARETT ARETT  ARETR ARETT ARETT
A1 January 2019 N-Z-hE-F-B 644,055 3416 61,37 - - - 1008
Financing cash flows (restated) BERL S (KED) 298,578 9448 (17,791) #2,027) (50,000) - 198,208
Foreign exchange translation SNECH (162) = = = = (162)
Interest expense (restated) 8K (25 - - 3808 42007 - - 4583
Dividend ) - - - - 50,000 - 50,000
Gross amount of bills receivable from YR BEPRNFEREL
external customers discounted with EHRENERES (LES)
recourse (restated) - 248,830 - - - - 248,830
Non-cash settlement of discounted bills ~ BEFRENEE R A (HEF)
receivable (restated) (240,538) (400,315) - - = = (640,853)
Increase in lease liabilities HEBBEN - - 12430 = = > 12430
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NFt-f=1-H 721933 151,379 65,684 - - - 938,996
Financing cash flows HERETE 312,470 78,726 (17,151) (45,288) (15,000) (21,468) 292,289
Foreign exchange translation SN (3,486) - - - - - (3,486)
Interest expense A8 - - 3,125 45,288 - - 48,413
Dividend RE - - - - 15,000 - 15,000
Acquisition of a subsidlary L EEING 31,000 - - - - 21,468 52,468
Covid-19-related rent concessions THERREHLER - - (1,411) - - - (1,411)
Gross amount of bill receivable from extemal MBENEEHNFRREL
customers discounted with recourse EHRRUREES - 238,549 - - - - 238,549
Non-cash settlement of discounted bills EYRRUEE SRS
receivable (213,841) (205,387) - - - - (419,228)
Decrease in lease liabilities HeEatss - - (5,023) - - - (5,023)
At 31 December 2020 RoB-EE+-f=1-H 848,076 263,267 45,224 - - - 1,156,567
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42. Related Parties Transactions

42. BEALR S

Name Relationship
=1 B&
Zhongshan City Zheng Ye Leasing Company Limited Controlled by the controlling shareholders of the Company

("Zheng Ye Leasing”)

FILHEXHERRAR ([EXEE]) H R X B PR AR AR SR 2 )

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transactions with related parties:

RER  AEBFRBFEALFIIIATRS

2020 2019
—g-% -—T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBET T

Zheng Ye Leasing EXHEE
— Interest on lease liabilities —HEBEF B
— Lease liabilities —HEaE

949 1,282
12,932 18,787

Rental deposit of RMB450,000 (2019: RMB450,000) paid to
Zheng Ye Leasing has been included in trade and other
receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2020.

Amounts due to directors are disclosed on note 31.

ENEXHEENARKE 450,000 (=F—1
F: AR¥E450,00070) HERSEH AR =
ZEF+ A=+ —BEEMBRARS
BB 5 K H A EUTIR -

FE S = FRIR AP RE 31 255 -
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42. Related Parties Transactions (Continued)

43. Share-Based Payment Transactions

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

42.

BEALTRE %)

UTREERTZEREHEMKENFAN
E

2020 2019

—E-EF —ZT-NF

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Salaries and other benefits e REAET 24,232 19,151
Retirement benefits schemes contributions BRI FIFT B3R 175 215
24,407 19,366

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.

43.

On 23 April 2019, an employees’ share award scheme (“the
Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. Pursuant to the Scheme,
the Company would subsidise some employees of the Group (the
“Selected Participants”) a portion of funds to purchase issued
shares of the Company by a trustee through on-market transactions.
Up to 26 June 2019, a total of 4,214,000 shares of the Company had
been purchased and vested to the Selected Participants. The Group
recognised the total expense of RMB1,467,000 for the year ended 31
December 2019 in relation to its contribution in the Scheme. For the
year ended 31 December 2020, no employee was awarded under the
Scheme and no expense was recognised.

EERIBZTBRABNFHEFHEZESK
ZREARRRTEBLILEE -

URHB XN RZ

MN-ZE—NENA-+=8 ARAREHNTEER
1P EREET 8 ([T 8l )) - BIBZET S - NA R AL
AEENRELEEE((BESHRE]) —HBoES
NHZEARBMISERSEEARAQRMNBBEITR
E-HE_ZT—NFAAZ+ B BEBEAS:
4,214,000 IR AN 2R B D 0 55 B AN i 22 Ha 3 « B
E_TNF+_A=+—HILEFE  A£ERE
FEIMERERB I L AR 1,467,0007T © B2
—E-TE+ A+ RALFE  ZAERET
TAES @ hAREREMER -

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
IEXBIRERER AR

166

Annual Report 2020
T TEFRH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A e BB R M R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZTF+_A=+—HILFE

44. Particulars of Subsidiaries of the Company 44. RATME A RNFE

ZECTEFR

Place of
incorporation/ Proportion ownership Proportion of
registration/ Paid up issued/ Class of interest held by voting power held
Name of subsidiary operations registered capital shares hold the Company by the Company Principal activities
R/ BARST/ AAAREN RRARRAEN
WEARER EfFihH ZRRE BEROER FraRERL R FEREELE TEEK
At 31 December
Mt=B=+-H
2020 2019 2020 2019
“¥-RF ZTNF CRSRE ZTNF
TYAZ International Limited British Virgin Authorised  Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
("Zheng Ye (BVI)") Islands US$50,000 EiEfk RERR
("the BVI") Paid US$20,000 *
RERREE EE
50,0007
B#20,000%T*

Zheng Ye International Company Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited ("Zheng Ye International") ) 10000387 L@k REER

EXERERAR

Zheng Ye Investments Limited Hong Kong N/A (2019: HK$1) Ordinary N/A 100% N/A 100% Deregistered in 24 June 2020
("Zheng Ye Investments") ) TER Tk TER TER RZEZTE AR

EXRERRAR (ZB-h% :1%7T) Bl

Shing Yip (Hong Kong) Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Enterprises Limited B 1000087 E@R REZR
("Shing Yip (Hong Kong)")

(BB RAEXEARAH

Zheng Ye Packaging (Zhongshan) the PRC HK$102,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and operating
Company Limited H 102,000,000 &l of paper-based packaging
(“Zheng Ye Packaging (Zhongshan)") products, packaging related

FERE(RL)ERAR business and printing of

decorative packaging
Products

EERBERUBREREER
REEBRERERDRR
EDfR)

Zhongshan Yong Fa Paper Industry the PRC HK$106,500,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100% Manufacturing and sale of
Company Limited il 106,500,000/ L@ paper- and paperboard
("Zhongshan Yong Fa Paper’) EERHELMGR

PAEEEBRAR

Zhuhai Zheng Ye Packing the PRC HK$12,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100% Manufacturing and sale of
Company Limited H 12,000,000/ Ei@k paper-based packaging
(“Zheng Ye Packaging (Zhuhai)") products and related

KEEXBRERAR packaging service

EENHEARBRERR
HERXRS

Zhengzhou Zheng Ye Packaging the PRC N/A " Ordinary N/A 100% N/A 100% Deregistered on
Company Limited HE (2019: EBR TER TER 1 December 2020
("Zheng Ye Packaging (Zhengzhou)") RMB20,000,000) RZEZZFTZA—BiH

BNEXREERAR TR

(ZZ2-h%:
AR 20,000,0007T)
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Ara B iR M T
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

44. Particulars of Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)  44. A TKI B A TS (5

Place of
incorporation/ Proportion ownership Proportion of
registration/ Paid up issued/ Class of interest held by voting power held
Name of subsidiary operations registered capital shares hold the Company by the Company Principal activities
R/ BRRT/ KATHEN ARAFEN
WEARERE Efripd aMBRE FERGER iger 4 S FEREELE TEEHR
At 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2020 2019 2020 2019
“RCRF CTONF OCRCRE TR
Shijiazhuang Zheng Ye Packaging the PRC RMB20,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100% Manufacturing and sale of
Company Limited H ARE20,0000007c E@EME paper-based packaging
(“Zheng Ye Packaging (Shijiazhuang)”) products and printing of
REXEEEBEARAR decorative packaging
products
EENHESRBRERR
BEREDRIREDR
Wuhan Zheng Ye Alliance Packaging the PRC RMB35,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100% Manufacturing and sale of
Company Limited H AR®35000,00070 L@ paper-based packaging
(“Zheng Ye Packaging (Wuhan)") products and printing of
REFXBARORERAR decorative packaging
products
AENHESHOEERR
BELEDRIREDR
Zhongshan Rengo Hung Hing Paper the PRC USD53,660,000  Ordinary 58.7% 58.7% 58.7% 58.7% Manufacturing and sale of
Manufacturing Company Limited o 53660000 Ll paper and paperboard
("Hung Hing") EERHELMAR
LA R EES AR AT
Yudu County Zhengyi Paper Products the PRC RMB89,000,000 Ordinary 80% N/A 80% N/A Manufacturing and sale of
and Paper Industry Company Limited % AR¥ 89,000,000 Ll TR TEM  paper and paperboard
(“Zhengyi”) EERHELMAR
THEEREREEERAR
Zhongshan Lianfa Transportation the PRC RMB5,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100% Transportation
Company Limited 3 AR#50000007T EEK #H)
PITHEERERAR
Zhongshan Zhengye Transportation the PRC RMB3,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100% Transportation
Company Limited H AR®E3,000000 LiEK E&
PUTERXERERAR
Gaoan Gaungyong Logistics the PRC RMB3,000,000 Ordinary 100% N/A 100% N/A " Transportation
Company Limited H AR®3,000000 L@k TER TER E8
REEKRERRA
* Except for Zheng Ye (BVI), the issued capital of all other companies is fully * BMTYAZSN  FREEMARMERITRABHEHRE -
paid and indirectly held by the Company. WEAARR A EERE -
All subsidiaries established in the PRC are wholly foreign owned FrEERBRKZHB AR AINEBEDE -
enterprises.
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the RERFREREERE - B R R EEARER
end of the year or at any time during the year. BISES ©
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22 /N ¥ 23
A e BB R M R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-ZT-TFT-_A=1T—HLFE

45. Details of a Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary that 45. BEERFERERZHF2ENE L

has Material Non-Controlling Interests G
Place of
incorporation Proportion of ownership
and principal interests held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
HEARDER AMRIMERAH AARRRNFRRRELE FRHBEEIRLER EHEREG]
31/12/2020 3122019 31/12/2020 31122019 31/12/2020 3122019
cEoEf “ENE 20%F ENE 3 “ENE
t=A=t-8  fZA=t-B  +=A=t-A  fZA=t-B  t=ASt-B  fIA=1-H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N AREFT AR¥TT ARETT
Hung Hing Zhongshan, the PRC
& mElm T 41.3% 41.3% 4,826 18,844 203,324 198,498
Zhengyi Yudu, the PRC
EfE HETHE 20.0% NATER 2,962 - 20,569 -
7,788 18,844 223,893 198,498
2020 2019
—g-gF —T-nF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ETFT
Current assets MENVE E 224,610 226,040
Non-current assets EMENE EE 452,273 430,743
Current liabilities mBAE (117.455) (118,189)
Non-current liabilities EMENAE (67,118) (57,969)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RABIHEEB ANELER 288,986 282,127
Non-controlling interests of Hung Hing VB JEIE I RE RS 203,324 198,498
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= ¥ 23
AR e RS R M AR
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_T-TFT-_A=1+—HILFE

45. Details of a Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary that A5. BEERFEREGZHFZ2ENBEL

has Material Non-Controlling Interests (Continued) EEIC))
Hung Hing (Continued) B (45)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
BZE HE
—Bo2H —T-NF
t=A=+—-R +t—A=+—"H
LEE IEFE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBT T
Revenue A 657,016 712,035
Expenses 3 (645,331) (666,407)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 4 )% FI| K & [ I 11,685 45,628
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable ~ ZAN/ARJEHE AFE(S R F N 2 mEIN S 258
to owners of the Company 6,859 26,784
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable %8 81 7 JF4% i hE 25 45 58 7l N 2 T Uk 2k
to the non-controlling interests of Hung Hing FEEC) 4,826 18,844
Net cash (outflows) inflows from operating activities 484 %7 (BT /) FT1S38 4 %58 (52,660) 90,147
Net cash used in investing activities KEEWFTAR & F5 (52,208) (39,291)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities MEESHE(FTA)RESEE 44,214 (53,613)
Net cash outflows MR & F R (60,654) (2,757)
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= ¥ 23
A e BB R M R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-ZT-TFT-_A=1T—HLFE

45. Details of a Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary that 45. BEEERFERERZHF2ENE L
has Material Non-Controlling Interests (Continued) Al 1B (8)
Zhengyi =
2020 2019
et g 35 —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AREBFT
Current assets MENEE 72,757 N/A 3
Non-current assets FEREEE 124,009 N/A i
Current liabilities mEEE (61,892) N/A N iE A
Non-current liabilities EREEE (32,027) N/A 3
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARER NEEER 82,278 N/ATE A
Non-controlling interests of Zhengyi 82 FEE I S 20,569 N/ATEA
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
BZ HE
et g S —E-NF
+=ZA=+—H +=—A=+—H
LLFE IEFE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Revenue N 189,352 N/ATiEFA
Expenses 53 (174,541) N/ATE
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year G A% F & 2 M Uk s 14,811 N/A N3 A
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable ~ ZNQARHEAR A FE( G F M 2 E NS 258
to owners of the Company 11,849 N/ANiE A
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable  IF 182 JE12 Hil 1 25 FE () FI) N 2 B U 2
to the non-controlling interests of Zhengyi @ 2,962 N/ATE
Net cash inflows from operating activities REEBSIR S EE 4,526 N/ANiE A
Net cash used in investing activities WEXBFAREFE (17,387) N/A i
Net cash from financing activities BMEEBISHSFR 36,008 N/ATiE A
Net cash inflows FriSER& 55 23,147 N/A TN
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AR e RS R M AR
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_ T ZFE+_A=+—HIFE

46. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 46. DRI B IR R

2020 2019
—E-EF —NEF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT

Non-current Assets RBEE
Unlisted investment in a subsidiary R—RIELTHE R RIEE 230,979 230,979
230,979 230,979

Current Assets REBEE
Other receivables H b e W sk IA 334 354
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHT B A B ZRIE 29,618 28,633
Bank balances and cash ﬁEﬁ&ﬁﬁ%nﬁ% 1,494 5,153
31,446 34,140
Current Liabilities REBAE

Other payables H b e FIE 217 215
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTB B R B FUB 13,941 14,215
Amount due to directors BT ESERIE - 28
14,158 14,458
Net Current Assets mBEEFE 17,288 19,682
Total Assets less Current Liabilities BELERRSDERE 248,267 250,661

Capital and Reserves EXRGEE
Share capital N 41,655 41,655
Share premium and reserves AR A% (B M 206,612 209,006
Total Equity B 248,267 250,661
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22 /N ¥ 23
A e BB R M R
For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_FF+-_A=+—HIEE

46. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

47.

(Continued)

46. ARQ T MRREK @)

Share Merger Retained

premium reserves profits Total

A E BOHEE R EE 5 R et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTIT ARETT AREBTT ARETET

At 1 January 2019 R-E—N&E—HF—H 92,968 97,559 57,765 248,292
Profit and total comprehensive FREMN N2 E R SRR

income for the year - - 10,714 10,714

Dividend paid EARRE = - (50,000) (50,000)

At 31 December 2019 RZZT-—NFE+=A=+—H 92,968 97,559 18,479 209,006
Profit and total comprehensive FRRAEEEKE R

income for the year - - 12,606 12,606

Dividend paid BEARERE - - (15,000) (15,000)

At 31 December 2020 R—ZBE-_ZEF+-_A=+—H 92,968 97,559 16,085 206,612

Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures to the financial statement had been

reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.

47. LB E=F

MBHRRNETLRBEFEEFDR - UHEEF

E7] e
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Financial Summary

FABS 2

Consolidated results

mERE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-—RA=1+—-HLFE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
—E—RF —E—+F —E—N\F —T—NF —EC-EF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREBTFT ARETIT AREFT AREBFTT AR¥®TR
Revenue WA 2,074,090 2,414,127 2,848,016 2,367,151 2,493,041
Profit before tax R B Bl bz A1) 124,909 242,839 154,014 119,180 64,931
Income tax expense FrisfiF = (15,911) (29,597) (23,301) (18,152) (2,371)
Profit for the year F N5 A 108,998 213,242 130,713 101,028 62,560
Attributable to: FEAE -
the owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ PN 91,649 182,705 109,358 82,184 54,772
non-controlling interests JE5 | R S 17,349 30,537 21,355 18,844 7,788
108,998 213,242 130,713 101,028 62,560
Consolidated assets and liabilities HeEERAE
At 31 December
R+=—B=+—H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
—E—RF —ZT—+F T )N\F ZE—NF ZZBEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARETTT ARETT ARBTT AR¥®TR
Total assets g E 2,425,965 2,561,870 2,557,823 2,424,551 2,682,775
Total liabilities FEN= (1,617,827) (1,567,990) (1,484,444) (1,300,144)  (1,493,201)
Net assets EEE 808,138 993,880 1,073,379 1,124,407 1,189,574

Note 1: The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 18 August 2010 as an exempted

company with limited liability under the Bermuda Companies Act. Pursuant to a

reorganisation scheme to rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for

the public listing of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company became the holding company of

the companies now comprising the Group on 4 March 2011. The financial summary

has been presented on the basis that the Company had been the holding

company of the Group from the beginning of the earliest period presented.

Note 2: Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company's shares listed on the Stock Exchange during the period from

the date of the Listing (i.e. 3 June 2011) to 31 December 2020.

M1 ARARRZZE-—ZEF\ATN\HEBRERBEBRER
EREMERZ A —RERRERIA - *ET)*$;‘%EZ%—%1%E(‘
EEHMARZMBERAR([BRXMA]) LWARFKROME
BeERBRARNEESH  ARAR_F——%F=4

MEKARARARENE AR ER AR

o SRR T

BARRERFEHRMHEARB " E/LEEERAANE

HEMBR -

MizE2: BLEMAMEI=F

—FXRAZR)E-_Z_FTF+_H

=+—HLEHA ARRHEEAMBERFHEED - b

& B E AR AR A AT B A AR A D
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